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SINGLE FAMILY 
LENDING SERVICES

Our largest and fastest-growing Core
Lending business is Single Family where
we fund mortgages for owner-occupied
and investment properties including
detached and semi-detached houses,
townhouses and condos. Our strengths
include our valued relationships with
Canada’s independent mortgage brokers,
our disciplined approach to credit, and
our ability to serve business-for-self
borrowers, those who are new to Canada
and establishing credit for the first time,
and the credit challenged.

COMMERCIAL 
LENDING SERVICES

Our dedicated Commercial Lending
Services business is known for its broad
relationships with mortgage brokers and
other banking partners, its underwriting
capabilities, intimate market knowledge
and agility in responding to market
trends. As part of our Core Lending
businesses, it provides mortgages on
mixed-use, multi-unit residential, condos,
shopping plazas, offices, industrial, and
properties under construction.

SECURITIZATION
FINANCING

Our Securitization Financing business
originates and then securitizes insured
residential mortgages, primarily multi-
unit residential properties underwritten
by our commercial credit team. It has
extensive experience in mortgage
securitization as a result of Equitable’s
participation in the Canada Mortgage
and Housing Corporation (“CMHC”)
administered National Housing Act
(“NHA”) Mortgage-Backed Securities
(“MBS”) and Canada Mortgage Bond
(“CMB”) programs.

We are a niche mortgage lender with a 40+ year history of
successful operations. Our primary business is first charge
mortgage financing. We also serve the investing public as a
provider of insured Guaranteed Investment Certificates.
Equitable Group’s shares are traded on the Toronto Stock
Exchange under the symbols ETC and ETC.PR.A
respectively. Visit the Company on line at
www.equitabletrust.com and click on Investor Relations.
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As a publicly traded company, Equitable is entrusted to
deliver what matters to our shareholders: consistently
competitive investment returns. We use proven strategies
to meet our commitment.

We focus on well-defined niches where we have powerful
competitive advantages that help us grow profitably. We deploy
capital in a disciplined manner to optimize Return on Equity. And
we fund growth primarily through the retention of earnings and
other forms of capital that are non-dilutive to our shareholders.
Our results in 2012 and since we first employed our current
strategy in 2008 demonstrate our ongoing ability to raise the bar
and achieve the performance we expect of ourselves.

ROE is an important indicator of value creation when
delivered on a sustainable basis. In 2012, we delivered
annualized Return on Equity (“ROE”) of 18.7%. This, along with
our five year average ROE of 17.2% and a standard deviation 
of just 0.8%, are clear demonstrations of our consistent value-
creation capabilities through a business cycle.  In 2012, we paid
out only 9% of our earnings in dividends in large part because
we could retain the earnings and invest them for our
shareholders at those superior rates of return. 

Securitized Financing

Core Lending

2012201120102009*2008*
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In 2012, we grew mortgage assets by 11% to $10.6 billion.
This means we are more than three times larger than we were
at the time of our initial public offering in 2004. Core Lending
mortgage principal (comprised of Single Family and
Commercial Lending) grew even faster, up 21% year over year to
$5.2 billion. While growing our mortgage assets, our disciplined
approach to credit management kept our net realized loan
losses to just two basis points of unsecuritized mortgage
principal outstanding.

Year FiveYear One Year FiveYear One

100

193

100

166

Equitable Five Canadian
Bank Average

The comparison is startling: $100 of shareholders’ equity
entrusted to Equitable would be worth $193 at the end of five
years after taxes1, assuming that dividends paid were reinvested
at a 7% rate of return. In contrast, the same amount of equity
would grow to just $167 using the average performance of
Canada’s five big banks. This means we would generate 16%
more value for our shareholders. Put another way, dividends paid
would have to be reinvested at an improbable rate of return of
39% for the value created by Equitable and the banks to be equal.

1 Calculated on the basis of the previous five year’s ROE and dividend payouts for
Equitable and the major Canadian banks and assumes that dividends were taxed at
29% and taxable capital gains at 47%. 

* 2008 and 2009 calculated under Canadian GAAP, 2010 - 2012 calculated under IFRS.

Return On Equity
(%)

Total Mortgage Principal
($ billion)

Growth in Shareholders’ Equity
($)
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As a result of consistently high ROE, book value per 
share increased again in 2012 to $29.83, up $4.65 or 18%.
Growth in book value shows the advantage of our strategy of
retaining earnings to fuel growth. 

“Our approach to retaining and redeploying earnings back into our business has made Equitable a performance leader,
with a consistently strong return on equity that exceeds the average of Canada’s big banks. We think this is one reason
why participation in our Dividend Reinvestment Plan has increased 1.6 fold over the past three years.” 
Tim Wilson, Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer
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Capital markets recognized our success in 2012. Our share
price increased 32% in 2012 – well ahead of the growth of the
S&P/TSX index – adding over $120 million to our market
capitalization. Growth in our share price combined with rising
quarterly dividends produced a total one-year return on share
ownership of 33%  –  making Equitable the second-best
performing financial-sector stock on the TSX in the period.  

2012201120102009*2008*

13.1

17.2 16.5
15.3

17.4

Our year-end 2012 capital ratios were strong by any
measure and once again exceeded regulatory standards,
including new requirements in effect January 1, 2013, which
will require us to report against a new metric known as
Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1”). On a pro forma basis at
December 31st, our calculations indicate that our all-in CET1
ratio was 12.2%, well ahead of the average ratio of 9.1% for
Canada’s big banks. This supports our ability to deliver high
investment returns going forward. We were also pleased that
the international credit rating agency DBRS gave investment-
grade ratings to all of our debt instruments in 2012. 

2012201120102009*2008*

81.2

62.2
55.9

51.4

38.6

In 2012, we delivered net income of $81.2 million, 31%
above the previous record set in 2011. Diluted earnings per
share of $5.11 surpassed the previous year’s record by 32%, 
and have grown an average of 16% annually since 2007. 

Total Returns vs. TSX 

Book Value Per Share
($)

Net Income
($ million)

Total Capital Ratio
(%)
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As a mortgage lender, Equitable  knows that responsive,
caring service matters greatly to borrowers and the
professional mortgage brokers who serve them.

That’s why we turned service into a differentiating strategy at
Equitable five years ago. It is now far more than a strategy: it is a
defining way of life for our team, a first principle that guides us
in how we operate every day.

By listening to the marketplace, building our knowledge base and
investing in technology, we have developed a service standard
second to none in our industry and a service regimen that
addresses the specific needs of each group that matters to us.

For mortgage brokers, we focus on active and responsive
management of opportunities they bring to us. We understand
that brokers have more than one lender to choose from and
they serve borrowers who are anxious to complete what is often
their most important or first real estate transaction. So we use a
steady, reliable and well-articulated approach to mortgage
financing. This helps us to accelerate the pace of decision-
making without compromising the quality of those decisions.

We also see it as our duty to support the independent
mortgage broker community’s own commitment to
professionalism and service excellence. We do this by
sponsoring educational forums and professional accreditation
programs including accredited courses for the Canadian

Association of Accredited Mortgage Professionals (“CAAMP”),
the national industry association. Our ability to satisfy brokers
has made Equitable a leader in our niches and each year, gives
us access to the best mortgage lending opportunities. 

Borrowing customers find working with Equitable equally
satisfying because we show great sensitivity to their unique
needs and personal circumstances during the qualification
process and beyond. We are able to do this because we know
our customers, and specialize in serving those whom other
banks often ignore: business-for-self borrowers, new
immigrants, investors, those establishing credit in Canada for
the first time and the credit challenged. 

Our reputation for satisfying borrowers from the time they apply
right through the entire term of their mortgages positions
Equitable to fund additional property investments they make as
their success grows.

What our banking and legal partners think also matters greatly to
us as they too represent the interests of borrowers. We work with
them on a foundation of trust, transparency and mutual respect.

“At Equitable, we understand the mortgage expertise and service value that mortgage brokers deliver to borrowers and by
providing our broker partners with outgoing and responsive service, we play an integral role in their value proposition.”
Brian Leland, Vice-President, Residential Credit
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“Relationship building is the key ingredient in our business. It takes time to cultivate and nurture 
with the end result being broker satisfaction.” 

Kim Kukulowicz, Vice-President, Residential Sales and Partner Relations
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It matters where Equitable chooses to do business in
Canada because immigration and migration patterns are
evolving from rural to urban markets and from province to
province. Being in the right places means being well
positioned for these important drivers of economic
activity, population growth and of course, real estate
market demand.

We started as a mortgage lender serving the greater Toronto
region in 1970 and grew steadily over the decades into other
urban markets in Ontario, from Ottawa in the east to London in
the west and Orillia in the north. 

Since 2007, we have chosen to systematically broaden our reach
to encompass the largest urban markets across Canada:
Montreal, Ottawa, Winnipeg, Saskatoon, Regina, Calgary,
Edmonton and Vancouver.  After opening for business in the
Greater Halifax Area in 2012, we now serve mortgage brokers,
single family and commercial borrowers and the investing public
from the Atlantic to the Pacific. Greater geographic scope takes
Equitable to the next level as a national financial institution. 

Diversifying into new urban markets has also strengthened our
risk profile by giving us exposure to the country’s different
economic zones and demographics. 

Greater scope also means we have more choice over the type of
property mortgages we fund. For example, we have been
conservative in lending on condo property mortgages in parts
of Toronto and Vancouver in recent years because we felt there
was excessive credit risk associated with these markets. Similarly,
we avoid towns where real estate values are overly dependent
on a single industry. This stance, along with our everyday
insistence on conservative loan to value ratios, has lowered our
risk of loss without dampening our growth or growth potential.

Who we lend to matters even more than where we lend and for
that reason, we put special emphasis on serving Canada’s
entrepreneurs.  Business-for-self borrowers are increasingly the
lifeblood of the Canadian economy and we support their goals
and dreams with well-crafted products.

Our results since 2007 – and especially in 2012 when our Core
Lending mortgage assets grew 21% or $896 million and our net
realized loan losses amounted to just two basis points of
unsecuritized mortgage principal – show that our positioning
does matter.

Today, we have the foundation for broader growth and
excellent performance.

“Well-managed growth involves not only carefully selecting the right geographies, but also ensuring that we understand the
demographics of our customers.  The approach we use provides a solid foundation for continued safe and profitable growth.”
Ron Tratch, Vice-President, Commercial Credit
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As a federally regulated deposit-taking institution,
Equitable knows that finding an investment that offers a
safe and guaranteed return does matter to Canadians,
especially in today’s volatile economic climate.

That’s why we offer Guaranteed Investment Certificates (“GICs”)
to the investing public through independent deposit brokers,
investment dealers, financial planners and other professional
intermediaries – and do so as a member of the Canada Deposit
Insurance Corporation (“CDIC”).

GIC holders also like Equitable for another reason:  our Deposit
Services team. This dedicated group works on their behalf to
manage total deposits of some $5.6 billion, and uses its long
track record of offering guaranteed investments to provide
reliable, informed and courteous service. 

This experience makes us keenly aware of the needs of
depositors and has been harnessed to develop a range of GIC
products that are right for laddered portfolios. Our deposit
instruments include 30-day up to five-year fixed term GICs – all
offering competitive rates.

In 2012, GIC deposits increased $1 billion – a fact that also
matters greatly to us as it indicates depositors’ confidence in our
offerings and the increasing popularity of our products with our
broker networks.

By providing competitive rates, a safe haven for our customers’
hard-earned savings and the ability to keep depositors money
working at all times, we earn the confidence of the investing
public.

“As a participant in Canada’s highly competitive deposit market we are focused on differentiating ourselves with
responsive, accurate service for both deposit agents and their clients. The steady, consistent growth we’ve
experienced over the years is proof positive that our approach is working.”
Scott Fryer, Vice President, Deposit Services
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Few businesses depend on skilled human capital as much
as Equitable does, so it matters to us that we not only find
and recruit bright and motivated people, but develop and
retain them as dedicated, productive employees. 

Over the past five years, we have added and promoted talented
people so that today, we have an exceptionally strong team,
from top to bottom. 

Our senior management group has, on average, 24 years of
experience and brings a wealth of industry contacts and
diverse knowledge to our business. Deep specialist expertise in
single family and commercial real estate markets, mortgage
broker service, credit, risk management, deposit operations,
sales and marketing, information technology, regulatory affairs
and capital management make Equitable a strong competitive
force in our niches.

With an engaged workforce of 280, Equitable punches well
above its weight, delivering profitable growth at a fraction of the
cost that Canada’s big banks spend. In fact, our productivity ratio
shows that it costs us about 30 cents to generate every dollar of
revenue, compared to industry norms of 60 cents or more. 

“At Equitable, we believe the best way to meet our commitments to customers, business partners and shareholders is to
develop the skills and personal effectiveness of our employees. In fact, we think this is essential in achieving our vision of
becoming a high-performance team.  By providing benefits such as tuition reimbursement, the ability to engage in provincial
and national industry associations, and attend business conferences we provide a significant investment in our team.” 
Jody Sperling, Vice-President, Human Resources
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 To keep our team together and working at the highest level
possible, we make our compensation competitive, provide a
number of benefits including healthcare, fitness programs, a
group retirement savings plan, a company-matched employee
Deferred Profit Sharing Plan and an employee stock purchase
plan. Our investments don’t stop there:  we provide ongoing
employee training, support for employees who pursue
professional accreditations, a well-stocked in-house resource
library, and lunch’n learns to help them excel. Through
companywide, team-building events, we also foster awareness
of the critical role each member of the team plays in delivering
results to our stakeholders as equally important parts of an
inter-dependent service team. 

Because what employees think also matters, we formally survey
our people regularly and use the results of these engagement
appraisals to improve our programs and make Equitable a place
that the best and brightest want to call home. 
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The health and well-being of the people and institutions
that make up the fabric of the communities we serve
matters to us as a socially responsible company.

For that reason, we employ a community involvement strategy
based on an important premise: we can make a bigger
difference for chosen causes by combining financial assistance
as well as our enthusiastic hands-on staff participation.

To execute this strategy, we choose specific charities that allow
our employees to participate as volunteers or fundraisers, we
put significant emphasis on helping in communities where the
majority of our people live and work and where possible, we
combine our efforts with the contributions of business partners
to make an even bigger difference. Doing so means we can
bring greater resources to bear on causes that are important to
Equitable employees and their families, build camaraderie
internally and externally and have fun while helping out.

Our strategy sees us engage in several meaningful activities.
Since 2011, the ET Cruisers cycling team has raced in the
annual Ride for Heart for the Heart & Stroke Foundation. In 2012,
we were extremely proud of our team for finishing third in
personal fundraising efforts among participating financial
institutions.  In 2013, we are inviting mortgage brokers and
their families to come along for the ride, so that together, we
can raise even more to help those at risk or affected by these
debilitating conditions.

One of our toughest challenges was participating in the ALS
Society of Ontario’s annual Plane Pull at Bombardier’s

manufacturing facility where our team moved a 17,800 kilogram
Q400 aircraft as part of awareness and fundraising efforts to find
a cure for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, also known as Lou
Gehrig’s disease, the most common cause of neurological
illness-related death in Canada.

In 2012, we sponsored the MAC Rally of Hope supporting
Princess Margaret Hospital’s drive to end women’s cancer and
participated nationally in the Invis/Mortgage Intelligence Angels
in the Night, an annual drive dedicated to helping homeless
shelters. Equitable also supports the annual Mount Sinai Golf
Classic to fund research.

Our volunteering-based strategy is also evident in our employee
and corporate support of Madison Community Services (“MCS”),
and 40 Oaks which provides safe housing for those who are
challenged by mental illness. With our collective efforts, MCS
receives assistance for its congregate living houses in Toronto
where those with serious mental health challenges are given
the care they need to recover. 40 Oaks is able to operate its
community hub in Toronto that includes 87-units of affordable
housing and a healthy meals program.

The environment also matters to us, so we work together to
clean our communities and conserve resources within our
business.  Within our operations, we have long employed
recycling programs and paper-free mortgage documentation
technology.

These activities help us to build a stronger connection to those
in need in our communities – and with each other.

“What makes Equitable such a great place to work is that we really care for the well-being of others. There is a shared desire to
contribute, whether it's time, expertise or dollars, in the communities in which we work and live. In my view, giving to others is
part of our culture and makes us much more engaged as individuals and much more effective as a team. I always try to get
involved and encourage others to do the same. It makes a real difference.” 
David Downie, Vice-President, Commercial Origination
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2012 WAS ANOTHER GOOD YEAR FOR OUR TEAM

We grew mortgage assets by over $1 billion to a record 
$10.6 billion. We extended our national presence by opening 
for business in Halifax, making us a coast-to-coast single family
mortgage lender capable of serving borrowers and mortgage
brokers in Canada’s major urban markets where we now have
$3 billion in single family mortgage assets –almost $1 billion
more than in 2011. We introduced new structures that allowed
us to resume growth in securitized assets.

Based on asset growth, stable margins and minimal realized
loan losses, we generated record diluted earnings per share of
$5.11, 32% ahead of 2011. This, in turn, supported ROE – our
most important financial performance indicator – of 18.7%, two
common share dividend increases and 18% year-over-year
growth in book value per share.

We also bolstered our capital and ended the year as it began –
with regulatory capital ratios well ahead of all requirements. 

We are delighted with these accomplishments, but not
surprised by them. Each is a direct result of the business strategy
we introduced in 2008 and have diligently executed ever since.
Our strategy of growing single family mortgage assets,
maintaining diversification through commercial mortgage
lending and securitization activity, distinguishing ourselves on
the basis of service excellence, maintaining prudent risk
management and funding growth from retained earnings and
non-dilutive forms of capital, is now proven across a full
economic cycle to create meaningful shareholder value. 

Using this strategy over the past five years, Equitable has:

• Increased net income by a 21% annual growth rate

• Produced average ROE of 17.2%

• Expanded Core Lending mortgage assets by 14% annually
driven by 33% per year growth in Single Family 

• Created valued relationships with mortgage brokers and
borrowers in eight cities that were previously beyond our
purview

Based on these results, it is fair to say our strategy works and we
have every reason to believe it will continue to deliver excellent
results as move forward.

GROWING BY REINVESTING

One of the key features of our ongoing approach is to retain
earnings while growing dividends. We increased dividends by
12.5% in 2011 and by 15.6% in 2012, and yet have kept
approximately 90% of the net income created for common
shareholders and redeployed it to fuel further earnings growth
and high returns. Even while retaining most of our earnings,
which makes sustaining a high ROE more challenging, we
posted ROEs that were consistently in the high teens. As a result,
our book value per share increased by 14% per year since the
end of 2007. We firmly believe that our strategy creates value for
our shareholders.

Retaining our earnings has also allowed us to avoid the dilutive
effects of common share-based fundraising. This strategy, and
our approach of raising additional capital through non-dilutive
subordinated debt – as we did in the fourth quarter with the
successful $65 million offering of Series 10, 5.399% debentures
due October 23, 2017 – has three other benefits. It has helped
us to keep our capital ratios strong as we grow. It has given us
added flexibility to manage our capital to achieve lower interest
costs (Series 10 capital was used in the first quarter to repay
higher interest-bearing Series 8 and Series 7 debentures and a
bank term loan). And it has put us in an enviable position to
meet the higher standards required by financial regulators.

Regulators raised the bar again at the beginning of 2013 with
the introduction of new Basel III-based banking standards
governing, among other items, capital adequacy and market
liquidity. Even against the latest capital metric known as
Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1”), we are well capitalized
compared to most other banks, the standards required by
regulators and our own assessment of capital adequacy. 

We believe shareholders appreciate consistent dividend
increases and the knowledge that their capital is being used
effectively to create real value by a financial institution with a
rock solid capital foundation. 
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BANK CONVERSION

In early 2013, we took the decision to apply to the Office of the
Superintendent of Financial Institutions (“OSFI”) and the Minister
of Finance to convert The Equitable Trust Company into a
Schedule I bank operating under the name Equitable Bank.

Assuming we are successful in our application, there will be no
change to the strategies that have served us so well in the past,
our business model or our risk-return philosophy. 

So why are we pursuing this course of action? There are three
main reasons, the most vital of which is improved consumer
awareness. Quite simply, we feel that depositors and borrowers
better recognize banks than they do trust companies. In 1970,
when Equitable Trust was founded, trust companies were as
common as banks. Not anymore. For today’s saving and
borrowing public, the term “bank” is much more commonly
understood and associated with deposit-taking and mortgage
lending. For the next generation of savers and borrowers, the
impact may be even larger because of the reduced number of
independent trust companies advertising their services.

Second, and on a related note, investor familiarity with banks
may facilitate raising regulatory capital in the future. 

Third, banks are clearly under the jurisdiction of federal
regulations, whereas trusts have oversight from both federal and
provincial regulators. Hence, conversion would simplify
regulatory compliance and result in greater focus and some
minor cost savings. 

The conversion requires approvals from OSFI and the Minister of Finance. The cost of conversion is expected to be minimal, 
and most important, will not disrupt our business or our customers. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

After almost 13 years of dedicated service, Lionel Robins and Michael Shulman have announced their intention not to seek 
re-election to the Company’s Board. We thank them for their wise counsel and support at the Board and Committee levels
throughout their tenure.

Austin Beutel
Chairman 
of the Board

Andrew Moor
President and
Chief Executive
Officer
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PERFORMANCE THAT MATTERS

We are confident in Equitable’s value creation prospects based on the fact that our strategies have been proven over a full economic
cycle. We have every reason to believe that we can maintain our consistency and deliver high returns going forward.

We also like our prospects because of the skills, passion and attitude of the Equitable team. Our people have done an outstanding job
of delivering our strategy, capturing and retaining high-quality business and working together to serve mortgage brokers and
business partners who introduce us to our customers. 

Longer term, we believe more borrowers will seek residential mortgages in alternative channels and stay in those channels longer.
This is in part due to regulatory changes introduced in 2012. While we have yet to see a significant impact from these changes, they
have the potential to improve our already strong prospects.

A cautionary note in our short-term outlook is the observed softening in segments of Canadian real estate, which appears to have
affected re-sale activity and prices, although the impact varies greatly by market. We are prepared for this change as a result of our
long-term strategy which has led us to enter additional urban markets where migration and immigration patterns, coupled with
diversified employment opportunities, provide greater economic stability. Our bias toward funding mortgages on real estate assets
that generally offer greater price stability and the conservative loan-to-value ratio we maintain should also serve us well.

We expect 2013 to be another good year for Equitable with production levels reflecting our risk appetite and overall demand, and
net interest margins and credit statistics approximating 2012 levels.

Overall, we are ambitious for our institution, grateful for the support of our customers, business partners, employees, shareholders
and fellow directors, and committed to delivering performance that matters for all.

Yours sincerely,

Austin Beutel Andrew Moor
Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is provided in order to enable readers to assess the financial position and the results of
operations of Equitable Group Inc. (“Equitable” or the “Company”) for the three months (“quarter”) and year ended December 31, 2012. This
MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the fourth quarter (see
Tables 24, 25 and 26 on pages 39, 40 and 41 of this report) and the audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes for the
year ended December 31, 2012. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”). This MD&A has been prepared in accordance with IFRS except for non-GAAP amounts and where otherwise indicated and
all amounts are presented in Canadian dollars. This report, and the information provided herein, is dated as at February 26, 2013. The Company’s
continuous disclosure materials, including interim filings, annual Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Consolidated Financial Statements,
Annual Information Form, Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Circular are available on the Company’s website at
www.equitabletrust.com and on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements made by the Company in the sections of this report including those entitled “Business Profile and Objectives”, “2013 Business
Outlook”, “Credit Quality and Allowance for Credit Losses”, “Liquidity Investments and Equity Securities”, “Deposit Liabilities”, “Capital
Management”, “Basel III”, “Fourth Quarter Overview”, and “Risk Management”, in other filings with Canadian securities regulators and in other
communications include forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable securities laws (“forward-looking statements”). These
statements include, but are not limited to, statements about the Company’s objectives (including the proposal to convert Equitable Trust into
a Schedule I Bank), strategies and initiatives, financial performance expectations and other statements made herein, whether with respect to
the Company's businesses or the Canadian economy. Generally, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking
terminology such as “plans”, “expects” or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “planned”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”,
“anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, or “believes”, or variations of such words and phrases which state that certain actions, events or results
“may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “might” or “will be taken”, “occur”, “be achieved”, or other similar expressions of future or conditional verbs. 

Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, level
of activity, closing of transactions, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from those expressed or implied
by such forward-looking statements, including but not limited to risks related to capital markets and additional funding requirements,
fluctuating interest rates and general economic conditions, legislative and regulatory developments, changes in accounting standards, the
nature of our customers and rates of default, and competition as well as those factors discussed under the heading "Risk Management" herein
and in the Company's documents filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

All material assumptions used in making forward-looking statements are based on management's knowledge of current business conditions
and expectations of future business conditions and trends, including their knowledge of the current credit, interest rate and liquidity conditions
affecting the Company and the Canadian economy. Although the Company believes the assumptions used to make such statements are
reasonable at this time and has attempted to identify in its continuous disclosure documents important factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated,
estimated or intended. Certain material assumptions are applied by the Company in making forward-looking statements, including without
limitation, assumptions regarding its continued ability to fund its mortgage business at current levels, a continuation of the current level of
economic uncertainty that affects real estate market conditions, continued acceptance of its products in the marketplace, as well as no material
changes in its operating cost structure and the current tax regime. There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate,
as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The Company does not undertake to update any forward-looking statements that are contained
herein, except in accordance with applicable securities laws. 

MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
For the three months and year ended December 31, 2012
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BUSINESS PROFILE AND OBJECTIVES

Equitable is a niche mortgage lender that provides loans secured by first mortgages or insured mortgages, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,

The Equitable Trust Company (“Equitable Trust”). Equitable Trust is a federally-regulated financial institution, founded in 1970, whose activities

are supervised by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (“OSFI”). The Company operates without a branch network,

choosing instead to achieve lower overheads by using independent mortgage brokers to originate mortgages and independent deposit

agents to originate deposits. 

The primary sources of the Company’s revenues are interest income as well as commitment, renewal and other ancillary fees derived from its

mortgage lending business. In addition, the Company earns gains from the sale of securitized mortgages and interest, dividend and capital

gains income from investments. Equitable Trust funds its mortgage business by offering insured deposits and by securitizing insured mortgages

through participation in the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (“CMHC”) administered National Housing Act (“NHA”) Mortgage-

Backed Securities (“MBS”) and Canada Mortgage Bond (“CMB”) Programs. Its deposit raising ability is a core strength of enduring enterprise

value that has allowed Equitable to build a diversified mortgage portfolio secured by residential and commercial real estate. The Company’s

securitization activities allow it to reduce its funding costs, diversify its funding sources, and enhance its liquidity position.

The Company focuses on identifying and investing in the development of mortgage products for selected niches and geographic markets that

offer the potential for long-term growth and superior returns on capital. Given that focus and its assessment of the current economic

environment, management has aligned the Company with the following principles:

• Optimize return on equity (“ROE”) adjusted for risk, by growing the lending businesses in which the Company has the best opportunity to
earn attractive and sustainable risk-adjusted returns. 

• Invest in the continuous improvement of processes and create operating efficiencies, recognizing that the provision of superior service to
its mortgage brokers, deposit agents and customers is critical to its growth objectives. 

• Protect shareholder value through effective management of the Company’s risks, including prudent credit risk practices, the disciplined
management of arrears, and the maintenance of strong levels of regulatory capital and liquidity. 

Lending Businesses

The Company’s business model and its strong competitive position have contributed to its exceptional long-term financial results. Equitable

Trust is a leader in its mortgage lending niches, which are served through its three lending businesses:

• Single Family Lending Services (“Single Family”): This business funds mortgages for owner occupied and investment properties with
up to four units, including detached or semi-detached houses, townhouses, and condominiums. It benefits from Equitable Trust’s well-
established relationships with a large and growing mortgage broker network, its service-oriented culture, and its disciplined approach to
credit evaluation and collections. At December 31, 2012, Single Family represented $3.0 billion (or 29%) of mortgage principal outstanding. 

• Commercial Lending Services (“Commercial”): This business funds mortgages on a variety of property types, including mixed-use
(storefront), multi-unit residential, industrial, retail, office, condominium, and construction. Its mortgages are sourced from mortgage
brokers and other business partners. The success of Commercial reflects its extensive relationships with mortgage brokers and bankers, its
underwriting capabilities, and the customer service it delivers as a result of its agility and market knowledge. At year end, Commercial
represented $2.1 billion (or 20%) of mortgage principal outstanding.

• Securitization Financing: This business focuses on originating and subsequently securitizing insured residential mortgages. The vast
majority of securitized mortgages – approximately 92% at December 31, 2012 – are secured by multi-unit residential properties and are
underwritten by the Company’s Commercial credit team. The remaining 8% of securitized mortgages is represented by insured, single
family residential mortgages. Reported assets for this segment also include mortgages that are being held specifically for the purposes of
securitization, but have not yet been securitized. 

The Single Family and Commercial segments above are collectively referred to as Equitable’s “Core Lending” business. At year end, 49% (2011

– 45%) of the Company’s portfolio consisted of mortgages in the Core Lending business and 51% (2011 – 55%) consisted of mortgages in the

Securitization Financing segment. 

MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS



FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Table 1: Selected financial information

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2012 2011(1) 2010 Change from 2011
OPERATIONS
Net income 81,207 62,186 55,893 19,021 31%
Net income available to common shareholders 77,582 58,561 52,268 19,021 32%
EPS – basic $ 5.15 $ 3.91 $ 3.50 $ 1.24 32%
EPS – diluted $ 5.11 $ 3.88 $ 3.48 $ 1.23 32%
Return on equity(2) 18.7% 16.5% 17.0% 2.2%
Return on average assets(2) 0.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.1%
Net interest margin – TEB - total assets(3)(4) 1.47% 1.43% 1.52% 0.04%
Productivity ratio – TEB(2)(4)(5) 30.2% 32.4% 26.1% 2.2%

BALANCE SHEET
Total assets 11,601,440 10,257,013 8,884,129 1,344,427 13%
Mortgages receivable 10,609,472 9,577,087 8,217,301 1,032,385 11%
Shareholders' equity 501,571 426,640 381,455 74,931 18%

CREDIT QUALITY
Realized loan losses − net of recoveries 1,022 8,636 3,308 (7,614) (88%)
Net impaired mortgages as a % of total mortgage assets(6) 0.30% 0.25% 0.45% 0.05%
Allowance for credit losses as a % of total mortgage assets 0.25% 0.21% 0.26% 0.04%

SHARE CAPITAL
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.52 $ 0.45 $ 0.40 $ 0.07 16%
Dividends declared per preferred share $ 1.81 $ 1.81 $ 1.81 $ - -%
Book value per common share $ 29.83 $ 25.18 $ 22.28 $ 4.65 18%
Common share price − close $ 32.65 $ 25.00 $ 24.99 $ 7.65 31%
Market capitalization 495,953 375,460 373,436 120,493 32%

EQUITABLE TRUST CAPITAL RATIOS
Tangible common equity ratio(2)(7) 12.2% 11.9% 12.6% 0.3%
Tier 1 capital ratio(2)(7) 13.5% 13.4% 14.3% 0.1%
Total capital ratio (including collective allowance)(2)(7) 17.4% 15.8% 16.9% 1.6%

(1) The Company took an operational provision related to an alleged fraud of $5.0 million ($3.6 million after-tax) or $0.24 per share in Q3 2011. Excluding the provision, net income in 2011 was
$65.8 million or $4.12 per diluted share; ROE was 17.4%; and productivity ratio TEB was 28.8%.

(2) See Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures section of this MD&A.
(3) Average net interest margins are calculated based on the average of the month-end balances outstanding during the period.
(4) For purposes of improving comparability across periods, 2012 TEB adjustment has been calculated excluding the investment gain related to one of the Company’s security portfolio

investments recorded in the second quarter of 2012.
(5) Increases in this ratio reflect reduced efficiencies, whereas decreases reflect improved efficiencies.
(6) Net impaired mortgages do not include CMHC-insured mortgages that are less than 365 days in arrears and reflect gross mortgage principal of impaired mortgages less individual allowances.
(7) Equitable Trust capital ratios for December 31, 2010 have been calculated in accordance with previous Canadian GAAP.
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2012 HIGHLIGHTS

In 2012, Equitable produced record earnings on strong ongoing growth in its mortgage assets, stable margins, low level of loan losses, and
highly efficient operations. Consistent with its strategy, and on the basis of stable market conditions, management continued to expand the
lending businesses in which Equitable has the best opportunity to earn attractive and sustainable risk-adjusted returns while adhering to its
proven risk management processes, capital plan and focus on productivity. In particular, activity in Single Family contributed to strong growth
in the Company’s mortgage book. Management believes the performance of Single Family is a reflection of the Company’s continued focus
on customer service and of recent changes in the competitive and regulatory landscape. As a result:

• Core Lending mortgage principal outstanding amounted to $5.2 billion at year-end, up 21% from 2011 (see Table 8); 

• Single family mortgage principal balances grew by 46% year-over-year to $3.0 billion, and now represents 59% of total Core Lending
mortgage principal balance, up from 49% a year ago; and

• Total mortgage production increased 22% to $3.5 billion from $2.8 billion in 2011, with Core Lending mortgage production at $2.4 billion,
up by 21% from 2011 (see Table 11).

Growth in Equitable’s mortgage portfolio helped to deliver strong performance across key operating metrics:

• Diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) of $5.11 were up 32% from $3.88 in 2011;

• Net income increased 31% over 2011 to $81.2 million from $62.2 million in 2011; and

• Return on equity (“ROE”) increased to 18.7% in 2012 from 16.5% in 2011.

Adjusted for an investment gain in Q2 2012 and an operational provision in Q3 2011, diluted EPS increased 18% year-over-year to $4.85 in 2012
from $4.12 in 2011. Similarly, adjusted ROE was 17.9% in 2012 up from 17.4% in 2011.

2013 BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In 2012, Equitable strengthened the foundations of its business. The Company achieved record levels of earnings and mortgage assets,
improved its capital position, and expanded its geographic coverage. Management believes that the business is positioned to further improve
its performance and generate value for its shareholders in 2013.

The Company remains focused on its niche mortgage lending businesses, selectively seeking opportunities to better serve segments of the
Canadian financial services marketplace that are generally not the focus of Canada’s large banking institutions. The operating environment for
its Core Lending business appears to be favourable and presents good growth opportunities for the Company in 2013 for several reasons:

• The trends driving demand in Equitable’s niches and through the mortgage broker channel – including growth in business-for-self
Canadians and in immigration – will likely remain entrenched for the long term.

• Reactions by Equitable’s competitors to recent regulatory changes may result in more consumers seeking residential mortgages from
alternative lenders, such as Equitable, and in less customer churn across the residential mortgage market. These changes may translate into
increased single family market share for the Company, though there is some uncertainty around the ultimate impact of these changes. 

• The Company has introduced a new approach to originating insured mortgages and selling them into securitization structures sponsored
by CMHC. As a result of this new approach, the Company increased its level of securitizations during the latter half of 2012 and may maintain
higher volumes going forward.

Recently, there have been reports of a slowdown in Canadian housing market activity, though the actual rate of slowing varies substantially
by market. Over the past several years Equitable has placed less emphasis on those markets and housing types that appear to be experiencing
more significant decreases in activity. Conversely, Equitable has placed emphasis on more stable urban centres in Alberta, Saskatchewan,
Manitoba, and Nova Scotia, and is more positive on the prospects for these markets than for other markets in Canada. Management expects
that the Company would be less affected than the overall market by a real estate slowdown due to its geographic mix and the demographic
and competitive changes discussed above.

MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As a matter of strategy, to mitigate the risk associated with potential market corrections, management has long focused on markets where it
believes long-term fundamentals support the demand for real estate, principally in urban centers that enjoy a diversified economy and
population growth due to migration from within and immigration from outside of Canada. Equally important, Equitable has avoided single-
industry towns and areas with declining populations. Equitable actively tightens its lending criteria, scales-back lending activities, or entirely
avoids areas in which it appears risks are elevated, such as the downtown Toronto condominium market and areas of British Columbia.
Management will continue to apply this approach, along with its traditional discipline in setting loan-to-value ratios, its assessment of
customers’ ability to service their debt, and other prudent lending criteria going forward. 

Due to this prudent lending approach, Equitable experienced loan losses of $1 million in 2012 (2bps of unsecuritized mortgage balances). The
rate of loan loss in 2012 was exceptionally low by any standard, and while losses may return to more normalized levels, they are expected to
remain low in 2013. Management is confident that Equitable has more than adequate reserves set aside to absorb any credit losses that it incurs.

The Company believes that it will maintain relatively stable net interest margins (“NIM”) on its mortgage portfolio over the next year. Overall
NIMs will continue to benefit from the continued shift in volume towards the Company’s higher margin Core Lending book. The Company also
continues to optimize its pricing structure, the impact of which will be gradually reflected in net interest margins (“NIM”) over time. Product
mix changes within the Core Lending book, most notably the continued shift towards lower yielding but higher return on capital single family
mortgages, as well as the run-off of older commercial mortgages originated at higher spreads will offset recent pricing changes to an extent.

The GIC market remains an ample and inexpensive source of funding for Equitable’s business. The NHA MBS and CMB securitization programs
also continue to be sources of economical and liquid funding for the Company’s insured residential mortgages. The Company expects the
cost of GIC and securitization funding to remain at approximately current levels in 2013.

Although the Company’s regulatory capital ratios were already in excess of the current and proposed regulatory minimums, the Company
successfully raised $65 million of debentures on October 22, 2012 at a rate of 5.4%. Equitable obtained this capital in anticipation of upcoming
debt maturities and redemptions, and in advance of new rules for capital instruments coming into effect for most Canadian financial institutions
in 2013.  This additional capital caused Equitable’s interest expenses to increase during Q4 2012. 

On January 3, 2013, Equitable repaid a $12.5 million term loan and $9.5 million of subordinated debentures, bearing interest rates of 6.41%
and 7.1% interest respectively. The Company expects that it will have further opportunities to redeem debentures in Q1 2013, which would
result in an interest charge in the current period but an expense reduction over time. The net effect of these redemptions would be a charge
of approximately 1 to 3 cents per share in the first quarter of 2013, followed by an increase of 3 cents per share in future quarters due to
reduced interest expenses. 

Equitable increased its dividend twice during 2012. The Company intends to consistently increase its dividend going forward, subject to market
conditions and regulatory requirements. In making decisions about paying dividends, the Board of Directors balances the level of payout with
the opportunity to reinvest capital in the business at high rates of return, the need to maintain prudent levels of capital and judgements about
the future prospects for the business.

Equitable expects that the new Basel III rules that came into effect at the beginning of 2013 will not materially affect the Company’s reported
capital position, however, Equitable will reduce the size of its investment portfolio by approximately $68 million due to more demanding
capital rules for certain investments held in this portfolio. Equitable divested of $28 million of its holdings in Q4 and intends to complete the
remaining $40 million of sales by the end of Q1 2013, and should realize a small amount of gains through the trades. 

To support its strategy, in 2013 Equitable Trust also intends to apply to OSFI and to the Minister of Finance for consent to convert from a trust
company operating under the Trust and Loans Companies Act to a Schedule I bank operating under the Bank Act. If approved, Equitable Trust
intends to operate as Equitable Bank. The Company believes that, in the longer term, operating as a bank will support the development of the
business, promote efficiencies, appeal to a new generation of borrowers and depositors, and may provide advantages in raising capital. Such
a conversion would have no impact on Equitable’s strong capital position or its current business model. The conversion application requires
approvals from OSFI and the Minister of Finance and there is no assurance that these will be received or any certainty around the timing of
such approvals.

The purpose of this outlook is to give the reader an indication of factors that may affect Equitable’s performance in the near term. Readers
should be aware that information contained in this section may not be appropriate for any other purpose. See “Cautionary Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements” on page 15 of this MD&A.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW - EARNINGS

Table 2: Income statement highlights

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011
Net income 81,207 62,186 19,021 31%
Net income available to common shareholders 77,582 58,561 19,021 33%
EPS – diluted $ 5.11 $ 3.88 $ 1.23 32%
Total revenue 483,136 438,990 44,146 10%
Net interest income 156,170 133,772 22,398 17%
Other income 6,609 3,689 2,920 79%
Non-interest expenses 50,176 45,714 4,462 10%
Income taxes 23,467 21,729 1,738 8%

Net Income

Net income increased 31% year-over-year to $81.2 million in 2012 from $62.2 million in 2011. Net income available to common shareholders
increased 33% to $77.6 million from $58.6 million in 2011. 

The increase in net income primarily resulted from a $22.4 million or 17% increase in net interest income and a $2.0 million increase in gains
on securitization activities, offset by a $4.5 million increase in non-interest expenses and $1.7 million increase in income taxes. The $1.7 million
net increase in income taxes included a $3.6 million tax benefit related to an investment gain realized in Q2 of 2012.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income is the main driver of profitability for the Company and is measured on a TEB. Net interest income TEB is a function of net
interest margins (“NIM”) and average assets. Average assets increased $1.3 billion or 13% year over year. Total NIM as a percentage of average
assets in 2012 increased four basis points to 1.47% from 1.43% in 2011. The increase was largely due to a shift in portfolio mix, as growth in
the higher NIM non-securitized mortgage portfolio outpaced growth in securitized assets. NIM on securitized assets is lower than NIM on non-
securitized assets because securitized assets are insured under government programs and experience a different competitive environment. 

NIM on non-securitized assets was down six basis points to 2.43% in 2012 from 2.49% in 2011. The reduction reflected the Company’s continued
emphasis on Single Family residential mortgages, which generally earn lower mortgage interest rates relative to Commercial mortgages but
are more profitable on a capital adjusted basis. Similarly, margins were impacted by the increased level of liquid assets which are narrower
spread products and the increase in debenture interest expense in Q4 2012. 

On securitized mortgages, NIM decreased one basis point to 0.48% compared to the prior year. The drop in NIM was the result of more recent
originations being at lower spreads, the impact of which was offset by higher levels of mortgage prepayment income in 2012. 

Table 3 outlines the components of the Company’s net interest income, as well as NIM for the year ended December 31, 2012 and the prior
year on a TEB. 
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Table 3: Net interest income

2012 2011 
Average Revenue/ Average Average Revenue/ Average

($ THOUSANDS) balance expense rate (1) balance expense rate(1)

Revenues derived from: 
Liquidity investments $ 659,628 $ 10,088 1.53% $ 470,024 $ 7,562 1.61% 
Equity securities – TEB(2) 170,281 10,126 5.95% 193,706 10,993 5.68% 
Mortgages – non-securitized 4,783,756 245,122 5.12% 3,903,676 206,987 5.30% 
Mortgages – securitized 5,203,081 214,613 4.12% 4,989,251 213,604 4.28% 
Total interest earning assets − TEB $ 10,816,746 $ 479,949 4.44% $ 9,556,657 $ 439,146 4.60% 
Total assets − TEB $ 10,877,694 $ 479,949 4.41% $ 9,608,918 $ 439,146 4.57% 

Expenses related to:
Deposits $ 5,101,434 $ 131,042 2.57% $ 4,206,107 $ 115,314 2.74% 
Securitization liability 5,057,431 184,260 3.64% 4,764,110 181,694 3.81% 
Bank term loans 12,500 813 6.51% 12,500 812 6.50% 
Debentures 67,671 4,212 6.22% 52,671 3,493 6.63% 
Other interest bearing liabilities 3,592 30 0.80% 10,733 217 2.02% 
Total interest bearing liabilities $ 10,242,628 $ 320,357 3.13% $ 9,046,121 $ 301,530 3.33% 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 10,877,694 $ 320,357 2.95% $ 9,608,918 $ 301,530 3.14% 
Net interest income − TEB $ 159,592 $ 137,616
Less: taxable equivalent adjustment (3,422) (3,845)
Net interest income $ 156,170 $ 133,771

Net interest margin − TEB
Non-securitized assets(3) $ 5,511,484 $ 133,837 2.43% $ 4,522,264 $ 112,582 2.49% 
Securitized assets(3) 5,366,210 25,755 0.48% 5,086,654 25,034 0.49% 
Total assets − TEB(3) $ 10,877,694 $ 159,592 1.47% $ 9,608,918 $ 137,616 1.43% 

(1) Average rates are calculated based on the average of the month-end balances outstanding during the year.
(2) For purposes of improving comparability across periods, the 2012 TEB adjustment in this report has been calculated excluding the dividend associated with the investment gain discussed

above. 
(3) Net interest margin – TEB on non-securitized assets and total assets was 2.52% and 1.52%, respectively, if the TEB adjustment is calculated including the investment gain associated with

one of the Company’s security portfolio holdings.

Provision for Credit Losses

The provision for credit losses is established by management, at a level that maintains a target amount of collective allowance on the Company’s
balance sheet. The provision can be affected by the level of originations (allowances must be set up against net new assets), the amount of
specifically identified or realized losses (consume the allowance which then must be replenished), and other factors. As such, allowances are
effectively recorded for potential losses that may occur over the life of a mortgage at the time that mortgages are originated and allowances
are drawn down as losses are specifically identified or realized.

The Company’s provision for credit losses increased 11% or $0.8 million to $8.0 million in 2012. The increase year-over-year reflects additional
collective allowance established against the high level of originations in 2012, the effect of which was partly offset by low levels of specifically
identified and realized loan losses.

Other Income

Other income increased by $2.9 million to $6.6 million in 2012, compared to $3.7 million in 2011. Other income includes ancillary fees related
to the origination and administration of the mortgage portfolio, sundry income and other non-mortgage related fees, gains or losses on
investments and gains on securitization activities.
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In 2012, the Company executed securitization transactions that qualify for derecognition and gain on sale accounting treatment because they
transfer substantially all of the risks associated with the mortgages being sold to third parties. Approximately $2.0 million or 69% of the increase
in other income was due to the sale of $335 million in insured residential mortgages using this new securitization transaction structure. In
addition, $0.4 million of the increase resulted from fee income earned on the mortgage portfolio.

Table 4: Other income

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Fees and other income $ 3,970 $ 3,545 $ 425 12%
Net gain on investments 629 144 485 337%
Gains on securitization activities and income from retained interest 2,010 - 2,010 N/A
Total $ 6,609 $ 3,689 $ 2,920 79%

Non-interest Expenses

Non-interest expenses increased by $4.5 million to $50.2 million from $45.7 million in 2011. Excluding the $5.0 million operational provision
in 2011, non-interest expense increased by $9.5 million or 23%. As expected by management, the rate of year-over-year increase in cumulative
expenses declined in 2012.

This increase in adjusted expenses reflected the healthy growth of the Company’s underlying business and the investment in Equitable’s
employee base required to maintain one of the Company’s significant competitive advantages, the high level of service provided to mortgage
brokers and borrowers. It also resulted from higher expenditures related to legal activity and the regulatory environment.

The Company continues to operate efficiently on both an absolute and relative basis compared to other financial institutions, particularly
taking into account the relative scale of its operations. Equitable’s productivity ratio – TEB of 30.2% in 2012 was up from the 28.8% experienced
in 2011 (excluding the operational provision). While a lower productivity ratio is generally associated with a more efficient cost structure, the
Company’s productivity ratio can also be affected by higher relative growth in the single family business, changes in funding volumes and the
Company’s need to maintain human resource staffing levels commensurate with volume expectations. The Company will continue to invest
to support the growth of its franchise and its service levels going forward and as such doesn’t expect material changes in its productivity ratio
in the next fiscal year as compared with 2012.

Table 5: Non-interest expenses and productivity ratio

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Compensation and benefits $ 28,246 $ 22,856 $ 5,390 24%
Premises and equipment 5,029 3,818 1,211 32%
Other 5,006 8,596 (3,590) (42%)
Mortgage servicing 4,237 4,024 213 5%
Licenses, regulatory fees and insurance 3,735 3,303 432 13%
Marketing, travel and communications 2,081 1,790 291 16%
Legal, audit and related services 1,842 1,327 515 39%
Total $ 50,176 $ 45,714 $ 4,462 10%
Productivity ratio − TEB 30.2% 32.4% 
Productivity ratio – TEB – Adjusted for the operational provision 30.2% 28.8%
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Income Taxes

The Company’s effective income tax rate in 2012 was 22.4% compared to 25.9% in 2011. The 3.5% difference was largely due to the impact of
an investment gain realized in the second quarter of 2012. Excluding the effects of this investment gain, the Company’s effective tax rate
remained consistent with the prior year at 25.9%. 

The Company’s statutory tax rate was 26.3% for 2012, compared to 28.1% in prior year. With the effect of the investment gain excluded, the
Company’s effective tax rate 25.9% was lower than the statutory tax rate as a result of tax-exempt dividend income earned from its securities
portfolio, offset by non-deductible expenses, movements of the Company’s temporary differences and other adjustments. 

Return on Equity and Assets

The Company delivered an ROE of 18.7% in 2012, compared to 16.5% in 2011. Annualized return on average assets was 0.7%, compared to 0.6%
in the prior year. 

Dividends

On February 26, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend in the amount of $0.14 per common share, payable on
April 4, 2013, to common shareholders of record at the close of business on March 15, 2013. In total, the Company increased its dividends
declared to $0.52 per common share in 2012 from $0.45 in 2011, a 16% increase year-over-year.  Consistent increases in dividends on common
shares reflect, among other things, the Board’s confidence in the growth and earnings potential of the Company, the strength of its capital
position, and its ability to fund future asset expansion. 

Also, on February 26, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend in the amount of $0.453125 per preferred share,
payable on March 31, 2013, to preferred shareholders of record at the close of business on March 15, 2013.

FINANCIAL REVIEW − BALANCE SHEET

Table 6: Balance sheet highlights

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Total assets 11,601,440 10,257,013 1,344,427 13%
Mortgage receivable - non-securitized 5,266,591 4,262,147 1,004,444 24%
Mortgage receivable - securitized 5,342,881 5,314,940 27,941 1%
Total liquid assets 965,969 784,386 181,583 23%
Total liquid assets as a % of total assets 8.3% 7.6% 0.7% 9%
Deposits 5,651,717 4,627,904 1,023,813 22%
Securitization liabilities 5,261,670 5,100,921 160,749 3%
Shareholders' equity 501,571 426,640 74,931 18%

Mortgage Portfolio

Total Mortgage Assets

Equitable’s mortgage portfolio is diversified across both residential and commercial real estate asset categories and consists of first charge and
insured mortgages. Total mortgages receivable increased by $1.0 billion or 10.8% from December 31, 2011 to $10.6 billion at year-end 2012.

The Company’s non-securitized mortgage receivable increased by $1.0 billion or 24% during 2012 to $5.3 billion. This increase reflected the
successful ongoing emphasis management has placed on growing Equitable’s core lending portfolio – particularly single family residential
mortgages. The Company’s securitized mortgages receivable increased by $27.9 million or 1% compared to 2011 to $5.3 billion as at December
31, 2012. 
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Table 7 is intended to provide the reader with a view of the components of mortgages receivable on the Company’s balance sheet and does
not reconcile specifically with the segmented presentation of mortgage balances elsewhere in this MD&A. The disclosures by lending business
and property type that follow Table 7 relate only to principal balances and exclude the other components of mortgages receivable detailed
within the Table.

Table 7: Mortgage Receivable

2012
($ THOUSANDS) Non-securitized Securitized Total

Mortgage principal $ 5,271,630 $ 5,304,928 S 10,576,558
Net deferred fees and sundry (46) 21,385 21,339
Accrued interest 21,627 16,568 38,195
Total mortgage assets $ 5,293,211 $ 5,342,881 $ 10,636,092
Allowance for credit losses (26,620) - (26,620)
Total mortgage receivable $ 5,266,591 $ 5,342,881 $ 10,609,472

49.6% 50.4% 100.0%

2011
($ THOUSANDS) Non-securitized Securitized Total

Mortgage principal $ 4,266,592 S 5,271,561 $ 9,538,153
Net deferred fees and sundry (2,726) 26,187 23,461
Accrued interest 17,931 17,192 35,123
Total mortgage assets $ 4,281,797 $ 5,314,940 $ 9,596,737
Allowance for credit losses (19,650) - (19,650)
Total mortgage receivable $ 4,262,147 $ 5,314,940 $ 9,577,087

44.5% 55.5% 100.0%

Mortgage Assets by Lending Business

The Company’s Core Lending balances grew at double digit rates on a year-over-year basis. Single Family showed particular strength, with
mortgage principal up 46% over 2011. Growth was attributable to strong origination volumes and the Company’s success in mortgage
renewals. The commercial book contracted slightly in 2012 as a result of Equitable’s decision to maintain its pricing and capital allocation
discipline in the face of more competitive pricing in the marketplace.

The Securitization Financing portfolio increased by $143 million or 3% compared to a year earlier. The slower growth in this portfolio reflects,
in part, management’s strategic decision in the latter half of 2011 to reduce the level of securitization activities as a result of lower relative returns
on capital. Further, the Company originated and securitized $335 million of mortgages during the year using a new transaction structure that
qualifies the assets for derecognition. These derecognized mortgages are included in Equitable’s production numbers and generated income
for the Company but are not reported as assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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Table 8: Mortgage principal outstanding − by lending business 

2012 2011 
($ THOUSANDS) % of total % of total Change from 2011

Single Family Lending Services $ 3,026,523 28.6% $ 2,076,659 21.8% $ 949,864 46%
Commercial Lending Services 2,134,262 20.2% 2,188,593 22.9% (54,331) (2%)
Mortgage – Core Lending $ 5,160,785 48.8% $ 4,265,252 44.7% $ 895,533 21%

Insured mortgages held for securitization $ 110,845 1.0% $ 1,340 0.0% $ 109,505 8,172%
Securitized Mortgages(1) 5,304,928 50.2% 5,271,561 55.3% 33,367 1%
Mortgages – Securitization Financing $ 5,415,773 51.2% $ 5,272,901 55.3% $ 142,872 3%

Total Mortgage Principal Outstanding $ 10,576,558 100.0% $ 9,538,153 100.0% $ 1,038,405 11%

Non-securitized mortgage principal(2) $ 5,271,630 49.8% $  4,266,592 44.7% $ 1,005,038 24%

(1) Includes $249.0 million (December 31, 2011–$256.7 million) of single family dwelling mortgage principal originated through Single Family Lending Services.
(2) Non-securitized mortgage principal is comprised of “Mortgages – Core Lending” and “Insured mortgages held for securitization.”

Mortgage Asset Diversification

Management believes that its mortgage portfolio is adequately diversified and that the risk inherent in it is low. In terms of the risk profile of
the Company’s mortgage portfolio:

• Insured mortgages represented 52% of the mortgage principal outstanding at December 31, 2012 compared to 56% a year earlier, which
reflects greater emphasis on the Company’s uninsured Core Lending portfolio (see Tables 8 and 9);

• Fixed rate mortgages remained at 89% of total portfolio at December 31, 2012, consistent with December 31, 2011;

• Floating rate mortgages with interest rate floors amounted to 6% of the portfolio as at December 31, 2012; and

• Floating rate mortgages that had no interest rate floors represented the remaining 5% of the portfolio at December 31, 2012.

Management believes that the Company’s mortgage portfolio is diversified across geographies and will become more so over time as Equitable
expands its national presence. At December 31, 2012, 59% of the Company’s mortgages were secured by properties located in Ontario. Of the
remaining portfolio, 15% were located in Alberta, 12% were located in Quebec, 7% in British Columbia, 2% in Manitoba, with the remaining
5% in the rest of Canada.

Similarly, the Company’s mortgage assets are diversified across property types, and as a result, its exposure to single family residential, other
residential, and commercial real estate borrowers is well balanced. At December 31, 2012, single family dwelling mortgages comprised 34%
of the total portfolio, up from 28% a year earlier.
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Table 9: Mortgage principal outstanding − by property type

2012
($ THOUSANDS) Uninsured Insured Total % of total

Single family dwelling $ 3,067,025 $ 48,974 $ 3,115,999 29.5%
Mixed-use property 345,986 - 345,986 3.3%
Multi-unit residential 488,117 836 488,953 4.6%
Commercial 914,344 - 914,344 8.6%
Mortgages held for sale - 4,807 4,807 0.0%
Construction 290,696 - 290,696 2.7%
Mortgage principal – Core Lending $ 5,106,168 $ 54,617 $ 5,160,785 48.8%

Single family dwelling $ - $ 443,462 $ 443,462 4.2%
Multi-unit residential - 4,972,311 4,972,311 47.0%
Mortgage principal – Securitization Financing $ - $ 5,415,773 $ 5,415,773 51.2%

Total Mortgage Principal Outstanding $ 5,106,168 $ 5,470,390 $ 10,576,558 100.0%
48.3% 51.7% 100.0%

2011
($ THOUSANDS) Uninsured Insured Total % of total

Single family dwelling $ 2,132,410 $ 61,975 $ 2,194,385 23.0%
Mixed-use property 345,154 - 345,154 3.6%
Multi-unit residential 397,954 1,102 399,056 4.2%
Commercial 962,457 - 962,457 10.1%
Mortgages held for sale 15,863 15,672 31,535 0.3%
Construction 332,860 - 332,860 3.5%
Mortgage principal – Core Lending $ 4,186,698 $ 78,749 $ 4,265,447 44.7%

Single family dwelling $ - $ 477,467 $ 477,467 5.0%
Multi-unit residential - 4,795,239 4,795,239 50.3%
Mortgage principal – Securitization Financing $ - $ 5,272,706 $ 5,272,706 55.3%

Total Mortgage Principal Outstanding $ 4,186,698 $ 5,351,455 $ 9,538,153 100.0%
43.9% 56.1% 100.0%

Mortgage Asset Securitization

The Company originates CMHC and other insured mortgages for the purpose of securitization. The Company also insures previously originated
uninsured mortgages to securitize them when it has an opportunity to reduce its funding costs and increase its rate of return on a risk adjusted
basis. Securitization results in the creation of an MBS which the Company can then sell directly to a third party investor or to the Canada
Housing Trust (“CHT”) through the CMB program, or retain on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. All securitized mortgages are
reported on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as mortgages receivable – securitized.

When the Company chooses to sell the MBS to a third party or the CHT, it applies the IFRS derecognition rules to determine whether it has
effectively transferred substantially all the risk and rewards associated with the mortgages to a third party. Since the transition to IFRS and until
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Q3 2012, the Company has retained a material portion of the risk and rewards of all securitized mortgages and therefore recognized these
mortgages and an associated securitization liability on its balance sheet. Interest income and expenses are recognized over the life of these
mortgages.

In Q3 2012, the Company was able to develop transaction structures that transfer substantially all the risk and rewards associated with the
mortgages, which resulted in the full or partial derecognition of the securitized mortgage and an up-front gain on sale. In some cases, the
Company may retain residual interests in the mortgages, which are recorded as securitization retained interests and servicing liabilities on
the Company’s balance sheet.

As a result of these new transaction structures, the Company increased its level of origination and securitization activity in the second half year
of 2012. The Company securitized $335 million under this new structure and recognized $2.0 million of related up-front gains. Equitable
expects to continue originating or renewing, and subsequently securitizing insured residential mortgages at levels that are higher than those
in the first half of 2012.

Table 10: Mortgage principal securitized

2012
($ THOUSANDS) Single family Multi-unit residential Total Liability Principal

Mortgages on-balance sheet:
Securitized and sold $ 10,045 $ 576,679 $ 586,724 $ 586,622
Securitized and retained 191,242 6,000 197,242 N/A

Mortgages derecognized 149,595 185,754 335,349 N/A
Total $ 350,882 $ 768,433 $ 1,119,315 $ 586,622

2011
($ THOUSANDS) Single family Multi-unit residential Total Liability Principal

Mortgages on-balance sheet:
Securitized and sold $ 151,677 $ 715,453 $ 867,130 $ 861,980
Securitized and retained 91,510 59,470 150,980 N/A

Mortgages derecognized - - - N/A
Total $ 243,187 $ 774,923 $ 1,018,110 $ 861,980

Mortgage Asset Production

Overall mortgage production was $3.5 billion for the year, up $624 million or 22% from 2011. Commensurate with Equitable’s strategic focus,
$2.4 billion or 70% of the mortgages funded during the year were Core Lending mortgages. Within Core Lending, Single Family production
was up by 40% and Commercial mortgage production was down by 11% compared with 2011. Commercial production decreased by 11% in
2012, due to a more intense competitive environment. The Company increased its securitization activities in the second half of 2012 and
experienced high demand for its multi-unit residential product, which led to a 25% increase in Securitization Financing production compared
to 2011. 
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Table 11: Mortgage production − by lending business

2012 2011
Mortgage Mortgage 

($ THOUSANDS) principal funded % of total principal funded % of total Change from 2011

Single Family Lending Services $ 1,762,786 50.8% $ 1,260,928 44.3% $ 501,858 40%
Commercial Lending Services 680,518 19.6% 761,348 26.7% (80,830) (11%)
Mortgage production – Core Lending $ 2,443,304 70.4% $ 2,022,276 71.0% $ 421,028 21%
Securitization Financing 1,029,708 29.6% 826,463 29.0% 203,245 25%
Total mortgage production $ 3,473,012 100.0% $ 2,848,739 100.0% $ 624,273 22%

The majority of the Company’s mortgages are sourced each year by a network of independent mortgage brokers and other mortgage
originators. A mortgage brokerage arrangement exists with First National Financial LP (“FNFLP”), one of Canada’s leading mortgage banking
organizations, to source and administer insured residential and Core Lending mortgages, and that relationship drives a significant portion of
the business of the Company’s Securitization financing segment.

Credit Quality and Allowance for Credit Losses

Table 12: Mortgage credit quality

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Net realized loan losses for the year 1,022 8,636 (7,614) (88%)
Gross impaired mortgage assets (1) 36,408 28,196 8,212 29%
Net impaired mortgage assets (1)(2) 31,748 24,331 7,417 31%
Allowance for credit losses 26,620 19,650 6,970 36%
Allowance for credit losses as a % of total mortgage assets 0.25% 0.21% 0.04% 
Mortgage principal in arrears 90 days or more (3) 33,606 20,770 12,836 62% 
Mortgage principal in arrears 90 days or more as a % of total mortgage principal (3) 0.32% 0.22% 0.10% 

(1) Conventional mortgages are deems to be impaired at the earlier of the date they have been individually provided for or when they have been in arrears for 90 days. Mortgages guaranteed
by the Government of Canada are deemed to be impaired when payment is contractually past due 365 days.

(2) Net impaired mortgages reflect gross impaired mortgage assets less individual allowances.
(3) Mortgage principal in arrears 90 days or more does not include insured mortgages that are less than 365 days in arrears.

Management actively analyzes the profile of its lending businesses and its originations in tandem with external market conditions, including
market values and employment conditions that prevail in those markets where it lends. When management judges that the risk associated with
a particular region or product is no longer acceptable, it adjusts its underwriting criteria to ensure that its underwriting policies continue to
be prudent and reflective of current and expected economic conditions, and thereby safeguards the future health of its portfolio. When
appropriate, Equitable also responds to the changing marketplace with initiatives that result in increased mortgage originations, while
continuing to ensure a prudent credit risk profile for its portfolio. The low level of loan losses that the Company has incurred in recent years
reflects the quality of its mortgage portfolio and the effectiveness and prudence of its underwriting. 

Management’s workout activities on impaired loans continue to yield positive results. The Company experienced a low level of actual losses in
2012 with net realized loan losses totaling only $1.0 million. This compares favourably with 2011 when the Company realized $8.6 million of actual
losses. Given these loss experiences and the quality of the portfolio, management is comfortable that its allowances for credit losses adequately
provide for the risk of loss. At December 31, 2012, total allowances for credit losses as a percentage of total mortgage assets outstanding was
0.25% compared to 0.21% a year earlier. As a measure of the adequacy of total allowances at the end of 2012, 73% of the portfolio’s gross
impaired mortgage assets were covered by the Company’s total allowances for credit losses, up from 70% as at December 31, 2011.
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Net impaired mortgages were 0.30% of total mortgage assets outstanding at December 31, 2012, compared to 0.35% at September 30, 2012
and 0.25% at the end 2011. Mortgages in arrears 90 days or more were 0.32% of total mortgage principal outstanding at December 31, 2012
compared to 0.31% at September 30, 2012 and 0.22% a year earlier. Arrears were unusually low in the latter half of 2011 and the first half of
2012, and the recent increase brings the Company’s arrears rates more in-line with historic norms. Mortgages in early stage delinquency,
between 30 to 89 days past due, amounted to 0.31% of total outstanding principal at December 31, 2012, compared to 0.22% at December
31, 2011 and 0.34% at December 31, 2010. Early stage delinquency is a leading indicator of credit quality in future periods and management
believes that, despite the recent rise, these relatively low levels of delinquency reflect the health of the Company’s mortgage portfolio and its
ongoing success in managing defaults.

Liquidity Investments and Equity Securities

The Company holds sufficient levels of liquidity on its balance sheet to ensure that it is well-positioned to manage unexpected events that may
reduce its access to funding. Over the past several years, due to the ongoing global macroeconomic and capital markets uncertainty,
management chose to maintain high levels of liquidity, notwithstanding the impact on NIM. Management closely monitors the Company’s
liquidity position and believes that the level of liquid resources held, together with Equitable’s ability to raise GIC deposits, is sufficient to meet
funding and GIC maturity commitments, as well as to ensure the collection of its other receivables, discharge its liabilities, and meet its other
obligations. Actual liquidity may vary period to period mainly due to the timing of securitization related cash flows and residential mortgage
funding seasonality. 

At December 31, 2012, assets held for the purpose of providing liquidity protection amounted to $825 million and represented 7.1% of Equitable
Trust’s total assets, compared to 5.7% at December 31, 2011. Liquidity was higher at December 31, 2012, partly because of the $445 million in
mortgage commitments issued by the Company that were outstanding at that date, compared to $388 million at December 31, 2011. 

In addition to assets that are held for the purpose of providing liquidity protection, the Company holds other liquid assets, which include
other deposits held with the Company’s bank and its investments in publicly traded common and preferred shares. Total liquid assets were $966
million at December 31, 2012, as compared to $784 million at the prior year end, and represented 8.3% of the Company’s total assets.

The majority of the Company’s equity securities are preferred shares that are held mainly to yield tax-preferred dividend income, and are
recorded at fair value. Unrealized changes in the fair value of certain designated shares are included in income while unrealized changes in the
fair value of all other shares are included in other comprehensive income, net of tax. At December 31, 2012, equity securities were $57.4 million
or 29% lower than at December 31, 2011. The decrease resulted from $42.7 million of sales and redemptions net of purchases, $2.8 million of
premium amortization, $0.3 million in realized and unrealized gains, and a $12.2 million reduction in the carrying value of certain investments.
The reductions in the investment carrying values were offset by the receipt of $14.2 million in associated dividends, so did not result in a net
economic loss. The majority of security sales during 2012 related to a planned reduction in the portfolio size, related to more demanding
capital rules for certain investments that became effective in 2013.
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Table 13: Liquid assets

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Eligible deposits with regulated financial institutions (1) $ 379,184 $ 170,558 $ 208,626 122% 
Debt securities issued by regulated financial institutions 217,709 94,999 122,710 129% 
Government guaranteed debt instruments: 

Investments purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 10,173 9,967 206 2%
Debt securities issued by Government of Canada - 34,145 (34,145) (100%)
Debt securities guaranteed by Government of Canada 26,519 28,400 (1,881) (7%)
Mortgages held in the form of debt securities guaranteed by Government of Canada (2) 201,202 247,785 (46,583) (19%)
Obligations under repurchase agreements (9,882) - (9,882) -%

Assets held for regulatory purposes $ 824,905 $ 585,854 $ 239,051 41%
Other deposits with regulated financial institutions 263 287 (24) (8%)
Equity securities 140,801 198,245 (57,444) (29%)
Total liquid assets $ 965,969 $ 784,386 $ 181,583 23%
Total assets held for regulatory purposes as a % of total Equitable Trust asset 7.1% 5.7%
Total liquid assets as a % of total assets 8.3% 7.6%

(1) Eligible deposits with regulated financial institutions represent deposits of Equitable Trust which are held with major Canadian banks and excludes $16.9 million (December 31, 2011 –
$16.2 million) of restricted cash held as collateral by third parties for the Company’s interest rate swap transactions and $46.7 million (December 31, 2011 − $66.9 million) of cash held in
trust accounts and deposits held with banks as collateral for the Company’s securitization activities.

(2) Mortgages held in the form of debt securities represent mortgages securitized and retained by the Company and are reported in mortgages receivable – securitized. The value reported
above represents the fair market value of the associated MBS securities. 

Other Assets

Other assets decreased $2.0 million or 8% to $23.6 million from $25.6 million a year earlier. Other assets include sundry receivables and prepaid
expenses, capital assets consisting of leasehold improvements, office furniture and computer equipment, the fair value of derivative financial
instruments, real estate held for sale, and income taxes recoverable. 

Other receivables and prepaids increased $1.0 million to $19.5 million. $13.8 million of the year-end 2012 balance related to an alleged fraud
that occurred during 2011. 

Table 14: Other assets, deferred income taxes and other liabilities

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Prepaid expenses and other $ 15,343 $ 14,981 $ 362 2%
Capital assets 3,547 3,764 (217) (6%)
Receivable relating to securitization activities 2,773 2,630 143 5%
Accrued interest and dividends on non-mortgage assets 1,393 986 407 41%
Derivative financial instruments − securitization activities 323 - 323 N/A
Real estate owned 227 197 30 15%
Derivative financial instruments − hedges 20 36 (16) (44%)
Income taxes recoverable - 3,024 (3,024) (100%)
Total $ 23,626 $ 25,618 $ (1,992) (8%)
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Deposits

As a financial institution offering insured deposits, Equitable Trust’s ability to fund its mortgage businesses by attracting depositors and
providing superior customer service to them is critical to its success. Equitable Trust is licensed to accept deposits in all Canadian jurisdictions
and deposits are sourced primarily through a national distribution network of third party deposit agents. These deposits, which are primarily
in the form of GICs, provide a reliable and stable source of funding that can be matched against mortgage maturities and are used to fund most
of the Company’s liquidity needs.

Total deposit principal outstanding increased $1.0 billion or 23% to $5.6 billion at year end from $4.5 billion at year-end 2011. Cashable GICs
represented 13% of total deposits outstanding compared to 15% in 2011. The Company’s Cashable GIC is a one-year product, cashable after
its initial 30-day term at any time upon demand. Other GIC products consist of 30-day to five-year fixed term GICs.

Table 15: Deposits

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Deposits – cashable GICs $ 743,572 $ 700,301 $ 43,271 6%
Deposits – fixed-term GICs 4,823,465 3,834,837 988,628 26%

$ 5,567,037 $ 4,535,138 $ 1,031,899 23%
Deferred deposit agent commissions (14,850) (12,151) (2,699) 22%
Accrued interest 99,530 104,917 (5,387) (5%)
Total $ 5,651,717 $ 4,627,904 $ 1,023,813 22%

Securitization Liabilities

Securitization liabilities arise when at the time of securitization and sale, the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership associated with the securitized mortgages. As a result, the securitized mortgages legally sold remain on the consolidated balance
sheet and a securitization liability representing the proceeds from the transaction is recorded. The majority of the Company’s historic
securitization transactions do not qualify the securitized mortgages for balance sheet derecognition under IFRS and the obligations associated
with those securitizations are recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet and accounted for as secured financing. 

Table 16: Securitization liabilities

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Securitization principal $ 5,252,180 $ 5,093,981 $ 158,199 3%
Deferred net discounts and issuance costs (12,016) (14,346) 2,330 (16%)
Accrued interest 21,506 21,286 220 1%
Total $ 5,261,670 $ 5,100,921 $ 160,749 3%

Debentures and Bank Term Loans

Equitable’s debentures are subordinated to the rights of Equitable Trust’s depositors and other creditors. Such debentures form an integral part
of regulatory capital. The Company’s debentures mature between 2017 and 2020, but it can elect to redeem these debentures during their term
subject to the terms and conditions of the debenture agreements and to the approval of OSFI.

In October 2012, the Company issued $65 million of Series 10 debentures (“Series 10”). The gross proceeds of the offering of the Series 10
were used by the Company to purchase subordinated debentures of Equitable Trust, which qualifies as Tier 2B regulatory capital. Series 10 pays
fixed interest semi-annually at an annual rate of 5.399% and matures October 23, 2017.

The Company also has a $12.5 million bank term loan which matures on January 15, 2013. The Company was in compliance with all of the
covenants required by its bank loan facility as at December 31, 2012.
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Details related to the Company’s bank term loan and debentures can be found in Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

On January 3, 2013 and subsequent to the Company’s year-end, Equitable Trust redeemed $9.5 million of its Series 7 debentures and repaid
its $12.5 million bank term loan.

Table 17: Debentures and bank term loan

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Debentures
Series 7 7.10% $ 9,450 $ 9,450 $ - - %
Series 8 6.50% 23,221 23,221 - - %
Series 9 6.09% 20,000 20,000 - - %
Series 10 5.40% 65,000 - 65,000 N/A
Total debentures $ 117,671 $ 52,671 $ 65,000 123%

Total bank term loan 6.41% 12,500 12,500 - - %
Total debentures and bank term loan $ 130,171 $ 65,171 $ 65,000 100%

Other Liabilities and Deferred Income Taxes

Other liabilities include realty taxes collected from borrowers, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, income taxes payable, the fair value of
derivative financial instruments, and the future servicing liability of securitized mortgages that achieved derecognition. Other liabilities and
deferred tax liabilities totaled $46.4 million as at December 31, 2012, up from $36.4 million in 2011. The increase was mainly due to a changes
in the Company’s current tax position, mortgagor realty tax balances, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, which were offset in part
by reduced deferred tax liabilities.

Table 18: Other liabilities and deferred income taxes

($ THOUSANDS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Mortgagor realty taxes $ 22,340 $ 18,975 $ 3,365 18%
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,102 6,802 3,300 49%
Income taxes payable 4,670 - 4,670 N/A
Derivative financial instruments − interest rate swaps 2,301 2,808 (507) (18%)
Securitized mortgage servicing liability 1,518 - 1,518 N/A
Derivative financial instruments − securitization activities - 2 (2) (100%)

$ 40,931 $ 28,587 $ 12,344 43%
Deferred tax liabilities 5,498 7,790 (2,292) (29%)
Total other liabilities and deferred tax liabilities $ 46,429 $ 36,377 $ 10,052 28%

Contractual obligations by year of maturity are outlined in Table 30 – Contractual obligations. There were no material changes to contractual
obligations that are outside the ordinary course of the Company’s operations during 2012.

Shareholders’ Equity

Total shareholders’ equity increased $74.9 million or 18% to $502 million at December 31, 2012 from $427 million at December 31, 2011, mainly
due to the high level of earnings retained by the Company, partly offset by fair value adjustments recorded through other comprehensive
income and by dividends paid.
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The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRIP”). Participation in the plan is optional and under the terms of the plan cash dividends
on common shares are used to purchase additional common shares at the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares on
the Toronto Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the dividend payment date. Common shares issued as a result of
participation in the DRIP are issued from the Company’s treasury. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company issued 29,222
common shares under the DRIP.

At December 31, 2012, the Company had 15,189,983 common shares issued and outstanding compared to 15,018,401 common shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2011. As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had 2,000,000 non-cumulative five-year rate reset
preferred shares issued and outstanding.

During 2012, 137,927 options were granted and 210,700 options were forfeited or expired. In addition, 142,360 stock options were exercised
that contributed $3.1 million to common share capital. At December 31, 2012, there were 518,817 unexercised stock options, which are or may
be exercisable, to purchase common shares for maximum proceeds of $11.9 million. For information on outstanding stock options and their
associated exercise prices, please refer to Note 18 (a) of the consolidated financial statements.

Table 19: Shareholders' equity

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2012 2011 Change from 2011

Shareholders' equity: 
Preferred shares $ 48,494 $ 48,494 $ - -% 
Common shares 134,224 129,771 4,453 3%
Contributed surplus 5,003 4,718 285 6%
Retained earnings 323,737 254,006 69,731 28%
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (9,887) (10,349) 462 4%
Total shareholders' equity $ 501,571 $ 426,640 $ 74,931 18%
Dividends on common shares $ 7,851 $ 6,742 $ 1,109 16%
Dividends per common share $ 0.52 $ 0.45 $ 0.07 16%
Dividends on preferred shares $ 3,625 $ 3,625 $ - -% 
Dividends per preferred share $ 1.81 $ 1.81 $ - -% 

Capital Management

Equitable Trust manages its capital in accordance with guidelines established by OSFI, based on standards issued by the Bank for International
Settlements, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (“BCBS”). In order to govern the quality and quantity of capital necessary to maintain
the business based on its inherent risks, Equitable Trust utilizes an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”).

Equitable Trust’s total capital ratio was 17.4% at December 31, 2012 compared to 15.3% at December 31, 2011 (see Table 20). Equitable Trust’s
Tier 1 capital ratio was 13.5% compared to 13.4% at December 31, 2011. Capital ratios were up year-over-year due to an increase in the absolute
levels of the Company’s regulatory capital and the benefits of shifting towards lower risk-weighted single family residential mortgage assets
(see Table 21). While total assets grew by 13%, risk weighted assets grew by only 11% largely due to the mix shift within the mortgage book.
Regulatory capital increased by 27% during the year mainly due to earnings retained by the Company and $65 million of Tier 2 capital raised
in October.

During October 2012, the Company raised $65 million of debentures that were in turn invested in the Equitable Trust as Tier 2 capital. Equitable
raised this funding in anticipation of upcoming debt maturities and redemptions, and in advance of new rules for capital instruments coming
into effect for most Canadian financial institutions in 2013.

Management believes that the Company’s current capital base and its earnings in future periods will provide sufficient capital to support its
strategic objectives and ongoing growth, even accounting for the planned redemption of some of its existing debt over the next few years.

Also as at December 31, 2012, tangible common equity ratio (see explanation in the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this MD&A) was
12.2% compared to 11.9% one year earlier. 
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Basel III

In December 2012, OSFI issued the final version of the revised Capital Adequacy Requirements (“CAR”) Guideline, which was updated to reflect
the changes that were approved by the BCBS reforms, commonly referred to as ‘Basel III’. This Guideline requires Canadian-regulated financial
institutions to meet a minimum 7.0% Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1”) ratio on an “all-in” basis (defined by OSFI as capital calculated to include
all of the Basel III regulatory adjustments that will be required by 2019, but retaining the phase-out rules for non-qualifying capital instruments)
– starting in Q1 2013. The Company does not believe that its capital ratios will be materially impacted by the revised CAR guideline. Equitable
Trust’s pro-forma CET1 ratio on an “all-in” basis as at December 31st, 2012 was 12.2%, consistent with its TCE ratio as calculated under Basel II.

Notwithstanding its current capital position, the Company will continue to look for opportunities to optimize its regulatory capital ratios. For
example, in 2013 it intends to amend the terms of intercompany preferred shares issued to Equitable Group Inc. by Equitable Trust so that those
shares become compliant with certain aspects of OSFI’s new CAR guideline and are not subject to phase out. Likewise, as mentioned earlier,
the Company will reduce the size of its equity securities portfolio due to more demanding capital requirements for investments held therein.

Table 20: Capital measures of Equitable Trust

($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT ACM) 2012 2011 

Total risk-weighted assets $ 3,767,442 $ 3,383,805 

Tier 1 capital: 
Common shares $ 137,303 $ 132,819 
Non-cumulative preferred shares 50,000 50,000 
Contributed surplus 4,589 4,303 
Retained earnings 317,754 248,752 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss(1) (1,767) (2,095) 
IFRS transition adjustment(2) - 18,931 

Total $ 507,879 $ 452,710 

Tier 2 capital: 
Collective allowance(3) $ 21,960 $ - 
Subordinated debentures (Tier 2B)(4) 125,781 65,171 

Total $ 147,740 $ 65,171 

Total regulatory capital $ 655,620 $ 517,881 

Regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets: 
Tier 1 capital 13.5% 13.4% 
Tier 2 capital 3.9% 1.9% 

Total regulatory capital as a % of total risk-weighted assets 17.4% 15.3% 

Tangible common equity ratio(5) 12.2% 11.9% 

Assets-to-capital multiple (ACM) 12.8 12.8 

(1) As prescribed by OSFI, certain components of accumulated other comprehensive income are included in the determination of regulatory capital. Net unrealized fair value losses on available
for sale equity securities are deducted in the determination of Tier 1 capital while net unrealized fair value gains on available for sale equity securities are included in Tier 2A capital.

(2) As permitted by OSFI, the transition adjustment for IFRS will be amortized over an eight quarter period ending on December 31, 2012.
(3) Effective Q2 2012, Equitable Trust’s collective allowance is included in the calculation of regulatory capital.
(4) Tier 2B capital may be included in Tier 2 capital to a maximum of 50% of net Tier 1 capital. The capital value of the Company’s subordinated debentures reflects a 20% reduction resulting

from the maturity date of the debt falling within 5 years of the regulatory reporting date.
(5) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of this MD&A. 
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Table 21: Risk-weighted assets of Equitable Trust

2012
Risk Risk-weighted

($ THOUSANDS) Amounts Weighting Amounts

On-balance sheet: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 442,785 20% S 88,558
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 78,551 0% -
Investments 439,480 39% 172,885
Mortgage receivables:

Single Family Lending Services 3,038,724 35% 1,062,608
Commercial Lending Services 2,138,374 96% 2,061,207
Securitization Financing 5,454,334 0% 333

Securitization retained interests 7,263 100% 7,270
Other assets 22,288 92% 20,555
Total Equitable Trust assets subject to risk rating $ 11,621,799 $ 3,413,416
Less: Collective allowance (21,960) -
Total Equitable Trust assets $ 11,599,839 $ 3,413,416 
Off-balance sheet:

Loan commitments $ 92,380
Derivative contracts 5,958

Total credit risk $ 3,511,754
Operational risk (1) 255,668
Total $ 3,767,442

2011
($ THOUSANDS) Asset Risk Risk-weighted

Amounts Weighting Amounts

On-balance sheet:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 253,714 20% S 50,743
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 9,967 0% -
Investments 390,340 39% 181,042
Mortgage receivables:

Single Family Lending Services 2,086,112 34% 712,811
Commercial Lending Services 2,190,687 95% 2,089,297
Securitization Financing 5,316,072 0% 418

Securitization retained interests - 100% -
Other assets 24,829 92% 23,808
Total Equitable Trust assets subject to risk rating $ 10,271,721 $ 3,058,119
Less: Collective allowance (15,785) -
Total Equitable Trust assets $ 10,255,936 $ 3,058,119 
Off-balance sheet:

Loan commitments $ 103,272
Derivative contracts 5,326

Total credit risk $ 3,166,717
Operational risk (1) 217,088
Total $ 3,383,805

(1) For operational risk, Equitable Trust uses the Basic Indicator Approach − calculated as 15% of the previous three-year average of net interest income and other income, excluding gain or
loss on investments. The risk-weighted equivalent is determined by multiplying the capital requirement for operational risk by 12.5.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

Table 22 summarizes the Company’s performance over the last eight quarters. Equitable does not typically experience material seasonality in
its earnings, but income from prepayment charges and equity investments, as well as changes in short-term interest rates and the impact
thereof on the Company’s hedging activities may cause some volatility in earnings from quarter to quarter.

Table 22: Summary of quarterly results

2012 2011
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

OPERATIONS
Net income 20,140 21,054 22,073 17,940 17,025 13,363 15,735 16,063
Net income available to common shareholders 19,234 20,147 21,167 17,034 16,119 12,456 14,829 15,157
EPS – basic $ 1.27 $ 1.34 $ 1.41 $ 1.13 $ 1.07 $ 0.83 $ 0.99 $ 1.01
EPS – diluted $ 1.26 $ 1.33 $ 1.40 $ 1.13 $ 1.07 $ 0.82 $ 0.98 $ 1.00
Net interest income 40,555 40,640 38,451 36,524 35,346 34,759 32,461 31,205
NIM − TEB − total assets(3)(4) 1.44% 1.49% 1.49% 1.45% 1.41% 1.44% 1.43% 1.44%
NIM – TEB − non-securitization assets(3)(4) 2.30% 2.39% 2.49% 2.57% 2.47% 2.44% 2.53% 2.51%
NIM − TEB − securitization assets(3)(4) 0.47% 0.54% 0.49% 0.43% 0.45% 0.53% 0.46% 0.52%
Total revenues 125,727 123,211 117,824 116,374 114,336 112,744 107,453 104,457
Return on equity – annualized 17.3% 18.9% 21.1% 17.7% 17.3% 13.7% 16.8% 18.0%
Return on average assets – annualized 0.7% 0.8% 0.8% 0.7% 0.6% 0.5% 0.6% 0.7%
Productivity ratio – TEB(4) 30.5% 29.1% 30.6% 30.8% 29.7% 42.8% 28.7% 27.4%
MORTGAGE PRODUCTION 
Single Family Lending Services 458,423 494,123 482,902 327,338 361,045 389,833 293,441 216,611
Commercial Lending Services 190,113 214,148 156,510 119,747 192,530 268,060 118,184 182,574
Core Lending 648,536 708,271 639,412 447,085 553,575 657,893 411,625 399,185
Securitization Financing 510,737 288,442 115,698 114,831 90,102 287,638 194,673 254,050
BALANCE SHEET 
Total assets 11,601,440 11,228,030 10,867,531 10,470,238 10,257,013 10,254,391 9,567,355 9,172,981
Mortgages receivable 10,609,472 10,221,518 9,978,718 9,687,878 9,577,087 9,422,939 8,864,357 8,560,408
Total liquid assets 965,969 971,477 975,994 836,770 784,386 956,922 806,575 753,956 
Shareholders' equity 501,571 481,673 462,473 443,457 426,640 408,434 408,715 397,321
Book value per common share $ 29.83 $ 28.69 $ 27.46 $ 26.26 $ 25.18 $ 24.02 $ 24.05 $ 23.32

(1) The Company recorded an after-tax investment gain of $3.6 million or $0.24 per share in the second quarter of 2012. Excluding the investment gain, net income in the period was $18.5 million,
or $1.16 per diluted share; and ROE was 17.5%.

(2) The Company took a pre-tax provision related to an alleged fraud of $5.0 million ($3.6 million after-tax) or $0.24 per share in the third quarter of 2011. Excluding the provision, net income
in the third quarter of 2011 was $17.0 million or $1.06 per diluted share; ROE was 17.6%; and productivity ratio TEB was 29.2%.

(3) NIM – TEB is calculated based on the average of the month-end balances outstanding during the period.
(4) For purposes of improving comparability across periods, the 2012 TEB adjustment has been calculated excluding the investment gain related to one of the Company’s security portfolio

holdings. Including the investment gain, the productivity ratio – TEB was 27.3%.
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FOURTH QUARTER OVERVIEW

Equitable’s results in the fourth quarter demonstrated the fundamental operating strength of the business, particularly in the single family
residential mortgage segment. The Company produced solid year-over-year growth despite the incremental interest costs associated with
carrying more debentures. The fourth quarter was a fitting finish to a record year and provides Equitable with momentum to carry into 2013.

During the three months ended December 31, 2012:

• Diluted earnings per share were $1.26 compared to $1.33 in the immediately preceding quarter and $1.07 in the fourth quarter of 2011;

• Net income was $20.1 million, compared to $21.1 million in the third quarter of 2012 and $17.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2011;

• ROE was 17.3% compared to 18.9% in the prior quarter and 17.3% in the fourth quarter of 2011; and

• Book value per share was $29.83 compared to $25.18 at the close of the prior year, reflecting the Company’s strong net income performance
in 2012.

During the fourth quarter, activity in the Securitization Financing and Single Family businesses contributed to strong growth in the Company’s
mortgage book. Management believes the performance of the Single Family business is a reflection of the Company’s continued focus on
customer service and of recent changes in the competitive landscape. The highlights of the quarter by lending business are:

• Single Family Lending Services: Single Family mortgage principal balances increased by $185 million over the prior quarter. Single Family
now represents 59% of total Core Lending mortgage principal, up from 57% in Q3 2012 (see Table 8). Single Family mortgage production
was $458 million in the quarter, up 27% from $361 million in Q4 2011, and represented 40% of production in the fourth quarter.

• Commercial Lending Services: Commercial Lending principal balances were down by $35.5 million over the third quarter of 2012.
Quarterly Commercial Lending Services production was $190 million, compared to $214 million in Q3 2012, and $193 million same quarter
last year. Balances declined year-over-year due to Equitable’s decision to maintain its pricing and capital allocation discipline in the face of
heightened price competition in the commercial mortgage marketplace.

• Securitization Financing: Securitization Financing mortgage principal balances increased $238 million to $5.4 billion from $5.2 billion at
September 30, 2012. Mortgage production was $511 million in the quarter, up $421 million from the same quarter in 2011 reflecting the
Company’s renewed emphasis on the business. $171 million of mortgages were also derecognized in Q4 2012. 

Table 23: Mortgage production − by lending business

Three months ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Mortgage Mortgage
principal % principal %

( THOUSANDS) funded of total funded of total Change from 2011
Single Family Lending Services $ 458,423 39.5% $ 361,045 56.1% $ 97,378 27%
Commercial Lending Services 190,113 16.4% 192,530 29.9% (2,417) (1%)
Mortgage production – Core Lending $ 648,536 55.9% $ 553,575 86.0% $ 94,961 17%
Securitization Financing 510,737 44.1% 90,102 14.0% 420,635 467%
Total mortgage production $ 1,159,273 100.0% $ 643,677 100.0% $ 515,596 80%
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Net Interest Income

Net interest income of $40.6 million was up by $5.2 million or 15% from the same quarter a year ago. The growth resulted from increases in
both the asset book and NIMs.

Average assets increased $1.3 billion or 12% on a year-over-year basis. Total NIM as a percentage of average assets increased three basis points
to 1.44% from 1.41% in Q4 2011. The increase was largely due a shift in portfolio mix, as growth in the higher NIM non-securitized mortgage
portfolio outpaced growth in securitized assets. 

NIM on non-securitized assets was down to 2.30% in the fourth quarter of 2012 compared to 2.39% in the prior quarter and 2.47% in the same
quarter of 2011. The reduction from 2011 reflected the Company’s continued emphasis on Single Family residential mortgages, which generally
earn lower rates of mortgage interest relative to Commercial mortgages but are more profitable on a capital adjusted basis. Year-over-year, NIM
was also affected by the cost of carrying additional debentures and an increase in lower-yielding liquid assets.

As compared with the prior quarter, NIM on non-securitized assets was down 9 basis points. This sequential decrease was driven mainly by lower
prepayment penalty income and higher debenture interest expenses. Excluding those items, the NIM on the mortgage portfolio was relatively
consistent quarter over quarter.

NIM on securitized mortgages increased two basis points to 0.47% in the fourth quarter of 2012 from 0.45% in the prior year quarter as one-
time adjustments offset lower margins on the mortgage assets. Margins were lower mainly due to the fact that more recent originations have
been at lower spreads.

Relative to Q3 2012, NIM on securitized assets decreased by 7 basis points, primarily as a result of lower prepayment penalty income. The NIM
on the securitized mortgage portfolio was flat quarter-over-quarter.

Provision for Credit Losses

The Company’s provision for credit losses was $2.2 million in the quarter, up from $1.9 million in the prior quarter and $1.0 million in the same
period last year. The $1.2 million increase year-over-year relates largely to a $0.9 million provision reversal in Q4 2011. In that quarter, an
allowance for accrued interest on an impaired mortgage was released following the collection of cash payments for the interest.

Other Income

Other income was $2.1 million or 19% in the fourth quarter, an increase of $1.1 million from Q4 2011. The year-over-year growth reflected
gains of $1.2 million on the securitizations of $171 million of insured residential mortgages executed under a new transaction structure to which
balance sheet derecognition applies.

Non-interest Expenses

Non-interest expenses increased $2.1 million in the fourth quarter compared to the same quarter of 2011. As a component of non-interest
expenses, compensation costs for the quarter increased $1.4 million. This increase reflected the growth of the Company’s underlying business
and the investment in Equitable’s employee base required to maintain its high level of service; one of the Company’s significant competitive
advantages. The year-over-year growth rate in quarterly expenses trended down over the course of the year.

Income Taxes

The Company’s effective income tax rate in the quarter was 26.2%, compared to 25.6% in the prior quarter and 27.8% in the same quarter last
year. The 1.6% difference year-over-year is largely due the reduction in the Company’s statutory rate from 28.1% to 26.3%.
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Table 24: Unaudited interim consolidated statements of income - fourth quarters 2012 and 2011

For the three months ended
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Interest income:
Mortgages $ 65,893 $ 55,037
Mortgages – securitized 52,362 54,372
Investments 2,872 2,756
Other 2,509 1,159

123,636 113,324
Interest expense:

Deposits 35,648 30,330
Securitization liabilities 45,609 46,558
Bank term loans 205 204
Subordinated debentures 1,597 881
Other 22 5

83,081 77,978
Net interest income 40,555 35,347
Provision for credit losses 2,200 1,037
Net interest income after provision for credit losses 38,355 34,309
Other income:

Fees and other income 1,001 976
Net (loss) on investments (63) 36
Gains on securitization activities and income from retained interests 1,153 -

2,091 1,012
Net interest and other income 40,446 35,321
Non-interest expenses:

Compensation and benefits 7,413 5,994
Other 5,836 5,112

13,249 11,106
Income before income taxes and fair value (loss)/gain 27,197 24,215
Fair value (loss)/gain on derivative financial instruments – securitization activities 97 (647)
Income before income taxes 27,294 23,568
Income taxes

Current 8,058 6,684
Deferred (904) (141)

7,154 6,543
Net income $ 20,140 $ 17,025
Earnings per share

Basic $ 1.27 $ 1.07
Diluted $ 1.26 $ 1.07
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MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Table 25: Unaudited interim consolidated statements of comprehensive income - fourth quarters 2012 and 2011

For the three months ended
($ THOUSANDS) December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Net income $ 20,140 $ 17,025

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Available for sale investments:
Net unrealized gains (losses) from change in fair value 54 1,546
Reclassification of net gains to income (123) (139)

(69) 1,407
Income tax recovery (expense) 18 (394)

(51) 1,013

Cash flow hedges:
Net unrealized losses from change in fair value (210) 2,773
Reclassification of net gains to income 624 170

414 2,943
Income tax recovery (expense) (108) (825)

306 2,118
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 255 3,131
Total comprehensive income $ 20,395 $ 20,157
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Table 26: Unaudited interim consolidated statements of cash flows - fourth quarter 2012 and 2011

For the three months ended
($ THOUSANDS) December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the period $ 20,140 $ 17,025
Adjustments to determine cash flows relating to operating activities:

Financial instruments at fair value through income (2,417) (1,778)
Securitization gains (1,159) - 
Depreciation of capital assets 297 221
Provision for credit losses 2,200 1,037
Net gain on sale or redemption of investments 963 (52)
Income taxes 7,083 6,543
Income taxes paid (4,653) (3,878)
Stock-based compensation 261 247
Amortization of premiums/discounts on investments 1,187 767
Net increase in mortgages receivable (563,040) (155,077)
Net increase in deposits 105,357 (43,234)
Change in obligations related to securities under repurchase agreements 7,919 - 
Net change in securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements (18,724) 141,301
Net change in securitization liability 160,697 23,869
Net interest income, excluding non-cash items (38,157) (36,627)
Interest received 121,768 108,468
Interest paid (86,366) (74,375)
Other assets (1,962) (1,292)
Other liabilities 11,669 8,372
Dividends received 2,755 2,534

Cash flows used in operating activities (273,852) (5,929)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of subordinated debentures 65,000 - 
Dividends paid on preferred shares (906) (906)
Dividends paid on common shares (1,889) (1,482)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares 2,034 344

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities 64,239 (2,044)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investments (50,174) (12,952)
Proceeds on sale or redemption of investments 72,634 21,843
Net change in Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts 4,010 199
Changes in restricted cash 36,272 (3,106)
Proceeds from loan securitizations 170,474 -
Securitization retained interest 174 -
Changes in interest reinvestment account - -
Purchase of capital assets (412) (288)

Cash flows from investing activities 232,978 5,696
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 23,365 (2,277)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 356,082 173,122
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 379,447 $ 170,845
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FUTURE ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES

The Company’s significant accounting policies are essential to an understanding of its reported results of operations and financial position. 
A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is presented in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

(i) IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) was amended by the IASB in June 2011, which is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after July 1, 2012 with earlier application permitted. IAS 1 requires an entity to present separately the items of OCI that may be reclassified
to profit or loss in the future from those that would never be reclassified to profit or loss. The Company intends to adopt IAS 1 prospectively
in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. As the amendments only require changes in the presentation
of items in other comprehensive income, the Company does not expect IAS 1 to have a material impact on the financial statements.

(ii) IFRS 7 Financial Instrument: Disclosures 

Amendment to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“IFRS 7”) was issued by the IASB in December 2011, which is effective for annual and
interim periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. IFRS 7 contains new disclosure requirements for financial assets and liabilities that are
offset in the statement of financial position or subject to master netting arrangements of similar arrangements. The amendments are intended
to help investors and other users to better assess the effect or potential effect of offsetting arrangements on a Company’s financial position.
The Company intends to adopt IFRS 7 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The extent of the impact
of the adoption of the amendments has not yet been determined.

(iii) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB in November 2009 to provide guidance on classification and measurement of
financial assets and was replaced by an updated version in 2010 that added guidance on classification and measurement of financial liabilities.
This standard will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories
of held to maturity, available for sale and loans and receivable. Financial assets will be classified into one of two categories on initial recognition:
a) financial assets measured at amortized cost; or b) financial assets measured at fair value. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity
manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The
new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. For financial liabilities
measured at fair value under the fair value option, changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk will be recognized in OCI, with
the remainder of change recognized in profit or loss. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 with earlier
application permitted. The Company intends to adopt IFRS 9 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2015.
The Company has not yet determined the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements.

(iv) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) was issued by the IASB in May 2011, which is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2013 with earlier application permitted. IFRS 10 provides a single model to be applied in the control analysis for all investees,
including entities that currently are SPEs in the scope of SIC-12. The IASB issued amendments in June 2012 simplifying the process of adopting
IFRS 10 and providing additional relief from certain disclosures. In October 2012, the IASB issued further amendments specifying an industry-
specific solution, requiring qualifying investment entities to account for investments in controlled entities at fair value through profit or loss.
The consolidation exception is mandatory – not optional. The Company does not expect IFRS 10 to have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

(v) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”) was issued by the IASB in May 2011, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2013 with earlier application permitted. IFRS 13 sets out in a single IFRS framework the application of fair value to those assets and
liabilities qualifying or permitted to be carried at fair value and provides enhanced disclosure requirements when fair value is applied. The
Company intends to adopt IFRS 13 prospectively in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The Company
does not expect IFRS 13 to have a material impact on fair value measurement in the financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the years. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed by management on an
ongoing basis. The critical estimates and judgements utilized in preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements affect the
assessment of the allowance for credit losses on mortgages, the impairment of other financial instruments, the fair values of financial assets
and liabilities, derecognition of financial assets transferred in securitization transactions, effectiveness of financial hedges for accounting
purposes and income taxes.

The critical estimates and judgements made in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements include probability of
default and loss given default for mortgage receivables, discount rates utilized in the valuation of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities,
the credit worthiness of the Company to its counterparties, the values of comparable assets and the fair value of securities not traded in an
active market. In making estimates and judgements, management relies on external information and observable conditions where possible,
supplemented by internal analysis as required. These estimates and judgements have been applied in a manner consistent with prior periods
and there are no known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that we believe will materially affect the methodology or assumptions
utilized in making these estimates and judgements in these consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates,
in which case the impact would be recognized in the consolidated financial statements in future periods.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company hedges interest rate risk associated with CMHC-insured multi-unit residential mortgages and mortgage commitments intended
for securitization, as well as certain other mortgages designated as held for trading and certain GICs. 

In order to protect against increases in interest rates that can occur between the rate commitment date and the date of securitization, which
can lead to a reduced value of the mortgage upon securitization, the Company enters bond forward agreements for the sale of Government
of Canada guaranteed debt security. The hedges act to significantly reduce the likelihood that, as a result of interest rate movements, the
proceeds on the financing (comprised of the fair value of the mortgage and the fair value of hedge) will vary from the fair value of the mortgage
at the date of rate commitment. The Company applies hedge accounting to these derivative financial instruments to minimize the volatility
in income caused by changes in interest rates. Prior to January 1, 2011, the Company used short sale and repurchase agreements to hedge this
exposure and did not apply hedge accounting to these transactions. Therefore, any changes in fair value were recorded in the Company’s
consolidated statement of income.

The Company securitizes CMHC-insured residential mortgages through the creation of MBS. MBS are generally sold through the NHA MBS and
CMB programs and in most cases reported on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet because the transferred assets do not qualify for
derecognition. The mismatch and reinvestment risk that exists between the amortizing MBS and the CMB is managed by the Company by either
the retention of replacement assets, in the form of MBS, on its consolidated balance sheet, and their periodic transfer to CHT to replace the
original MBS that has amortized or, by retaining third parties which take over the Company’s responsibility to manage the replacement asset
risk. In cases where the Company retains the responsibility for replacement assets, the sale of such assets does not qualify for derecognition
under the Company’s accounting policy on financial instruments. In order to participate in the CMB program administered by CHT, the Company
also enters into certain arrangements with accredited counterparties that are intended to secure the cash flows payable to the CHT. Approved
counterparties are limited to Canadian chartered banks, their subsidiaries and other financial intermediaries.

The Company also enters into hedging transactions to manage interest rate exposures on certain mortgages designated as at fair value through
income. The hedging instruments used to manage these exposures are interest rate swaps and short sale and repurchase agreements of
Government of Canada guaranteed debt securities.

With respect to market interest rate exposure on term GICs issued to fund its mortgages, the Company may use interest rate swaps to manage
its interest rate risk as required. The Company has not entered into any complex derivative contracts. For more information on derivative
financial instruments see Notes 3, 4, 5, 6 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain of the Company’s key management personnel have invested in GIC deposits and/or subordinated debentures of the Company in the
ordinary course of business, on market terms and conditions. Related party transactions, including shareholdings and options, are described
in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements. 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ACTIVITIES

The Company’s off-balance sheet activities include securitization, the commitments it makes to fund its pipeline of mortgage originations
(see Note 8 and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2012) and letters of credit issued in the
normal course of business. 

The Company securitizes insured residential mortgages through the creation of MBS. At December 31, 2012, the outstanding securitized
mortgage principal that qualified for derecognition totaled $335 million. The securitization retained interest recorded with respect to selected
securitization transactions was $7.3 million and the associated servicing liability was $1.5 million at December 31, 2012. 

Letters of credit in the amount of $0.8 million were outstanding at December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 – $0.8 million), none of which have
been drawn upon.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company, like other financial institutions, is exposed to the symptoms and effects of global economic conditions and other factors that
could adversely affect its business, financial condition and operating results, which may also influence an investor to buy, sell or hold shares
in the Company. Many of these risk factors are beyond the Company’s direct control. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) plays an active role
in monitoring the Company’s key risks and in determining the policies that are best suited to manage these risks. 

The Company’s business activities, including its use of financial instruments, exposes the Company to various risks, the most significant of
which are credit risk, liquidity and funding risk, and interest rate risk.

The Risk Management Framework, Credit Risk Management, Liquidity and Funding Risk Management, and Interest Rate Risk Management
sections below form an integral part of the 2012 annual consolidated financial statements as they present required IFRS disclosures as set out
in IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which permits cross-referencing between the notes to the financial statements and the MD&A. See
Note 4 of the annual consolidated financial statements.

Risk Management Framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”)
framework. The framework is designed to actively monitor all current and emerging risks on a continuous basis, and to provide the Board with
timely periodic updates on its risk management practices and economic capital requirements. This framework sets out the Company’s approach
for identifying, assessing, managing and reporting risk including the establishment of roles, responsibilities, processes and tools to be used in
relation to the Company’s appetite for risk as established by the Board. The Risk and Capital Committee (“RCC”) of the Board of Directors assists
the Board in fulfilling its oversight and governance responsibilities for the management of the Company’s core and emerging risks and the
adequacy of its capital plan. At present, the RCC is comprised of the Chairs of the Board of Directors, Investment Committee, Audit Committee,
and Human Resources and Compensation Committee and meets quarterly with the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Risk Officer. The RCC
has primary oversight responsibility for operational risk.

The Company’s ERM Committee, which is chaired by the Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”) and consists of members of senior management, reports to
the RCC and assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and governance responsibilities vis-à-vis the Company’s risk management practices and
capital adequacy assessment process. To ensure that all significant risks the Company faces are considered, the ERM Committee reviews the
risk profile of the Company with respect to each of its key risks on a continuous basis, with reporting to the Board at least quarterly. The
Company’s ERM framework is designed to ensure that all risks are managed within the Company’s pre-defined risk appetite thresholds.
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The Investment Committee of the Board of Directors assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight role with regard to credit, liquidity and funding,
and interest rate risks. The Investment Committee has established the Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”) to identify and analyze the
liquidity/funding and interest rate risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor those risks and
adherence to Board approved limits.

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to the quality and integrity of the
Company’s financial statements, the performance of the internal audit function, and the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements. The Audit Committee also has primary oversight responsibility for control/management risk, business and strategic risk, and
reputational risk. The Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by the Company’s Compliance and Internal Audit departments. Internal
Audit undertakes regular and independent reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the
Audit Committee. 

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors assists the Board in ensuring that the Company’s compensation
policies and practices are aligned with its risk appetite and risk management framework. 

Under the risk management framework, senior management reports on risk issues to the three above mentioned committees of the Board on
a quarterly basis.

Credit Risk Management

Credit risk is defined as the possibility that the Company will not receive the full value of amounts and recovery costs owed to it if counterparties
fail to honour their obligations to the Company. Credit risk arises principally from the Company’s lending activities and its investment in debt
and preferred share securities. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is monitored by senior management and the Investment Committee of
the Board of Directors, which undertakes the approval and monitoring of the Company’s investment and lending policies.

The Company’s primary focus is on providing first mortgages on real estate. All mortgages are individually evaluated by underwriters using
internal and external credit risk assessment tools and are assigned risk ratings, in accordance with the level of credit risk attributed to each loan.
The underwriting approach places a strong emphasis on security evaluation and judgemental analysis of the risks in the transaction rather than
being formulaic in nature. Each transaction is approved independently in accordance with the authorization structure set out in the Company’s
policies. As a result, the Company can underwrite mortgages on terms favourable to the Company to borrowers who have good equity and
debt service ratios in situations where other lenders may not be able to reach a satisfactory business transaction. 

Key components of credit risk that are closely monitored and measured within the unsecuritized book are credit concentration risk and the
risk associated with economically-sensitive assets. By way of definition, credit concentration risk results if an unduly large proportion of the
Company’s lending business involves a single person, organization or group of related persons or organizations, a single geographic area, a
single industry or a single category of investment. On a regular basis, with the approval of the Investment Committee and the Board of Directors,
management establishes credit limits for exposure to certain counterparties, industries or market segments, monitors these credit exposures,
and prepares detailed analyses and reports assessing overall credit risk within the mortgage and investment portfolios. 

The Company utilizes a risk rating system to categorize the credit exposures in its mortgage portfolio in order to rank the assets in the portfolio
on the basis of risk of financial loss, and to focus management on monitoring the higher risk mortgages. The risk rating is determined during the
underwriting process and confirmed or revised thereafter as a result of certain trigger events, using customized risk grids applicable to the property
type supporting the loans. In the case of mortgage impairment, probable recovery is determined using a combination of updated property
specific information, historical cost experience and management judgement to determine the impairment provisions that may be required.

The Company also invests in preferred share securities to generate returns that meet an acceptable ROE threshold. These securities represent
a potential source of liquidity to the Company. However, such investments expose the Company to credit risk if the issuer of the preferred
shares cannot make dividend payments, or in the worst case scenario, if the issuer becomes insolvent. To limit the exposure to credit risk, the
Company establishes policies with exposure limits by credit rating and investment type. Securities rated P-2 and higher comprised 63.2% of
the preferred share equity securities portfolio at December 31, 2012, compared to 74.8% a year earlier.
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The Company’s rating scale for the credit quality of its counterparties is based on both internal and external credit grading systems. Table 27
below maps those grading systems against the categories on the Company’s credit risk exposure ratings scale. It presents the long-term
Standard & Poor’s equivalent grades for the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, debt and equity securities, and derivative counterparties.
Low risk denotes that there is a very low risk of either default or loss; standard risk that there is a low risk of default or loss, and high risk that
there is some concern that default or loss could occur.

Cash and cash equivalents and derivatives ratings are based on the issuer grade of the respective financial institution, their subsidiaries or other
financial intermediaries. Debt securities are categorized based on short-term or long-term issue grades, depending on the maturity dates of the
securities. Preferred share securities are categorized based on the DBRS preferred share rating scale used in the Canadian securities market and
is meant to provide an indication of the risk that a borrower will not fulfill its full obligations in a timely manner. Mortgages are categorized
according to the Company’s internal risk rating framework, which is based on the expected degree of financial loss caused by default. 

Table 27: Credit risk exposure ratings scale

Low risk Standard risk High risk

Cash and cash equivalents, investments, and derivatives: 
S&P equivalent grade AAA – BBB- BB+ – B B- – CC

Mortgages receivable:
Mortgage risk rating 0 – 3 4 – 5 6 – 7

Management has assessed the credit quality of the Company’s assets as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, on the basis of the mapping of
internal and external risk ratings to the credit risk exposure categories. 
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The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for all financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on the Company’s credit risk
exposure ratings scale.

Table 28: Asset credit quality

Neither past due nor impaired 2012
Past due but Individually

($ THOUSANDS) Low Risk Standard Risk High Risk not impaired impaired Allowances Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 379,447 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 379,447
Restricted cash 63,601 - - - - - 63,601
Securities purchased under reverse 

repurchase agreements 78,551 - - - - - 78,551
Investments: 
Debt securities(1) 244,228 - - - - - 244,228
Equity securities – preferred shares 83,958 48,938 - - - - 132,896
Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts 54,452 - - - - - 54,452
Mortgage receivable 816,295 4,261,629 147,573 31,604 36,110 26,620 5,266,591
Mortgage receivable – securitized 5,325,225 1,355 - 16,003 298 - 5,342,881
Securitization retained interests 7,263 - - - - - 7,263
Other assets: 
Receivables related to securitization   activities 2,772 - - - - - 2,772
Accrued interest and dividends 

on non-mortgage assets 1,138 255 - - - - 1,393
Derivative financial instruments – hedges 20 - - - - - 20
Derivative financial instruments 

– securitization activities 323 - - - - - 323
Other  1,312 - - - - - 1,312

$ 7,058,585 $ 4,312,177 $ 147,573 $ 47,607 $ 36,408 $ 26,620 $ 11,575,730

Neither past due nor impaired 2011
Past due but Individually

($ THOUSANDS) Low Risk Standard Risk High Risk not impaired impaired Allowances Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 170,845 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 170,845
Restricted cash 83,156 - - - - - 83,156
Securities purchased under reverse 

repurchase agreements 9,967 - - - - - 9,967
Investments: 
Debt securities(1) 157,544 - - - - - 157,544
Equity securities – preferred shares 148,394 49,529 322 - - - 198,245
Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts 34,551 - - - - - 34,551
Mortgage receivable 702,356 3,359,532 176,085 16,527 27,297 19,650 4,262,147
Mortgage receivable – securitized 5,304,771 1,743 - 7,526 900 - 5,314,940
Other assets: 
Receivables related to securitization activities 2,630 - - - - - 2,630
Accrued interest and dividends on 

non-mortgage assets 734 252 - - - - 986
Derivative financial instruments – hedges 36 - - - - - 36
Other  2,185 - - - - - 2,185 

$ 6,617,169 $ 3,411,056 $ 176,407 $ 24,053 $ 28,197 $ 19,650 $ 10,237,232 
(1) Includes debt securities issued by regulated financial institutions and issued/guaranteed by Government of Canada.
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Collateral held as security

All mortgages are secured by real estate property in Canada. Appraised values for collateral held against mortgages are obtained at the time
of origination and are generally not updated except when a mortgage is individually assessed as impaired. At December 31, 2012, the average
loan to value ratio of the total portfolio, which includes both insured and uninsured mortgages was 69% (2011 – 69%) and the appraised
values of collateral held for mortgages past due but not impaired, as determined when the mortgages were originated, was $61.1 million
(2011 – $30.1 million). For impaired mortgages, the most recent appraised value of collateral at December 31, 2012 was $51.9 million (2011 –
$43.0 million). It is the Company’s policy to pursue the timely realization of collateral in an orderly manner. 

Real estate from foreclosures that were owned and held for sale at December 31, 2012 amounted to $0.2 million (2011 – $0.2 million) and
were included in Other assets (Note 11). The Company does not use the real estate obtained through foreclosure for its own operations.

The Company does not hold collateral against investments in debt and equity securities, however, securities received under reverse repurchase
agreements are allowed to be sold or re-pledged in the absence of default by owner. The Company has a commitment to return collateral to
the counterparty in accordance with the terms and conditions stipulated by the master repurchase agreement. At December 31, 2012, the fair
value of securities received under reverse repurchase agreements that have been sold to facilitate hedging transactions was $14.7 million
(2011 – $15.1 million). 

Concentration risk

Concentration of credit exposure may arise when a group of counterparties have similar economic characteristics such as property type or are
located in the same geographical region. The ability of these counterparties to meet contractual obligations may be similarly affected by
changing economic or other conditions. Management believes that it is adequately diversified by borrower, property type, and geography. As
at December 31, 2012, no single borrower or group of connected borrowers represented more than $58.3 million (2011 – $57.2 million) or 1.1%
(2011 – 1.4%) of uninsured mortgage portfolio. See Table 9 earlier in the MD&A for a breakdown of mortgage principal outstanding by property
type. 

The Company’s mortgage portfolio includes $6.2 billion (2011 – $5.6 billion) of mortgages secured by properties located in the Province of
Ontario, $1.6 billion (2011 – $1.4 billion) of mortgages secured by properties located in the Province of Alberta, and $1.3 billion (2011 – $1.3
billion) of mortgages secured by properties located in the Province of Québec. As at December 31, 2012, mortgages secured by properties
located in Ontario represented 58.6% (2011 – 58.3%), Alberta 14.7% (2011 – 14.9%), and Québec 12.4% (2011 – 13.1%), of the Company’s total
mortgage principal outstanding.

Liquidity and Funding Risk Management

Liquidity and Funding risk is defined as the possibility that the Company will be unable to generate sufficient funds in a timely manner and at
a reasonable price to meet its financial obligations as they come due. These financial obligations can arise from the maturity of deposits and
from commitments to extend credit. The objective of liquidity risk management is to protect the Company's ability to meet all payment
obligations as they come due.

The Board of Directors defines the Company's liquidity and funding risk tolerance, based on recommendations made by the Investment
Committee of the Board, the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board and the Enterprise Risk Management Committee of the Company. The
Board of Directors reviews and approves the limits to measure and control liquidity and funding risk at least annually. The Board of Directors
and its committees also review, on a regular basis, the Company's liquidity position and risks.

The Company’s ALCO has management oversight responsibility for liquidity and funding risk management. The Company also maintains a
Treasury Committee (“TC”) that reviews liquidity reports on a daily basis and reports to the ALCO. The ALCO reviews positions regularly and
recommends changes to limits when necessary to the ERM Committee and the Board of Directors.

The treasury function is responsible for measuring, managing and reporting structural liquidity risk and contingent liquidity risk, as well as
managing the liquidity portfolio. This group also monitors longer-term liquidity needs, primarily through rigorous stress testing. It also
maintains a Contingency Funding Plan, which would guide the Company's actions and responses to a potential liquidity crisis. Treasury reports
liquidity indicators to ALCO, which include the Company's overall liquidity and funding position (including limit reporting) and industry liquidity
stress indicators.
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The Company has a low tolerance for liquidity and funding risk. It has established a variety of limit-based measures, metrics and stress tests
to avoid a liquidity event. The Company adheres to a Liquidity and Funding Risk Management Policy that requires it to maintain a pool of high
quality liquid assets. The Policy also specifies limits for liquidity ratios, concentration limits, parameters for asset eligibility, liquidity stress
testing and an approved contingency plan. The Company’s liquidity position and adherence to the requirements of this policy are monitored
daily by management, and reported quarterly to the Investment Committee of the Board of Directors. Any exceptions to established limits are
reported immediately to the appropriate internal governance committee or the Board, as specified by the Policy.

It is the Company's policy to maintain a minimum of 21% of estimated 100-day obligations and 7.5% of adjusted total assets, in liquidity assets.
Assets held for the purpose of providing liquidity protection consist of cash and cash equivalents, debt instruments guaranteed by governments
and debt securities issued by regulated financial institutions. The Company was in compliance with its Liquidity and Funding Risk Management
Policy at December 31, 2012 and at the date of this Report.

Table 29: Assets held for liquidity protection

($ THOUSANDS)  

Policy minimum 2012 2011

Liquidity assets held $ 824,905 $ 585,854
Liquidity assets as a % of estimated 100-day obligations(1) 21.0% 56.2% 48.2%
Liquidity assets as a % of adjusted total assets(1)(2) 7.5% 14.4% 12.4%

(1) For purposes of this calculation, Equitable’s Liquidity and Funding Risk Management Policy requires the value of assets held for liquidity protection to be reduced to reflect their estimated
liquidity value.

(2) Adjusted total assets are total assets less assets held for liquidity protection and securitized mortgages (excluding those held as liquid assets).

As defined in the Company's Liquidity and Funding Risk Management Policy, the stress analysis models consider scenarios that incorporate
institution-specific, market-specific and combination events. These scenarios model cash flow over a one-year period incorporating such
factors as a decline in capacity to raise new deposits, lower liquidity values for market investments and an immediate redemption of notice
deposits. In each scenario, the Company must hold sufficient liquid assets combined with deposit raising capacity to meet all obligations for
a period of one year while maintaining normal business activities. In order to establish these scenarios, the Company assesses deposit raising
capacity and establishes assumptions related to the cash flow behavior of each type of asset and liability. As at December 31, 2012, the Company
held sufficient liquid assets and maintained sufficient funding capacity to meet all funding obligations over the one-year forecasting period
under all scenarios.

The following table summarizes contractual maturities of the Company’s financial liabilities.

Table 30: Contractual obligations

Payments due by period
($ THOUSANDS) Total Less than 1 year 1 – 3 years 4 – 5 years After 5 years

GIC principal and interest(1) $ 5,833,329 $ 3,415,086 $ 2,078,155 $ 340,088 $ - 
Securitization liabilities principal and interest(1) 5,813,186 1,381,472 2,106,532 1,181,841 1,143,341
Debentures principal and interest(1) 155,747 15,693 12,468 77,348 50,238
Bank term loans principal and interest(1) 12,507 12,507 - - -
Other liabilities 40,378 39,078 640 294 366 
Total 2012 contractual obligations $ 11,855,147 $ 4,863,836 $ 4,197,795 $ 1,599,571 $ 1,193,945
Total 2011 contractual obligations $ 10,621,283 $ 3,665,965 $ 4,133,768 $ 1,645,979 $ 1,175,571

(1) The balance for financial liabilities will not agree with those in our consolidated balance sheet as this table incorporates all cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, including both principal
and interest.

See Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements for credit commitments and contingencies as at December 31, 2012 and 2011.
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Interest Rate Risk Management

Interest rate risk is defined as the possibility that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the Company’s financial condition.
Interest rate risk may be affected if an unduly large proportion of the Company’s assets or liabilities have unmatched terms, interest rates or
other attributes. For the interest sensitivity position of the Company as at December 31, 2012, see Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The objective of interest rate risk management is to manage and control interest rate risk exposures within acceptable parameters. The
Company’s primary method of managing interest rate risk involves managing, within well-defined boundaries, the potential negative impact
of interest rate changes on the Company’s earnings and capital. It monitors this risk by utilizing simulated interest rate change sensitivity
models to estimate the effects of various interest rate change scenarios on the economic value of shareholders’ equity (“EVE”) and on net
interest income. The Company acts upon any mismatches in a timely manner to ensure that any sudden or prolonged change in interest rates
does not significantly affect the Company’s net interest income and its economic value of equity. EVE is a calculation of the present value of
the Company’s asset cash flows less the present value of its liability cash flows on an after-tax basis. This measure is more comprehensive than
measuring changes in net interest income given that it captures all interest rate mismatches across all terms. 

The Company hedges the interest rate risk for all insured multi-unit residential mortgages that are to be securitized through CMHC MBS and
CMB programs. Hedging protects the Company from losses due to changes in interest rates during the relevant period. The Company also holds
replacement assets in the form of MBS in order to reduce the interest rate and reinvestment risk inherent in its participation in the CMB Program. 

The Company has established robust governance structures and management processes to monitor its interest rate exposures and hedges.
Management uses simulated interest rate change sensitivity models to estimate the effects of various interest rate change scenarios on EVE
and on net interest income for the 12 months following the measurement date. Certain assumptions that are based on actual experience are
built into the simulations, including assumptions related to the pre-maturity redemptions of GICs and early payouts of mortgages.

The table below illustrates the results of management’s sensitivity modeling to an immediate and sustained interest rate increase and decrease
scenarios. The models measure the impact of interest rate changes on EVE and net interest income during the 12-month periods following
December 31, 2012. The estimate of sensitivity to interest rate changes is dependent on a number of assumptions that could result in a
difference in actual outcomes in the event of an actual interest rate change.

Table 31: Net interest income shock

($ THOUSANDS) Increase in interest rates Decrease in interest rates(1)

100 basis point shift
Impact on net interest income $ 5,741 $ (4,506) 
Impact on EVE $ 6,093 $ (4,672) 
EVE impact as a % of common shareholders' equity 1.35% (1.04%) 

200 basis point shift
Impact on net interest income $ 12,650 $ (4,512) 
Impact on EVE $ 12,730 $ (3,827) 
EVE impact as a % of common shareholders' equity 2.83% (0.85%) 

(1) Interest rate is not allowed to decrease beyond a floor of 0% and is therefore not allowed to be negative.
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Operational Risk

Operational risk is the possibility that a loss will result from inefficient, inadequate or failed internal processes, people or systems, or from
external events. As a minimum, operational risk includes:

• fraud;

• employee practices and workplace safety;

• client, product and business practices;

• damage to physical assets;

• business disruptions and system failures; and

• execution, delivery and process management.

The Company has an Operational Risk Management Policy that is approved by the ERM Committee, RCC Committee and the Board of Directors.
This policy is supported by other policies, procedures and programs designed to mitigate operational risk. The ERM Committee is responsible
for monitoring operational risk. Business units are responsible for managing the Company’s operational risk in accordance with approved
policies and procedures, and reporting on operational risk to the ERM Committee, which in turn reports on Operational Risk to the Risk and
Capital Committee of the Board of Directors.

Legal and Regulatory Risk

Changes to laws and regulations, including changes in their interpretation or application, could affect the Company, limiting the products or
services it may provide and increasing the ability of competitors to compete with Equitable’s products or services. Also, failure to comply with
applicable laws and regulations could result in sanctions and financial penalties that could adversely impact earnings and damage the
Company’s reputation. Management undertakes reasonable and prudent measures designed to achieve compliance with governing laws and
regulations including Equitable’s legislative compliance management framework.

Control/Management Risk

Control/management risk is the possibility that the Company could experience control or management deficiencies due to limitations typically
found in smaller institutions that may have insufficient resources and capacities to establish appropriate governance systems and controls.

Equitable’s operations depend on the abilities, experience and efforts of management and other key employees. Should any of these persons
be unable or unwilling to continue in their employment, this could potentially have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition
and results of the Company’s operations.

Business and Strategic Risk

Business and Strategic risk is defined as the possibility that the Company could experience material losses or reputational damage as a result
of its business plans and/or strategies, the implementation of those strategies, or the failure to properly respond to changes in the external
business environment. 

The residential and commercial first mortgage business is highly competitive and Equitable Trust’s products compete with those offered by
other trust companies, banks, insurance companies, and other financial institutions in the jurisdictions in which it operates, especially in Ontario
and Alberta. Many of these companies are strongly capitalized and hold a larger percentage share of the Canadian residential and commercial
mortgage business. There is always a risk that there will be new entrants in the market with more efficient systems and operations that could
impact the Company’s market share in its mortgage lending and deposit-taking activities.

The Company’s business model does not use retail branches to originate GICs or mortgages. Equitable Trust relies on business conducted on
behalf of investing clients by members of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”), the Mutual Fund Dealers
Association (“MFDA”), and the Registered Deposit Brokers Association (“RDBA”) to distribute its deposit products. Mortgage originations
depend on a network of independent mortgage brokers, mortgage brokerage firms and other mortgage banking organizations. Under adverse
circumstances, it may be difficult to attract new deposits from agents or mortgage business from brokers to sustain current operating
requirements. The potential failure to sustain or increase current levels of deposits or mortgage originations from these sources could negatively
affect the financial condition and operating results of the Company. 
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The Company also manages this risk through a comprehensive annual strategic planning process, which includes establishing Board-approved
business growth strategies and quantifiable performance targets for each business unit over the forthcoming three-to-five year period.
Management of this risk includes regular monitoring of actual versus forecasted performance and reporting to senior management and to the
Board of Directors.

Reputational Risk

Reputational risk is the possibility that current and potential customers, counterparties, analysts, shareholders, investors, regulators or others
will have an adverse opinion of the Company – irrespective of whether these opinions are based on facts or merely public perception. This can
result in potential losses to the Company arising from a decline in business volumes, challenges accessing funding markets, or increased
funding costs. The Company has established a number of policies and procedures to manage this risk.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Management is responsible for the information disclosed in this MD&A and the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Equitable
has in place appropriate information systems and procedures to ensure that information used internally by management and disclosed
externally is materially complete and reliable. In addition, the Company’s Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board of Directors, performs an
oversight role with respect to all public financial disclosures made by the Company and has reviewed and approved this MD&A and the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is accumulated and
communicated to senior management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, on a timely basis to
enable appropriate decisions to be made regarding public disclosure. Management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in the rules of the Canadian Securities Administrators) as of December 31, 2012. Based on that evaluation,
management has concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Internal Control over Financial Reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Management has evaluated the design and operational effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2012 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting. This evaluation was conducted in accordance with the framework established by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission for Smaller Businesses (“COSO”), a recognized control model, and the requirements of National
Instrument 52-109 of the Canadian Securities Administrators. Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that the Company’s
Internal Control over Financial Reporting was effective as at December 31, 2012.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There were no changes in the Company’s Internal Control over Financial Reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2012 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

UPDATED SHARE INFORMATION 

At February 26, 2013, the Company had 15,197,691 common shares and 2,000,000 non-cumulative 5-year rate reset preferred shares issued
and outstanding. In addition, there were also 518,817 unexercised stock options, which are or will be exercisable, to purchase common shares
for maximum proceeds of $11.9 million.
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NON-GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (“GAAP”) FINANCIAL MEASURES

Management uses a variety of financial measures to evaluate the Company’s performance. In addition to GAAP prescribed measures,
management uses certain non-GAAP measures that it believes provide useful information to investors regarding the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations. Readers are cautioned that non-GAAP measures do not have any standardized meaning, and therefore,
are unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Management believes that adjusted results can enhance
comparability between reporting periods or provide the reader with a better understanding of how management views the Company’s
performance. The primary non-GAAP measures used in this MD&A are:

• Taxable equivalent basis: the presentation of financial information on a TEB is a common practice in the banking and trust company
industries and does not have a standardized meaning within GAAP. Therefore, TEB calculations may not be comparable to similar measures
presented by other companies. On a selective basis, the Company uses TEB in the discussion of revenues, interest margins and productivity
ratios in this MD&A. The TEB methodology grosses up tax-exempt income, such as dividends from equity securities, by an amount which
makes this income comparable on a pre-tax basis to regular taxable income such as mortgage interest. For 2012 reporting periods, the TEB
adjustment has been calculated excluding the investment gain associated with one of the Company’s security portfolio holdings. For the
year ended December 31, 2012, the TEB adjustment was $3.4 million as compared to $3.8 million during 2011. 

• Return on equity (“ROE”): this profitability measure is calculated on an annualized basis and is defined as a net income available to common
shareholders as a percentage of the weighted average common equity outstanding during the period. 

• Return on average assets: this profitability measure is calculated on an annualized basis and is defined as net income as a percentage of
average total assets outstanding during the period. 

• Productivity ratio: this measure is used to assess the efficiency of the Company’s cost structure in terms of revenue generation. This ratio
is derived by dividing non-interest expenses by the sum of net interest income – TEB and other income. A lower productivity ratio reflects
a more efficient cost structure. 

• Net interest margin: this profitability measure is calculated on an annualized basis by dividing net interest income – TEB by the average total
assets – TEB for the period. The assets used in the calculation represent assets employed to generate the income. 

• Tangible common equity (“TCE”): this key measure of capital strength is defined as shareholders’ equity plus any qualifying other non-
controlling interest in subsidiaries less preferred shares issued and outstanding, any goodwill, other intangible assets and certain
components of accumulated other comprehensive income, as a percentage of risk-adjusted assets less other intangible assets. 

• Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1”): this key measure of capital strength, which includes common shareholders’ equity, accumulated other
comprehensive income excluding cash flow hedge reserve, and regulatory adjustments such as deductions for investments in other
financial institutions and intangibles. While there are transitional rules to phase-in these regulatory adjustments , OSFI expects all federally
regulated financial institutions to meet the target CET1 ratio of 7% by the first quarter of 2013.

• Tier 1 and total capital ratios: these adequacy ratios are calculated for the Company’s subsidiary, Equitable Trust, in accordance with the
guidelines issued by OSFI. 

• Adjusted results: in periods where management determines that non-recurring or unusual items will have a significant impact on a user’s
assessment of business performance, the Company will present adjusted results in addition to reported results by removing the non-
recurring or unusual items from the reported results. Adjusted results are intended to provide the user with a better assessment of the
Company’s performance and provide greater consistency and comparability with other financial institutions. Adjustments that remove
non-recurring or unusual items from net income will affect the calculation of other measures such as adjusted ROE and adjusted EPS.

MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The consolidated financial statements of Equitable Group Inc. (the "Company") are prepared by management, which is responsible for the
integrity and fairness of the information presented. The information provided herein, in the opinion of management, has been prepared,
within reasonable limits of materiality, using appropriate accounting policies that are in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standard (“IFRS”) as well as the accounting requirements of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada ("OSFI") as these
apply to its subsidiary, The Equitable Trust Company ("Equitable Trust"). The consolidated financial statements reflect amounts which must, of
necessity, be based on informed judgements and estimates of the expected effects of current events and transactions.

Management maintains and monitors a system of internal control to meet its responsibility for the integrity of the consolidated financial
statements. These controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s consolidated assets are safeguarded, that
transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and that the financial records form a reliable base for the preparation
of accurate and timely financial information. Management also administers a program of ethical business conduct, which includes quality
standards in hiring and training employees, written policies and a written corporate code of conduct. Management responsibility also includes
maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management. 

The Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") oversees management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements through
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee conducts a detailed review of the consolidated financial statements with management and internal
and external auditors before recommending their approval to the Board.

The Company's subsidiary, Equitable Trust, is federally regulated under the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada) by OSFI. On a regular basis,
OSFI conducts an examination to assess the operations of Equitable Trust and its compliance with statutory requirements and sound business
practices.

KPMG LLP has been appointed as external auditors by the shareholders to examine the consolidated financial statements of the Company in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the
consolidated financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with IFRS. The auditors have unrestricted access to and periodically meet
with the Audit Committee, with and without management present, to discuss their audits and related matters.

Andrew Moor Tim Wilson
President and Chief Executive Officer Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer

February 26, 2013

MANAGEMENT ’S RESPONSIBILIT Y FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
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To the Shareholders of Equitable Group Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Equitable Group Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance
sheets as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in
shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Equitable
Group Inc. as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada

February 26, 2013

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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As at December 31 2012 2011

Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) $ 379,447 $ 170,845
Restricted cash (Note 6) 63,601 83,156
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 78,551 9,967
Investments (Note 7) 439,480 390,340
Mortgages receivable (Note 8) 5,266,591 4,262,147
Mortgages receivable – securitized (Notes 8 & 9) 5,342,881 5,314,940
Securitization retained interests (Note 9) 7,263 - 
Other assets (Note 11) 23,626 25,618

$ 11,601,440 $ 10,257,013

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Liabilities: 

Deposits (Note 12) $ 5,651,717 $ 4,627,904
Securitization liabilities (Note 9) 5,261,670 5,100,921
Obligations under repurchase agreements 9,882 - 
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13) 5,498 7,790
Other liabilities (Note 14) 40,931 28,587
Bank term loan (Note 15) 12,500 12,500
Debentures (Note 16) 117,671 52,671

11,099,869 9,830,373

Shareholders' equity:  
Preferred shares (Note 17) 48,494 48,494
Common shares (Note 17) 134,224 129,771
Contributed surplus (Note 18) 5,003 4,718
Retained earnings 323,737 254,006
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (9,887) (10,349)

501,571 426,640 
$ 11,601,440 $ 10,257,013

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Austin Beutel Andrew Moor
Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
($ THOUSANDS)
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Years ended December 31 2012 2011

Interest income: 
Mortgages $ 245,122 $ 206,987
Mortgages – securitized 214,613 213,604
Investments 10,272 10,307
Other 6,520 4,403

476,527 435,301
Interest expense: 

Deposits 131,042 115,314
Securitization liabilities 184,260 181,694
Bank term loans 813 812
Debentures 4,212 3,493
Other 30 217

320,357 301,530
Net interest income 156,170 133,771
Provision for credit losses (Note 8) 7,992 7,183
Net interest income after provision for credit losses 148,178 126,588
Other income: 

Fees and other income 3,970 3,545
Net gain on investments 629 144
Gains on securitization activities and income from securitization retained interests (Note 9) 2,010 - 

6,609 3,689
Net interest and other income 154,787 130,277
Non-interest expenses: 

Compensation and benefits 28,246 22,856
Other (Note 11) 21,930 22,858

50,176 45,714
Income before income taxes and the undernoted fair value gain (loss) 104,611 84,563
Fair value gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments – securitization activities 63 (648)
Income before income taxes 104,674 83,915
Income taxes (Note 13)

Current 25,759 21,026
Deferred (2,292) 703

23,467 21,729
Net income $ 81,207 $ 62,186

Earnings per share (Note 19)

Basic $ 5.15 $ 3.91
Diluted $ 5.11 $ 3.88

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
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Years ended December 31 2012 2011

Net income $ 81,207 $ 62,186

Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Available for sale investments:  
Net unrealized gains from change in fair value 1,492 1,470
Reclassification of net gains to income (1,709) (385)

(217) 1,085
Income tax recovery (expense) 57 (304)

(160) 781

Cash flow hedges: (Note 10)

Net unrealized losses from change in fair value (1,521) (13,684)
Reclassification of net losses (gains) to income 2,365 (77)

844 (13,761)
Income tax (expense) recovery (222) 3,860

622 (9,901)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 462 (9,120)
Total comprehensive income $ 81,669 $ 53,066

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
($ THOUSANDS)
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Accumulated
other

2012 Preferred Common Contributed Retained comprehensive
shares shares surplus earnings income (loss) Total

Balance, beginning of year $ 48,494 $ 129,771 $ 4,718 $ 254,006 $ (10,349) $ 426,640
Net income - - - 81,207 - 81,207
Other comprehensive income, net of tax - - - - 462 462
Reinvestment of dividends - 817 - - - 817
Exercise of stock options - 3,068 - - - 3,068
Dividends:

Preferred shares - - - (3,625) - (3,625)
Common shares - - - (7,851) - (7,851)

Stock-based compensation - - 853 - - 853
Transfer relating to the exercise of stock options - 568 (568) - - - 
Balance, end of year $ 48,494 $ 134,224 $ 5,003 $ 323,737 $ (9,887) $ 501,571

Accumulated
other

2011 Preferred Common Contributed Retained comprehensive
shares shares surplus earnings income (loss) Total

Balance, beginning of year $ 48,494 $ 128,068 $ 3,935 $ 202,187 $ (1,229) $ 381,455
Net income - - - 62,186 - 62,186
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax - - - - (9,120) (9,120)
Reinvestment of dividends - 582 - - - 582
Exercise of stock options - 943 - - - 943
Dividends:

Preferred shares - - - (3,625) - (3,625)
Common shares - - - (6,742) - (6,742)

Stock-based compensation - - 961 - - 961
Transfer relating to the exercise of stock options - 178 (178) - - - 
Balance, end of year $ 48,494 $ 129,771 $ 4,718 $ 254,006 $ (10,349) $ 426,640

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUIT Y
($ THOUSANDS)
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Years ended December 31 2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year $ 81,207 $ 62,186
Adjustments to determine cash flows relating to operating activities:

Financial instruments at fair value through income 11,930 2,857
Securitization gains (2,005) - 
Depreciation of capital assets 1,015 712
Provision for credit losses 7,992 7,183
Net gain (loss) on sale or redemption of investments 823 (144)
Income taxes 23,467 21,729
Income taxes paid (18,791) (18,280)
Stock-based compensation 853 961
Amortization of premiums/discounts on investments 2,808 3,273
Net increase in mortgages receivable (1,380,351) (1,363,900)
Net increase in deposits 1,023,813 749,051
Change in obligations related to investment sold under repurchase agreements 9,882 - 
Net change in securities purchased and sold under reverse repurchase agreements (68,584) 64,941
Net change in securitization liability 160,749 569,241
Net interest income, excluding non-cash items (192,678) (176,923)
Interest received 474,547 431,207
Interest paid (305,303) (264,312)
Other assets (942) (28,756)
Other liabilities 6,854 5,981
Dividends received 23,434 10,028

Cash flows (used in) from operating activities (139,280) 77,035

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of debentures 65,000 - 
Dividends paid on preferred shares (3,625) (3,625)
Dividends paid on common shares (6,709) (5,853)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares 3,068 943

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities 57,734 (8,535)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments (230,037) (138,934)
Proceeds on sale or redemption of investments 185,456 105,730
Net change in Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts (19,901) (20,762)
Change in restricted cash 19,555 3,414
Proceeds from loan securitization 335,661 - 
Securitization retained interests 212 - 
Purchase of capital assets (798) (2,345)

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities 290,148 (52,897)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 208,602 15,603
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 170,845 155,242
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 379,447 $ 170,845

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF C ASH FLOWS
($ THOUSANDS)
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Note 1 – Reporting Entity

Equitable Group Inc. (the "Company") was formed on January 1, 2004 as the parent company of its wholly owned subsidiary, The Equitable Trust
Company ("Equitable Trust"). The Company is domiciled in Canada with its registered office located at 30 St. Clair Avenue West, Suite 700,
Toronto, Ontario. Equitable Trust is federally regulated under the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada) by the Office of the Superintendent
of Financial Institutions Canada ("OSFI"). The Company operates principally in one industry segment as a deposit-taking institution investing
in mortgages.

Note 2 – Basis of Preparation

(a) Statement of Compliance:

The consolidated financial statements of Equitable Group Inc. have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, as published by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 26, 2013. 

(b) Basis of measurement:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items which are stated at fair
value: derivative financial instruments, financial assets and liabilities that are classified or designated as at fair value through income and
available for sale financial assets. 

(c) Functional currency:

The functional currency of the Company is Canadian dollars, which is also the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements.

(d) Use of estimates and accounting judgements in applying accounting policies:

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the years. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed by management on an
ongoing basis. The critical estimates and judgements utilized in preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements affect the
assessment of the allowance for credit losses on mortgages, the impairment of other financial instruments, the fair values of financial assets
and liabilities, derecognition of financial assets transferred in securitization transactions, effectiveness of financial hedges for accounting
purposes and income taxes.

The critical estimates and judgements made in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements include probability of
default and loss given default for mortgage receivables, discount rates utilized in the valuation of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities,
the credit worthiness of the Company to its counterparties, the values of comparable assets and the fair value of securities not traded in an
active market. In making estimates and judgements, management relies on external information and observable conditions where possible,
supplemented by internal analysis as required. These estimates and judgements have been applied in a manner consistent with prior periods
and there are no known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that we believe will materially affect the methodology or assumptions
utilized in making these estimates and judgements in these consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates,
in which case the impact would be recognized in the consolidated financial statements in future periods.

(e) Consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements as at and for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 include the assets, liabilities and results of
operations of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Equitable Trust, after the elimination of intercompany transactions and balances.
The Company has control of Equitable Trust as it has the power to directly or indirectly govern its financial and operating policies and benefit
from its activities.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE, PER SHARE AND STOCK OPTION AMOUNTS)

Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
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Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies 

The following note describes the Company's significant accounting policies. These accounting policies have been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

(a) Financial instruments:

The Company’s consolidated balance sheet consists primarily of financial instruments and the majority of net income is derived from income
and expenses, as well as gains and losses related to the respective financial instruments.

Financial instrument assets include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements,
investments, mortgages receivable, mortgages receivable – securitized, securitization retained interests and derivative financial instruments.
Financial instrument liabilities include deposits, securitization liabilities, derivative financial instruments, obligations under repurchase
agreements, bank term loan and debentures.

(i) Classification of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets. Subsequent to initial recognition financial
assets and liabilities are measured at fair value, cost or amortized cost according to the categories determined by the accounting framework
for financial instruments.

Financial instruments at fair value through income

Financial instruments are classified in this category if they are held for trading or designated by management under the fair value option.
They are carried at fair value and any related realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of
income.

Classified as held for trading 

Instruments are classified as held for trading if they are acquired principally for the purposes of selling or repurchasing in the near term
or a derivative (except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging instrument). Upon initial recognition, transaction
costs are expensed as incurred.

Designated as at fair value through income

Instruments designated as at fair value through income must meet one of the following criteria: (a) the designation eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency; (b) a group of financial assets or liabilities or both is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or (c) the
instrument contains one or more embedded derivatives unless: (i) the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash
flows that otherwise would be required by the contract; or (ii) it is clear with little or no analysis that separation is prohibited. 

Held to maturity

Financial assets are classified in this category if management has the intent and ability to hold the instrument to maturity. Held to maturity
financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held
to maturity financial assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Available for sale

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale and that are not classified in
any of the categories described above. They are initially recognized at fair value plus any transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in Other
comprehensive income, net of income taxes. When the instrument is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss in Other comprehensive
income is transferred to income.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are
recognized initially at fair value plus any transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost, except for liabilities designated
as at fair value through income.

(ii) Determination of fair value

When a financial instrument is initially recognized, its fair value is the amount of consideration for which the financial instruments would
be exchanged in an arm’s-length transaction between knowledgeable parties who are under no compulsion to act.

Subsequent to initial recognition, for financial instruments measured at fair value where active market prices are available, bid prices are
used for financial assets and ask prices for financial liabilities. For those financial instruments measured at fair value where an active market
is not available, fair value estimates are determined using valuation methods which refer to observable market data and include discounted
cash flow analysis and other commonly used valuation techniques. See Note 5 for the valuation methods and assumptions used to estimate
fair values of financial instruments.

(iii) Derecognition

Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when:

• the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Company has transferred its rights to receive future cash flows of the financial asset, or it retains the contractual rights to receive
the cash flows of the financial asset but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more recipients and either:

i. the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or

ii. the Company has neither retained nor transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership in the financial asset, but has
transferred control of the asset. 

Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Company is recognized as a
separate asset or liability in the consolidated balance sheets. On derecognition of a financial asset the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration received
(including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in Other
comprehensive income is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

If the transfer of assets does not meet the criteria for derecognition, the Company continues to recognize the financial asset and also
recognizes a financial liability for the consideration received upon the transfer in the consolidated balance sheets. 

The derecognition criteria is also applied to the transfer of part of an asset, rather than a whole, or to a group of similar financial assets in
their entirety, when applicable. When it is applied to part of an asset, the part comprises of specifically identified cash flows, a fully
proportionate share of the asset, or a fully proportionate share of a specifically identified cash flow from the asset.

Financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(iv) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated balance sheets when the Company has a legal
right to set off the recognized amounts and it intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS or for gains and losses arising from a
group of similar transactions.

(v) Risks associated with financial instruments

The use of financial instruments exposes the Company to credit risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk. A discussion on how these risks
and other risks are managed can be found in the Risk Management section of Company’s December 31, 2012 Management’s Discussion
and Analysis and Note 4 to these consolidated financial statements.

(b) Interest:

Interest income and interest expense for all financial instruments not designated as at fair value through income are recognized in income using
the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flow payments and
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the
financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, management estimates future cash flows considering all contractual
terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all transaction costs and
fees paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposits with regulated financial institutions and highly liquid short-term investments, including
government guaranteed investments and other money market instruments, whose term to maturity at the date of purchase is less than three
months and are readily convertible to known amounts of cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Interest earned
on cash and cash equivalents is included in Interest income − other in the consolidated statements of income. 

(d) Investments:

Investments that are designated as available for sale, are accounted for at settlement date, and are reported on the consolidated balance
sheets at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses, net of income taxes, are reported in Other comprehensive income, until the investment is sold
or an impairment loss is recognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is transferred to Other income in the consolidated statements
of income. 

Available for sale investments are purchased with the original intention to hold the securities to maturity or until market conditions render
alternative investments more attractive. If there is an impairment recognized, any write-down to net realizable value is reported in Other
income. For debt securities, where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the instrument is increased to the lesser
of the revised estimate of the recoverable amount and the carrying amount that would have been recorded had no impairment loss been
recognized previously. The amount of the reversal is recorded in Other income in the consolidated statements of income. Impairment losses
on available for sale - common shares are not subsequently reversed through net income.

Investments designated as at fair value through income are reported at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets, with unrealized gains
and losses, net of income tax, reported in the consolidated statements of income. Held to maturity investments are recorded at amortized cost
on the consolidated balance sheets. Impairment write-downs on investments held to maturity, and any reversals thereof, are recognized in
Other income in the consolidated statements of income as incurred. 

Interest income and dividends earned, net of amortization of premiums and discounts, are included in Interest income − investments in the
consolidated statements of income. Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established. Usually this is the ex-
dividend date for the equity securities. The fair values of investments are generally based on quoted market prices.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements:

Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements represent purchases of Government of Canada guaranteed debt securities and are
treated as collateralized lending transactions as they represent the purchase of securities with a simultaneous agreement to sell them back at
a specified price on a specified future date, which is generally short term. These securities are classified as loans and receivables and are held
at amortized cost plus accrued interest on the consolidated balance sheets. The interest income related to these investments is recorded on
an accrual basis and is included in Interest income – investments in the consolidated statements of income.

(f ) Mortgages receivable:

Classification

(i)  Mortgages receivable designated as loans and receivables:

Mortgages are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, using the effective
interest rate method, and are reported net of unamortized origination fees, commitment income, premiums or discounts and an allowance
for credit losses. Net fees relating to mortgage origination are amortized to income on an effective yield basis over the term of the
mortgages to which they relate, and are included in Interest income – mortgages in the consolidated statements of income.

(ii) Mortgages designated as at fair value through income:

Certain mortgages designated as at fair value through income are carried at fair value with changes in fair value included in Interest income
– mortgages in the consolidated statements of income. 

Impairments

The Company classifies a mortgage receivable as impaired when, in the opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt as to the timely
collectability, either in whole or in part, of principal or interest. A conventional mortgage is deemed to be impaired at the earlier of the date
it has been individually provided for or when contractual payments are past due 90 days. Mortgages guaranteed by the Government of Canada
are considered impaired when they are contractually past due 365 days. However, management does not anticipate credit losses on such
mortgages as they are insured.

When an impaired mortgage is identified, an individual allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying value of the mortgage to its net realizable
amount, measured on the basis of expected future cash flows, and discounted at the mortgage’s effective interest rate.  The impairment is
reflected in the consolidated statements of income in the years in which the impairment is recognized. When a mortgage is classified as
impaired, interest income continues to be accrued using the effective interest rate method and may be partially or fully offset by an increase
in the allowance for credit losses. 

A mortgage is no longer considered impaired when all past due amounts including interest have been recovered and it is determined that the
principal and interest are fully collectible, at which time the individual allowance is reversed. 

Mortgage losses are recorded when the proceeds from realization of the security are less than the carrying amount of the mortgage. In
subsequent periods, any recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the provision for credit losses. 

Held-for-sale foreclosed assets in settlement of an impaired loan are accounted for at fair value less estimated cost to sell at the date of
foreclosure. Any difference between the carrying value of the mortgage before foreclosure and the initially estimated realizable amount of the
assets is recorded in provision for credit losses in the consolidated statements of income. 

For any subsequent change in fair value, gains and losses are recognized in fees and other income in the consolidated statements of income.

(g) Allowance for credit losses:

Allowance for credit losses on mortgage assets consists of both individually and collectively assessed impairment allowances.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



66Equitable Group Inc. Annual Report 2012

Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Individual allowance

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for mortgage assets. For mortgages
assessed as impaired, an individual allowance is recorded, measured as the difference between the mortgage’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the mortgage’s original effective interest rate. The calculation of the estimated
future cash flows of the mortgage reflects management’s judgement relating to the timing of future cash flow amounts that can be reasonably
expected from the borrowers and/or guarantors and the realization of collateral. The amounts expected to be recovered are reduced by
estimated costs of realization.

Collective allowance

If no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individual mortgage, the Company includes the mortgage in a group of mortgage assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment using a statistical model. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an individual allowance has been recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, mortgage assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics which
includes security and mortgage type, risk rating, geographical exposure, loan-to-value ratios and other relevant factors. The collective allowance
estimated by the Company’s statistical model may be adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic conditions are
such that the actual level of inherent losses at the balance sheet date is likely to be greater or less than that calculated by the model. 

(h) Securitizations:

In the normal course of business, the Company securitizes insured residential mortgages through the Government of Canada’s National
Housing Act (“NHA”) Mortgages Backed Securities (“MBS”) and Canada Mortgage Bond (“CMB”) programs, which are facilitated by Canada
Mortgage and Housing Corporation (“CMHC”). The Company securitizes the mortgages through the creation of MBS and the ultimate sale of
MBS to third party investors or through the CMB program.

Securitized mortgages and securitization liabilities

Sales of MBS that do not qualify for derecognition result in the related mortgages being reclassified as securitized mortgages on the
consolidated balance sheets and are accounted for at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, and are reported net of unamortized origination
fees, commitment income and premiums or discounts. Net fees and any premium or discount relating to mortgage origination are amortized
to income on an effective yield basis over the term of the mortgages to which they relate, and are included in Interest income mortgages –
securitized in the consolidated statements of income.

In addition, these transactions are considered secured financing and result in the recognition of securitization liabilities. Securitization liabilities
are recorded at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, and are reported net of any unamortized premiums or discounts and transaction costs
incurred in obtaining the secured financing. Interest expense is allocated over the expected term of borrowing by applying the effective
interest rate to the carrying amount of the liability. 

Securitization retained interest and servicing liability

In some transactions, the Company has a continuing involvement in the securitized asset that is limited to retained rights in future excess
interest and the liability associated with servicing these assets. The securitization retained interests are classified as available for sale securities
in the consolidated balance sheets and are carried at fair value with changes in fair value reported in Other comprehensive income, net of
income taxes. The servicing liability is reported as part of Other liabilities. During the life of the securitization, as cash is received, the retained
interest and the servicing liability are amortized and recognized in the consolidated statements of income under Gains on securitization
activities and income from retained interests.

Gain on securitization

When an asset is derecognized, the related mortgages are removed from the consolidated balance sheets and a gain or loss is recognized in
the consolidated statements of income under gains on securitization activities and income from retained interests.
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Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i) Derivative financial instruments: 

The Company uses derivative financial instruments primarily to manage exposure to interest rate risk. Derivative instruments that are typically
used are short sale and repurchase agreements, interest rate swaps and bond forward agreements. Short sale and repurchase agreements and
interest rate swaps are used to adjust exposure to interest rate risk by modifying the maturity characteristics of existing assets and liabilities.
Bond forwards are used to hedge interest rate exposure resulting from changes in interest rates between the time the Company commits to
funding a mortgage it intends to securitize through the issuance of a securitization liability, and the time the liability is actually incurred.

Hedge accounting – cash flow hedges

In order for a derivative to qualify as an accounting hedge, the hedging relationship must be designated and formally documented at its
inception, detailing the particular risk management objective and strategy for the hedge and the specific asset, liability or cash flow being
hedged, as well as how its effectiveness is being assessed. Changes in the fair value of the derivative must be highly effective in offsetting
changes in the amount of future cash flows being hedged. 

Hedge effectiveness is evaluated at the inception of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis, retrospectively and prospectively,
primarily using quantitative statistical measures of correlation. The change in the fair value of the hedging item will be recorded on the
consolidated balance sheet under Accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) as either deferred gains or losses during the hedge
term only to the extent of the effective portion of the hedge. Any ineffectiveness in the hedging relationship is recognized in Fair value gain
or loss on derivative financial instruments – securitization activities in the consolidated statement of income as it arises. 

The Company’s cash flow hedges are hedges of anticipated cash flows on fixed rate liabilities arising from accounting for securitization
transactions as secured financing under IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The Company enters into bond forward
agreements to sell government guaranteed debt securities and applies hedge accounting to these derivative financial instruments. To the
extent that changes in the fair value of the derivative (bond forward agreements) offset changes in the fair value of the hedged item (anticipated
issuance of a securitization liability), they are recorded in Other comprehensive income, net of tax. The cumulative amounts deferred in AOCI
are reclassified to Interest expense – securitization liabilities in the consolidated statements of income, amortized over the term of the
securitization liability.

For cash flow hedges that are discontinued before the end of the original hedge term, the unrealized gain or loss recorded in Other
comprehensive income is amortized to Fair value gain or loss on derivative financial instruments – securitization activities, in the consolidated
statement of income as the hedged item affects income. 

Fair value hedges

The Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements and short sale and repurchase agreements of Government of Canada guaranteed
debt securities to manage interest rate exposures on certain mortgages designated as at fair value through income. The Company has also
entered into interest rate swap agreements to manage interest rate exposures on Guaranteed Investment Certificates (“GICs”) used to fund
floating rate mortgages. The Company does not currently apply hedge accounting to these derivative instruments. 

The fair value of interest rate swap agreements used to manage interest rate exposures for mortgages designated as at fair value through
income are included in Other assets and/or Other liabilities with changes in fair value recorded in Interest income – mortgages. Changes in
the fair value of mortgages designated as at fair value through income are also included in Interest income – mortgages. 

The fair value of short sale and repurchase agreements used to manage interest exposures for mortgages designated as at fair value through
income are included in Other assets and/or Other liabilities with changes in fair value recorded in Interest income – mortgages. Changes in
the fair value of mortgages designated as at fair value through income are also included in Interest income – mortgages. 

The fair value of interest rate swap agreements used to manage interest rate exposures for GICs used to fund floating rate mortgages are
included in Other assets and/or Other liabilities with changes in fair value recorded in Interest expense – deposits. Changes in the fair value
of GICs designated as at fair value through income are also included in Interest expense – deposits.
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Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The fair value of bond forwards used to manage interest rate exposures for mortgage commitments are included in Other assets and/or Other
liabilities with changes in fair value recorded in Other income – gains on securitization activities and income from retained interest. Changes
in fair value of mortgages and mortgage commitments are also included in Other income – gains on securitization activities and income from
retained interests.

The Company’s hedging activities are transacted with approved counterparties, which are limited to Canadian chartered banks, their
subsidiaries and other financial intermediaries. 

(j) Employee benefits:

The Company offers several benefit programs to eligible employees. These benefits include a deferred profit sharing plan, employee stock
purchase plan, annual bonuses, and compensation in the form of share-based payments.

(i) Deferred profit sharing plan

The Company has a deferred profit sharing plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have
no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions are recognized as an expense in income when they
are due in respect of service rendered before the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A
liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term bonus plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(iii) Share-based payments 

The Company has a stock option plan for Directors and eligible employees of Equitable Trust. Under this plan, options are periodically
awarded to participants to purchase common shares at prices equal to the closing market price of the shares on the date prior to the date
the options were granted. As a matter of practice, commencing in 2009, the Company no longer awards grants of options to non-
management Directors. The Company uses the fair value-based method of accounting for stock options and recognizes compensation
expense based on the fair value of the options on the date of the grant, which is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
The fair value of the options is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the options granted as compensation expense
with a corresponding increase in Contributed surplus. The awards are delivered in tranches; each tranche is considered a separate award
and is valued and amortized separately. Expected forfeitures are factored into determining the stock option expense and the estimates are
periodically adjusted in the event of actual forfeitures or for changes in expectations. The Contributed surplus balance is reduced as the
options are exercised and the amount initially recorded for the options in Contributed surplus is reclassified to capital stock. Compensation
expense related to the stock-based compensation plan is included in the consolidated statements of income.

The Company also has a Restricted Share Unit (“RSU”) plan for eligible employees. The obligations related to the award of these units are
recognized in the consolidated statements of income when they are granted and any corresponding liability is included in Other liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheets. Since each RSU represents a notional common share, any changes in unit value and re-invested notional
dividend amounts are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Each RSU held at the end of the vesting period including
those acquired as dividend equivalents will be paid to the eligible employee in cash, the value of which will be based on the volume-
weighted average closing price of the Company’s common shares on the TSX for the five consecutive trading days immediately prior to the
vesting.

In addition, the Company also has a Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) plan for Directors. The obligation that results from the award of a DSU is
recognized in income upon the grant of the unit and the corresponding amount is included in Other liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets. The change in the obligation attributable to the change in stock price and dividends paid on common shares is recognized in
compensation expense in the consolidated statements of income for the period in which the changes occur. The redemption value of each
DSU is the volume-weighted average trading price of the common shares of the Company on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) for the
five trading days prior to the date the individual ceases to be a Director.
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Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

During the year, the Company initiated an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) for its employees. Under this plan, employees have the
option of directing a portion of their gross salary towards the purchase of the Company’s common shares. The Company matches a fixed
portion of employee share purchases up to specified maximum. Employer contributions are recognized as an expense in the period
incurred.

(k) Income taxes:

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in income except to the extent that it
relates to items recognized directly in equity or in Other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities represent the amount of tax applicable to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities and
their values for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply
to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the years that include the date of enactment or substantive enactment.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against current tax assets, and
they relate to income levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

(l) Capital assets:

Capital assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using a declining balance method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets at the following annual rates as this most closely reflects the pattern of consumption of the future
economic benefits:

Capital asset categories Rate of depreciation
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20%
Computer hardware and software 30%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of remaining term of the lease and their useful life.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each financial year end and adjusted appropriately.

(m) Leases:

Operating leases 

Operating lease rentals payable are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, which commences when the property
is available for use. Free rent periods are treated as a reduction of rental expense and are also recognized over the lease term on a straight-line
basis. 
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Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(n) Deposits:

Deposits are comprised of GICs issued to depositors. Deposits, with the exception of those designated as at fair value through income, are
recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at amortized cost plus accrued interest, using the effective interest rate method. Deferred deposit
agent commissions are accounted for as a component of deposits with the amortization of these commissions – with the exception of
commissions relating to deposits designated as at fair value through income, which are expensed as incurred – being calculated on an effective
yield basis as a component of interest expense. 

(o) Obligations under repurchase agreements:

Investments sold under repurchase agreements represent sales of Government of Canada guaranteed debt securities by the Company effected
with a simultaneous agreement to purchase the assets back at a specified price on a specified future date, which is generally short term.
Repurchase agreements are treated as borrowings and are carried at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, using the effective interest rate
method, recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at the respective prices at which the investments were originally sold plus accrued
interest. Interest expense relating to repurchase agreements is recorded in Interest expense – other in the consolidated statements of income. 

(p) Bank term loans and debentures:

Bank term loans and debentures are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

(q) Share capital:

Issuance costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of an equity instrument are deducted from the initial measurement of the equity
instruments and is presented net of tax.

(r) Fees:

Other income includes ancillary fees related to the administration of the mortgage portfolio. These fees are accrued and recognized as the
related services are rendered. 

(s) Earnings per share:

Earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for the year. Net income available to common shareholders is determined by deducting the dividend entitlements of
preferred shareholders from net income. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if additional common
shares are assumed to be issued under securities or contracts that entitle their holders to obtain common shares in the future. The number of
additional shares for inclusion in diluted earnings per share calculations is determined using the treasury stock method. Under this method,
stock options which exercise price is less than the average market price of the Company's common shares are assumed to be exercised and
the proceeds are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price for the year. The incremental number of common shares issued
under stock options and repurchased from proceeds is included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

(t) Provisions:

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money.
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Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(u) Future accounting changes:

(i) IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) was amended by the IASB in June 2011, which is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after July 1, 2012 with earlier application permitted. IAS 1 requires an entity to present separately the items of OCI that may be
reclassified to profit or loss in the future from those that would never be reclassified to profit or loss. The Company intends to adopt IAS 1
prospectively in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. As the amendments only require changes in
the presentation of items in other comprehensive income, the Company does not expect IAS 1 to have a material impact on the financial
statements.

(ii) IFRS 7 Financial Instrument: Disclosures 

Amendment to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“IFRS 7”) was issued by the IASB in December 2011, which is effective for annual
and interim periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. IFRS 7 contains new disclosure requirements for financial assets and liabilities
that are offset in the statement of financial position or subject to master netting arrangements of similar arrangements. The amendments
are intended to help investors and other users to better assess the effect or potential effect of offsetting arrangements on a Company`s
financial position. The Company intends to adopt IFRS 7 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The
extent of the impact of the adoption of the amendments has not yet been determined.

(iii) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB in November 2009 to provide guidance on classification and measurement
of financial assets and was replaced by an updated version in 2010 that added guidance on classification and measurement of financial
liabilities. This standard will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 eliminates the existing
IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, available for sale and loans and receivable. Financial assets will be classified into one of two categories
on initial recognition: a) financial assets measured at amortized cost; or b) financial assets measured at fair value. The approach in IFRS 9 is
based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics
of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods
in IAS 39. For financial liabilities measured at fair value under the fair value option, changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit
risk will be recognized in OCI, with the remainder of change recognized in profit or loss. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2015 with earlier application permitted. The Company intends to adopt IFRS 9 in its financial statements for the annual
period beginning on January 1, 2015. The Company has not yet determined the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements.

(iv) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) was issued by the IASB in May 2011, which is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2013 with earlier application permitted. IFRS 10 provides a single model to be applied in the control analysis for all
investees, including entities that currently are SPEs in the scope of SIC-12. The IASB issued amendments in June 2012 simplifying the
process of adopting IFRS 10 and providing additional relief from certain disclosures. In October 2012, the IASB issued further amendments
specifying an industry-specific solution, requiring qualifying investment entities to account for investments in controlled entities at fair value
through profit or loss. The consolidation exception is mandatory – not optional. The Company does not expect IFRS 10 to have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

(v) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”) was issued by the IASB in May 2011, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2013 with earlier application permitted. IFRS 13 sets out in a single IFRS framework the application of fair value to those assets
and liabilities qualifying or permitted to be carried at fair value and provides enhanced disclosure requirements when fair value is applied.
The Company intends to adopt IFRS 13 prospectively in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The
Company does not expect IFRS 13 to have a material impact on fair value measurement in the financial statements.
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Note 4 – Risk Management

The Company, like other financial institutions, is exposed to the symptoms and effects of global economic conditions and other factors that
could adversely affect its business, financial condition and operating results, which may also influence an investor to buy, sell or hold shares
in the Company. Many of these risk factors are beyond the Company’s direct control. The use of financial instruments exposes the Company
to credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. A discussion of the Company’s risk exposures and how it manages those risks can be found in
the Risk Management section of the Company’s MD&A on pages 44 to 52. 

Note 5 – Financial Instruments

The Company’s business activities result in a consolidated balance sheet that consists primarily of financial instruments. The majority of the
Company’s net income is derived from gains, losses, income and expenses related to these financial assets and liabilities.

(a) Valuation methods and assumptions:

Valuation methods and assumptions used to estimate fair values of financial instruments are as follows:

(i) Financial instruments whose cost or amortized cost approximates fair value

Investments purchased under reverse repurchase agreements, obligations under repurchase agreements, and certain other financial
assets and liabilities are carried at cost or amortized cost, which approximates fair value.

(ii) Financial instruments classified as available for sale and as at fair value through income

These financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. For financial instruments
measured at fair value where active market prices are available, bid prices are used for financial assets and ask prices for financial
liabilities. For those financial instruments measured at fair value where an active market is not available, fair value estimates are
determined using valuation methods which refer to observable market data and include discounted cash flow analysis and other
commonly used valuation techniques.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are measured at fair value, which approximates cost due to their short maturities.

(iii) Mortgages receivable

The estimated fair value of mortgages receivable is determined using a discounted cash flow calculation and the market interest rates
offered for mortgages with similar terms and credit risks.

(iv) Deposits

The estimated fair value of deposits is determined by discounting expected future contractual cash flows using observed market
interest rates offered for deposits with similar terms.

(v) Securitization liabilities

The estimated fair value of securitization liabilities is determined by discounting expected future contractual cash flows using market
interest rates offered for similar terms.

(vi) Bank term loan and debentures

The estimated fair value of the bank term loan and debentures are determined by discounting expected future contractual cash flows
using market interest rates offered for similar terms.

(vii) Derivatives

Fair value estimates of derivative financial instruments are determined based on commonly used pricing methodologies (primarily
discounted cash flow models) that incorporate observable market data. Frequently applied valuation techniques incorporate various
inputs such as bond prices and interest rate curves into present value calculations.
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Note 5 – Financial Instruments (continued)

The following table presents the carrying values for each category of financial assets and liabilities and their estimated fair values as at
December 31, 2012 and 2011. The table does not include assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments.

Loans and
Financial Financial receivables/

instruments instruments financials
required to be designated liabilities at

classified as as at fair cost or Total
held for value through Held to Available amortized carrying Fair

2012 trading income maturity for sale cost value value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 379,447 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 379,447 $ 379,447
Restricted cash 63,601 - - - - 63,601 63,601
Securities purchased under reverse 

repurchase agreements - - - - 78,551 78,551 78,551
Investments 5,912 - 54,252 379,316 - 439,480 439,480
Mortgages receivable - 52,379 - - 5,214,212 5,266,591 5,284,361
Mortgages receivable – securitized - - - - 5,342,881 5,342,881 5,520,893
Securitization retained interests - - - 7,263 - 7,263 7,263
Other assets: 

Derivative financial instruments – hedges 20 - - - - 20 20
Derivative financial instruments –

securitization activities 323 - - - - 323 323
Other - - - - 5,478 5,478 5,478

Total financial assets $ 449,303 $ 52,379 $ 54,252 $ 386,579 $10,641,122 $11,583,635 $11,779,417

Financial liabilities: 
Deposits $ - $ 517,079 $ - $ - $5,134,638 $5,651,717 $5,669,486
Securitization liabilities - - - - 5,261,670 5,261,670 5,467,345
Obligations under repurchase agreements - - - - 9,882 9,882 9,882
Other liabilities: 

Derivative financial instruments – 
interest rate swaps 2,301 - - - - 2,301 2,301

Other - - - - 38,298 38,298 38,298
Bank term loan - - - - 12,500 12,500 12,516
Debenture liabilities - - - - 117,671 117,671 118,983

Total financial liabilities $ 2,301 $ 517,079 $ - $ - $10,574,659 $11,094,039 $11,318,811
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Note 5 – Financial Instruments (continued)

Loans and
Financial Financial receivables/

instruments instruments financials
required to be designated liabilities at

classified as as at fair cost or Total
held for value through Held to Available amortized carrying Fair

2011 trading income maturity for sale cost value value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 170,845 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 170,845 $ 170,845
Restricted cash 83,156 - - - - 83,156 83,156
Securities purchased under reverse 

repurchase agreements - - - - 9,967 9,967 9,967
Investments - - 34,551 355,789 - 390,340 390,340
Mortgages receivable - 54,163 - - 4,207,984 4,262,147 4,306,748
Mortgages receivable – securitized - - - - 5,314,940 5,314,940 5,611,687
Other assets:

Derivative financial instruments − hedges 36 - - - - 36 36
Other - - - - 5,801 5,801 5,801

Total financial assets $ 254,037 $ 54,163 $ 34,551 $ 355,789 $ 9,538,692 $10,237,232 $10,578,580

Financial liabilities:
Deposits $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 4,627,904 $ 4,627,904 $ 4,674,554
Securitization liabilities 5,100,921 5,100,921 5,392,192
Other liabilities:

Derivative financial instruments − 
interest rate swaps 2,808 - - - - 2,808 2,808

Derivative financial instruments − 
securitization activities 2 - - - - 2 2

Other - - - - 25,606 25,606 25,606
Bank term loan - - - - 12,500 12,500 12,577
Debenture liabilities - - - - 52,671 52,671 54,953

Total financial liabilities $ 2,810 $ - $ - $ - $ 9,819,602 $ 9,822,412 $10,162,692

(b) Fair value hierarchy:

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. 

The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable
for the asset or liability. 

Level 3 – valuation techniques with significant unobservable market inputs.

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. The objective of valuation techniques is to
arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the financial instrument at the reporting date that would have been determined.
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Note 5 – Financial Instruments (continued)

by market participants acting at arm’s length. A financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant
input has been considered in measuring fair value.

The following tables present the financial instruments recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets, classified using the fair value
hierarchy:

Total financial assets/
financial liabilities

2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at fair value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 379,447 $ - $ - $ 379,447
Restricted cash 63,601 - - 63,601
Investments 167,519 217,709 - 385,228
Mortgages receivable - 52,379 - 52,379
Securitization retained interests - 7,263 - 7,263
Other assets:

Derivative financial instruments − hedges - 20 - 20
Derivative financial instruments − securitization activities - 323 - 323

Total financial assets $ 610,567 $ 277,694 $ - $ 888,261

Financial liabilities: 
Deposits $ - $ 517,079 $ - $ 517,079
Other liabilities: 

Derivative financial instruments − interest rate swaps - 2,301 - 2,301
Total financial liabilities $ - $ 519,380 $ - $ 519,380

Total financial assets/
financial liabilities

2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at fair value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 170,845 $ - $ - $ 170,845
Restricted cash 83,156 - - 83,156
Investments 260,790 94,999 - 355,789
Mortgages receivable - 54,163 - 54,163
Other assets:

Derivative financial instruments − hedges - 36 - 36
Total financial assets $ 514,791 $ 149,198 $ - $ 663,989

Financial liabilities:
Deposits $ - $ - $ - $ -
Other liabilities:

Derivative financial instruments − interest rate swaps - 2,808 - 2,808
Derivative financial instruments − securitization activities - 2 - 2

Total financial liabilities $ - $ 2,810 $ - $ 2,810
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Note 6 – Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

2012 2011

Deposits with regulated financial institutions $ 379,447 $ 170,845
Cash and cash equivalents 379,447 170,845

Restricted cash – securitization $ 46,698 $ 66,991
Restricted cash – interest rate swaps 16,903 16,165
Restricted cash $ 63,601 $ 83,156

Restricted cash – securitization represents deposits held in trust in connection with the Company’s securitization activities. These deposits
include cash accounts held at a Canadian Schedule A Bank that hold principal and interest payments collected from mortgages securitized
through the NHA MBS program awaiting payment to their respective investors, deposits held as collateral by third parties for the Company’s
securitization hedging activities, and deposits held in interest reinvestment accounts in connection with the Company’s participation in the
CMB program. 

Restricted cash – interest rate swaps represent deposits held as collateral by third parties for the Company’s interest rate swap transactions. The
terms and conditions of these arrangements with counterparties are governed by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.
(ISDA) agreements.

Note 7 – Investments

Carrying value of investments, categorized by type and maturity are as follows:

2012 2011
Maturities

With no Total Total
Within Over 1 to 3 Over 3 to 5 Over 5 specific carying carrying
1 year years years years maturity value value

Debt securities issued by regulated 
financial institutions $ 177,596 $ 40,113 $ - $ - $ - $ 217,709 $ 94,999 

Debt securities issued by 
Government of Canada - - - - - - 34,145

Debt securities guaranteed by
Government of Canada - 8,736 - 17,783 - 26,519 28,400

Equity securities – preferred shares - 1,389 - - 131,507 132,896 198,245
Equity securities – common shares(1) - - - - 7,904 7,904 -
Canada Housing Trust 

re-investment accounts(2) 19,452 32,934 - 2,066 - 54,452 34,551
$ 197,048 $ 83,172 $ - $ 19,849 $ 139,411 $ 439,480 $ 390,340

(1) Includes a security with a carrying value of $5.9 million which is classified as at fair value through income. This carrying value includes an unrealized loss of $11.6 million which has been
offset by a dividend received of $13.7 million.

(2) Excludes reverse repurchase agreements of $68.0 million (2011 – nil) which are reclassified under Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements.
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Note 7 – Investments (continued)

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available for sale investments recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income are as
follows:

2012 2011

Debt securities issued by regulated financial institutions $ 182 $ (29) 
Debt securities issued by Government of Canada - 547
Debt securities guaranteed by Government of Canada 1,257 1,575
Equity securities – preferred shares (2,968) (3,412) 

$ (1,529) $ (1,319)

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company also recognized an impairment loss of $0.4 million related to a common share which
is classified as available for sale. This loss has been offset by a dividend received of $0.5 million in the consolidated statements of income. 

Note 8 – Mortgages Receivable

(a) Mortgages receivable:

Allowance for credit losses
2012 Gross amount Individual Collective Total Net amount

Mortgages – non securitized $ 5,155,308 $ 4,660 $ 21,960 $ 26,620 $ 5,128,688
Residential mortgages – securitized 5,326,313 - - - 5,326,313
Mortgages held for securitization or for sale 116,276 - - - 116,276
Accrued interest 38,195 - - - 38,195

$ 10,636,092 $ 4,660 $ 21,960 $ 26,620 $ 10,609,472

Allowance for credit losses
2011 Gross amount Individual Collective Total Net amount

Mortgages – non securitized $ 4,231,183 $ 3,865 $ 15,665 $ 19,530 $ 4,211,653
Residential mortgages – securitized 5,297,748 - - - 5,297,748
Mortgages held for securitization or for sale 32,683 - 120 120 32,563
Accrued interest 35,123 - - - 35,123

$ 9,596,737 $ 3,865 $ 15,785 $ 19,650 $ 9,577,087

Included in mortgages held for securitization or for sale are Government of Canada insured residential mortgages of $114,393 (2011 − $14,831)
and other insured mortgages of $1,883 (2011 – $1,987). Also included in this balance are mortgages which are to be pooled and discharged
subsequent to the consolidated balance sheet date. These mortgages are carried at amortized cost. 
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Note 8 – Mortgages Receivable (continued)

Included in Mortgages – non securitized are certain mortgages designated as at fair value through income and are carried at fair value with
changes in fair value included in Interest income − mortgages. As at December 31, 2012, mortgage principal outstanding for these mortgages
was $49,135 (2011 – $50,036) and the fair value adjustment was $3,244 (2011 – $4,127).

The impact of changes in fair value for mortgages designated as at fair value through income is as follows:

2012 2011

Changes in fair value recognized in income $ (883) $ 3,069

(b) Impaired and past due mortgages:

The Company classifies a mortgage receivable as impaired when, in the opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt as to the timely
collectability, either in whole or in part, of principal or interest. As a matter of practice, a conventional mortgage is deemed to be impaired at
the earlier of the date it has been individually provided for or when contractual payments are past due 90 days. Mortgages guaranteed by the
Government of Canada are considered impaired when they are contractually past due 365 days; however, management does not anticipate
credit losses on such mortgages as they are insured.

As at December 31, 2012, accrued interest on impaired mortgages amounted to $2,858 (2011 – $1,676).

Outstanding impaired mortgages, net of individual allowances are as follows:

2012 2011
Gross Individual allowance Net Net

Mortgages – non securitized $ 36,110 $ 4,660 $ 31,450 $ 23,432
Residential mortgages – securitized 298 - 298 899
Mortgages held for securitization or for sale - - - -

$ 36,408 $ 4,660 $ 31,748 $ 24,331

Outstanding mortgages that are past due but not classified as impaired are as follows:

2012
30 − 59 days 60 − 89 days 90 days or more Total

Mortgages – non securitized $ 19,586 $ 11,186 $ 557 $ 31,329
Residential mortgages – securitized 1,366 906 13,230 15,502
Mortgages held for securitization or for sale - - - -

$ 20,952 $ 12,092 $ 13,787 $ 46,831

2011
30 − 59 days 60 − 89 days 90 days or more Total

Mortgages – non securitized $ 10,576 $ 4,854 $ 927 $ 16,357
Residential mortgages – securitized 2,342 3,224 1,810 7,376
Mortgages held for securitization or for sale - - - -

$ 12,918 $ 8,078 $ 2,737 $ 23,733
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Note 8 – Mortgages Receivable (continued)

(c) Allowance for credit losses:

2012
Individual allowance Collective allowance Total

Balance, beginning of year $ 3,865 $ 15,785 $ 19,650
Provision for credit losses 1,858 6,134 7,992
Allowance for credit losses on acquired portfolio (41) 41 - 
Realized losses (1,149) - (1,149)
Recoveries 127 - 127
Balance, end of year $ 4,660 $ 21,960 $ 26,620

2011
Individual allowance Collective allowance Total

Balance, beginning of year $ 9,463 $ 11,640 $ 21,103
Provision for credit losses 2,419 4,764 7,183
Allowance for credit losses on acquired portfolio 619 (619) -
Realized losses (8,715) - (8,715)
Recoveries 79 - 79
Balance, end of year $ 3,865 $ 15,785 $ 19,650

Note 9 – Derecognition of Financial Assets

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into transactions that result in the transfer of financial assets. In accordance with Note
3(a)(iii) and 3(h), transferred financial assets are recognized in their entirety or derecognized in their entirety, subject to the extent of the
Company’s continuing involvement. The Company transfers its financial assets through sale and repurchase agreements and its securitization
activities.

(a) Transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety:

Sale and repurchase agreements

Sale and repurchase agreements are transactions in which the Company sells a security and simultaneously agrees to repurchase it at a fixed
price on a future date. The Company continues to recognize the securities in their entirety in the consolidated balance sheets because it retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. The cash consideration received is recognized as a financial asset and the obligation to pay
the repurchase price is recognized as a financial liability. 

Securitizations

The Company securitizes insured residential mortgages by selling its issued MBS to third party investors or predominantly to a CMHC sponsored
trust (Canada Housing Trust –“CHT”) under the CMB program. The Company may also retain certain issued MBS as part of its liquidity
management strategy, as well as to manage interest rate risk associated with the Company’s participation in the CMB program. The CHT
periodically issues CMB, which are guaranteed by the government, and sells them to third party investors. Proceeds from the CMB issuances
are used by the trust to purchase MBS from eligible MBS issuers who participate in the issuance of a particular CMB series.

Most of the Company’s securitization transactions do not qualify for derecognition as the Company continues to be exposed to substantially
all of the risks and rewards associated with the transferred assets or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards and
retains control in the asset. A key risk associated with transferred mortgages to which the Company remains exposed after the transfer in such
securitization transactions is the prepayment risk. As a result, the mortgages continue to be recognized on the consolidated balance sheets
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Note 9 – Derecognition of Financial Assets (continued)

at amortized cost and are accounted for as secured financing transactions, with the mortgages transferred pledged as collateral for these
securitization liabilities.

(i) MBS securitizations

For MBS securitization liabilities, principal payments collected from the underlying mortgages are passed on to the MBS investors, reducing
the amount of the liability outstanding on a monthly basis. Accrued interest on the MBS securitization liability is based on the MBS coupon
and is paid monthly to the MBS investors. 

(ii) CMB securitizations

As part of a CMB transaction, the Company may enter into a total return swap with highly rated counterparties, exchanging the cash flows of
the CMB for those of the MBS transferred to the CHT. Any excess or shortfall in these cash flows is absorbed by the Company. These swaps are
not recognized on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as the underlying cash flows of these derivatives are captured through the
continued recognition of the mortgages and their associated CMB securitization liabilities. Accordingly, these swaps are recognized on an
accrual basis and are not fair valued through the Company’s consolidated statements of income. As at December 31, 2012, the notional amount
of these swaps was $3,744,217 (2011 – $3,667,871).

CMB securitization liabilities are non-amortizing bond liabilities with fixed maturity dates. Principal payments collected from the mortgages
underlying the MBS sold to the CHT are transferred to the CHT on a monthly basis where they are held and invested in eligible investments
until the maturity of the bond. To the extent that these eligible investments are not the Company’s own issued MBS, the investments are
recorded on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets under Investments – Canada Housing Trust re-investment accounts. Accrued interest
on the CMB securitization liabilities is based on the CMB coupon. MBS accrued interest is paid to swap counterparties on a monthly basis and
is recorded on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as Restricted cash – securitization. At the time of CMB coupon settlements, any
excess or shortfall between the CMB coupon payment and interest accumulated with swap counterparties is received or paid by the Company. 

The following table provides information on the carrying amount and the fair values related to transferred financial assets that are not
derecognized in their entirety and the associated liabilities:

2012 2011 
Assets sold Assets sold

under under
Securitized repurchase Securitized repurchase

assets agreements assets agreements

Carrying amount of assets $ 5,342,881 $ 9,882 $ 5,314,940 $ - 
Carrying amount of associated liability 5,261,670 9,882 5,100,921 - 

Fair value of assets 5,520,893 9,882 5,611,687 - 
Fair value of associated liability 5,467,345 9,882 5,392,192 - 

Fair value, net position $ 53,548 $ - $ 219,495 $ - 

The carrying amount of assets include securitized assets that were not transferred to third parties of $205,704 (2011 – $250,884). The fair value
of these assets are $210,422 (2011 – $261,546).

(b)  Transfers that are derecognized in their entirety:

Certain securitization transactions undertaken by the Company result in the Company derecognizing transferred assets in their entirety. This
is the case where the Company has securitized and sold pools of residential mortgages with no pre-payment option to third parties. The
Company has not substantially retained any of the risk or rewards of ownership and has transferred control in the assets. The Company has
retained some continuing involvement in the transaction which is represented by the retained interests and the associated servicing liabilities.
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Note 9 – Derecognition of Financial Assets (continued)

The Company has also achieved derecognition on the securitization and sale of certain pools of residential mortgages with a pre-payment
option. In these transactions, the Company has securitized and sold pools of residential mortgages as well as all its rights in the excess interest
spreads, thereby transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership in the asset and derecognizing the asset in its entirety.

The following table provides quantitative information of the Company’s securitization activities and transfers that are derecognized in their
entirety:

2012 2011

Carrying value and fair value of Securitization retained interests $ 7,263 $ - 
Carrying value of Securitized mortgage servicing liability 1,518 -
Fair value of Securitized mortgage servicing liability 1,525 -
Gains (losses) on mortgages securitized and sold 2,005 -
Income from securitization activities and retained interests 5 -

The expected undiscounted cash flows payable to the MBS holders on the Company’s securitization activities and transfers that are
derecognized in their entirety are as follows:

MBS liabilities

2013 $ 14,683
2014 14,773
2015 14,866
2016 14,962
2017 202,990
Thereafter 110,691

$ 372,965

Note 10 – Derivative Financial Instruments

(a) Hedge instruments:

Cash flow hedges

The Company's securitization activities are subject to interest rate risk, which represents the potential for changes in interest rates between
the time the Company commits to funding a mortgage it intends to securitize through the issuance of a securitization liability, and the time
the liability is actually issued. The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments in the form of bond forward agreements to hedge this
exposure, with the intent to manage the change in cash flows of the future interest payments on the highly probable forecasted issuance of
the securitization liability. The Company applies hedge accounting to these derivative financial instruments to minimize the volatility in income
caused by changes in interest rates. 

Fair value hedges

The Company also enters into hedging transactions to manage interest rate exposures on certain mortgages designated as at fair value through
income, mortgage commitments and GICs used to fund floating rate mortgages. The hedging instruments used to manage these exposures
are interest rate swaps, bond forward agreements and short sale and repurchase agreements of Government of Canada guaranteed debt
securities. The Company does not apply hedge accounting to these hedging relationships.
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Note 10 – Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial impact of derivatives:

The fair values and notional amounts of hedge instruments outstanding as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

2012
Positive current Credit Risk Fair Value

Derivative instrument Notional replacement equivalent weighted
and term (years)(1) amount cost(2) amount(3) balance(4) Assets Liabilities Net(5)

Cash flow hedges:
Hedging bond forwards

1 or less $ 62,100 $ 540 $ 540 $ 540 $ 540 $ - $ 540 

Fair value hedges:
Interest rate swaps

1 or less 335,000 - - - - (128) (128) 
1 to 5 221,612 - 1,108 222 - (2,173) (2,173) 

Bond forward agreements
1 or less 52,600 - - - - (217) (217) 

Short sale and repurchase agreement
1 or less 13,445 20 20 4 20 - 20

$ 684,757 $ 560 $ 1,668 $ 766 $ 560 $ (2,518) $ (1,958) 

2011
Positive current Credit Risk Fair Value

Derivative instrument Notional replacement equivalent weighted
and term (years)(1) amount cost(2) amount(3) balance(4) Assets Liabilities Net(5)

Cash flow hedges:
Hedging bond forwards

1 or less $ 10,200 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ (2) $ (2) 

Fair value hedges:
Interest rate swaps

Over 5 37,322 - 560 112 - (2,808) (2,808) 

Short sale and repurchase agreement
1 or less 13,445 36 36 7 36 - 36 

$ 60,967 $ 36 $ 596 $ 119 $ 36 $ (2,810) $ (2,774) 

(1) In 2012 and 2011 comparative, the terms of the bond forwards and short sale and repurchase agreement are based on the term to maturity of the underlying derivatives. In previous years,
the terms of the derivatives were based on the underlying bonds and debt securities.

(2) Positive current replacement cost represents the cost of replacing all contracts that have a positive fair value, using current market rates. It reflects the unrealized gains on derivative
instruments.

(3) Credit equivalent amount represents the total replacement cost plus an amount representing the potential future credit exposure, as outlined in OSFI’s Capital Adequacy Guideline.
(4) Risk-weighted balance is determined by applying standard measures of counterparty credit risk to the credit equivalent amount, as prescribed by OSFI.
(5) Derivative financial assets are included in Other assets (Note 11) and derivative financial liabilities are included in Other liabilities (Note 14).
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Note 10 – Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

Cash flow hedges:

The impact of cash flow hedges on the Company's consolidated financial results are as follows:

2012 2011

Fair value changes recorded in Other comprehensive income $ 844 $ (13,761)
Fair value changes recorded in income 63 (648)
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income to Interest expense – securitization liabilities 2,365 (77)

The time periods in which the undiscounted hedged cash outflows are expected to occur and affect the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income are as follows:

Time period(1) 2012 2011

Less than 1 year $ 39,519 $ 20,471
1 – 3 years 78,227 40,942
4 – 5 years 55,394 29,541
Greater than 5 years 53,228 39,767

$ 226,368 $ 130,721

(1) In 2012 and 2011 comparative, the Company has disclosed undiscounted gross cash outflows. In 2011 the Company had disclosed undiscounted net cash outflows. 

Fair value hedges:

The impact of fair value hedges on the Company’s consolidated financial results are as follows:

2012 2011 

Changes in fair value – interest rate swaps $ (153) $ (3,147)
Changes in fair value – bond forward agreements (217) -
Changes in fair value – short sale and repurchase agreement (16) (999)
Changes in fair value recognized in income $ (386) $ (4,146)

(c) Embedded derivatives:

The Company's equity securities contain embedded derivatives which are required to be bifurcated from the underlying investment and
valued separately. These bifurcated derivatives do not currently have a significant value and, therefore, are not reported separately.
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Note 11 – Other Assets

2012 2011

Prepaid expenses and other $ 15,343 $ 14,981
Capital assets 3,547 3,764
Receivable relating to securitization activities 2,773 2,630
Accrued interest and dividends on non-mortgage assets 1,393 986
Derivative financial instruments – securitization activities 323 - 
Real estate owned 227 197
Derivative financial instruments – hedges 20 36
Income taxes recoverable - 3,024

$ 23,626 $ 25,618

In August 2011, the Company reported an alleged fraud relating to four condominium corporation loans with a total outstanding balance of
$14.0 million This amount was reduced to $13.8 million (2011 – $13.9 million) as a result of a partial recovery. Management has engaged
external counsel to assist in this matter. The Company has been named, along with other defendants, in two separate statements of claim
made by parties seeking relief from mortgage amounts owing and has commenced an action against several parties involved in the remaining
two loan transactions. In addition to any potential recoveries under its claims, the Company will also claim under its Financial Institution Bond,
which is intended to protect against fraud losses, however, there is no assurance that proceeds or recoveries, if any, will be received in a timely
manner or that such proceeds will be sufficient to recover the full amount of the loans. Accordingly, the Company has recorded a pre-tax
operational provision of $5,000 in the third quarter of 2011 and reclassified the mortgages in question from Mortgages receivable to Other
assets. The net outstanding balance reported in Other assets is $8.8 million (2011 – $8.9 million) and is included in Prepaid expenses and other.
While the total loss, if any, arising from this alleged fraud cannot be definitively determined at this time, management has established the
allowance based on the information available at the reporting date and will continue to assess the progress of recovery efforts and the resulting
estimate of recoverable amounts. 

Note 12 – Deposits

2012 2011

GICs – cashable, payable on demand $ 743,572 $ 700,301
GICs – fixed maturity dates 4,823,465 3,834,837
Accrued interest 99,530 104,917
Deferred deposit agent commissions (14,850) (12,151)

$ 5,651,717 $ 4,627,904

Included in GICs with fixed maturity dates are $518,213 (December 31, 2011 − nil) of GICs designated as at fair value through income and are
carried at fair value with changes in fair value included in Interest expense - deposits. The fair value is determined by discounting expected
future contractual cash flows using observed market interest rates offered for deposits with similar terms. Changes in fair value reflect changes
in interest rates which have occurred since the GICs were issued. The fair value adjustment of ($1,134) (December 31, 2011 – nil) is included in
Interest expense – deposits.

The impact of change in fair value for GIC designation as at fair value through income is as follows:

2012 2011

Changes in fair value recognized in income $ (1,134) $ - 
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Note 13 – Income Taxes

(a) Income tax provision:

2012 2011

Current tax expense:
Current year $ 24,248 $ 20,986
Adjustments for prior years 1,511 40

25,759 21,026
Deferred tax expense: 
Reversal of temporary differences (2,207) 585
Adjustments for prior years (284) - 
Reduction in tax rate 199 118

(2,292) 703
Total income tax expense $ 23,467 $ 21,729

The provision for income taxes shown in the consolidated statements of income differs from that obtained by applying statutory income tax
rates to income before the provision for income taxes due to the following:

2012 2011

Canadian statutory income tax rate 26.3% 28.1%
Increase (decrease) resulting from: 

Tax-exempt income (5.7%) (3.3%)
Future tax rate changes 0.2% 0.1%
Non-deductible expenses and other 1.6% 1.0%

Effective income tax rate 22.4% 25.9%

The statutory tax rate has decreased due to scheduled Federal and Provincial tax rate reductions that were previously enacted.

(b) Deferred taxes:

The net deferred income tax liabilities are comprised of:

2012 2011

Deferred income tax assets:
Allowance for credit losses $ 5,788 $ 3,928
Share issue expenses 176 396

5,964 4,324
Deferred income tax liabilities:

Net mortgage fees 5,058 6,426
GIC commissions 3,910 3,141
Securitization activities 2,283 2,397
Other 211 150

11,462 12,114
Net deferred income tax liabilities $ 5,498 $ 7,790
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Note 14 – Other Liabilities

2012 2011

Mortgagor realty taxes $ 22,340 $ 18,975
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,102 6,802
Income taxes payable 4,670 -
Derivative financial instruments – interest rate swaps 2,301 2,808
Securitized mortgage servicing liability 1,518 - 
Derivative financial instruments – securitization activities - 2

$ 40,931 $ 28,587

Note 15 – Bank Facilities

(a) Operating credit facility:

The Company has a $35,000 credit facility in place with a major Canadian chartered bank. The facility is secured by a portion of the Company’s
investments in equity securities. There was no outstanding balance as at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

(b) Term loan:

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a non-revolving term loan of $12,500 that was due on maturity together with any accrued and
unpaid interest. During the first quarter of 2012, the Company extended the maturity date of the loan from March 16, 2012 to January 15,
2013. There were no material changes in other terms and conditions of the loan. Interest is paid monthly at a fixed rate of 6.41% per annum
and the loan balance is repayable in full at the option of the Company at any time during its term. As collateral for the loan, the Company has
provided a promissory note, a general security agreement, a pledge of all the issued and outstanding shares in the capital of Equitable Trust
and an assignment of the debentures purchased from Equitable Trust using the proceeds of the loan. Under the terms of this loan, the Company
is required to maintain a minimum tangible net worth ratio, an interest coverage ratio and a maximum assets-to-capital multiple. The Company
is in compliance with the financial covenants required by the term loan.

2012
Outstanding Issued during Repaid during Outstanding

Interest rate Date loan received Maturity date December 31, 2011 the year the year December 31, 2012

6.41% March 2007 January 2013 $ 12,500 $ - $ - $ 12,500

2011
Outstanding Issued during Repaid during Outstanding

Interest rate Date loan received Maturity date December 31, 2010 the year the year December 31, 2011

6.41% March 2007 March 2012 $ 12,500 $ - $ - $ 12,500
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Note 16 – Debentures

The Company has issued debentures which are unsecured obligations and are subordinated in right of payment to the claims of depositors
and other liabilities of the Company. Series 7 is redeemable at par at any time at the Company’s option. Series 8 is redeemable at par any time
on or after December 18, 2014 and Series 9 is redeemable at par at any time on or after December 15, 2015, subject to certain terms and
conditions. Any redemption of the debentures, contractual or earlier, is subject to regulatory approval. Interest on Series 7 debentures is paid
quarterly at a fixed rate of 7.10% per annum. Interest on Series 8 debentures is payable semi-annually at a fixed rate of 6.50% per annum for
the first five years of its 10-year term. Thereafter, the Series 8 will bear a floating rate of interest to maturity at 90-day Banker’s Acceptance Rate
plus 480 basis points, payable quarterly. Interest on Series 9 debentures is payable monthly at a fixed rate of 6.09% per annum for the first five
years of its 10-year term. Thereafter, Series 9 will bear a floating rate of interest to maturity at 90-day Banker’s Acceptance Rate plus 338 basis
points, payable quarterly. Interest on Series 10 debentures is paid semi-annually at a fixed rate of 5.399% per annum.

2012
Outstanding Issued during Repaid during Outstanding

Debenture Interest rate Issue date Maturity date December 31, 2011 the year the year December 31, 2012

Series 7 7.10% 2007 January 2017 $ 9,450 $ - $ - $ 9,450
Series 8 6.50% 2009 December 2019 23,221 - - 23,221
Series 9 6.09% 2010 December 2020 20,000 - - 20,000
Series 10 5.40% 2012 October 2017 - 65,000 - 65,000

$ 52,671 $ 65,000 $ - $ 117,671

2011
Outstanding Issued during Repaid during Outstanding

Debenture Interest rate Issue date Maturity date December 31, 2010 the year the year December 31, 2011

Series 7 7.10% 2007 January 2017 $ 9,450 $ - $ - $ 9,450 
Series 8 6.50% 2009 December 2019 23,221 - - 23,221
Series 9 6.09% 2010 December 2020 20,000 - -  20,000

$ 52,671 $ - $ - $ 52,671

Note 17 – Shareholders’ Equity

(a)  Capital stock:

Authorized:
Unlimited number of non-cumulative 5-year rate reset preferred shares, Series 1
Unlimited number of non-cumulative floating rate preferred shares, Series 2
Unlimited number of common shares, no par value
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Note 17 – Shareholders’ Equity (continued)

Issued and outstanding shares:

2012 2011
Number of Dividends Number Dividends

shares Amount per share(1) of shares Amount per share

Preferred shares, Series 1: 2,000,000 $ 48,494 $ 1.81 2,000,000 $ 48,494 $ 1.81 

2012 2011
Number of Dividends Number Dividends

shares Amount per share(1) of shares Amount per share(1)

Common shares:
Balance, beginning of year 15,018,401 $ 129,771 14,943,437 $ 128,068
Contributions from reinvestment of dividends 29,222 817 22,264 582
Contributions from exercise of stock options 142,360 3,068 52,700 943
Transferred from contributed surplus relating

to the exercise of stock options - 568 - 178
Balance, end of year 15,189,983 $ 134,224 $ 0.52 15,018,401 $ 129,771 $ 0.45 

(1) Dividends per share represents dividends declared by the Company during the year.

(b) Preferred shares:

Series 1 – 5-year rate reset preferred shares

Holders of Series 1 preferred shares are entitled to receive fixed quarterly non-cumulative preferential cash dividends, as and when declared
by the Board of Directors, which will be paid at a per annum rate of 7.25% per share for an initial period ending September 30, 2014. Thereafter,
the dividend rate will reset every five years at a level of 4.53% over the then five-year Government of Canada bond yield. Series 1 preferred
shares are redeemable in cash at the Company’s option, subject to prior regulatory approval, on September 30, 2014 and on September 30
every five years thereafter, in whole or in part, at a price of $25.00 per share plus all declared and unpaid dividends at the date fixed for
redemption. Series 1 preferred shares are convertible at the holder’s option to non-cumulative floating rate preferred shares, Series 2 (the
“Series 2 preferred shares”), subject to certain conditions, on September 30, 2014 and on September 30 every five years thereafter. 

Series 2 – floating rate preferred shares

Holders of the Series 2 preferred shares will be entitled to receive a floating rate quarterly non-cumulative preferential cash dividend equal to
the 90-day Canadian Treasury Bill Rate plus 4.53%, as and when declared by the Board of Directors. Series 2 preferred shares are redeemable
in cash at the Company’s option, subject to prior regulatory approval, on (i) September 30, 2019 and on September 30 every five years thereafter,
in whole or in part, at a price of $25.00 per share plus all declared and unpaid dividends at the date fixed for redemption; or (ii) $25.50 plus all
declared and unpaid dividends to the date fixed for redemption in the case of redemptions on any other date on or after September 30, 2014.
Series 2 preferred shares are convertible at the holder’s option to non-cumulative 5-year rate reset preferred shares, Series 1 (the “Series 1
preferred shares”), subject to certain conditions, on September 30, 2019 and on September 30 every five years thereafter.
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Note 17 – Shareholders’ Equity (continued)

(c) Common shares:

Issuances of common shares

During the year ended December 31, 2012, 142,360 (2011 − 52,700) shares were issued as a result of the exercise of stock options for cash
consideration of $3,068 (2011 − $943) and $568 (2011 − $178) was transferred from Contributed surplus to Common shares as a result of these
exercises. In addition, 29,222 (2011 − 22,264) common shares were issued under the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan.

(d) Dividend reinvestment plan:

The Company has a dividend reinvestment plan. Participation in the plan is optional and under the terms of the plan, cash dividends on
common shares are used to purchase additional common shares at the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares on the
TSX for the five trading days immediately preceding the dividend payment date. At the option of the Company, the common shares may be
issued from the Company’s treasury or acquired from the open market at market price.

(e) Dividend restrictions:

The Company’s subsidiary, Equitable Trust, is subject to minimum capital requirements, as prescribed by OSFI under the Trust and Loan
Companies Act (Canada). The Company must notify OSFI prior to the declaration of any dividend and must ensure that any such dividend
declaration is done in accordance with the provisions of the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada), and those OSFI guidelines relating to
capital adequacy and liquidity.

Note 18 – Stock-based Compensation

(a) Stock-based compensation plan:

Under the Company's stock option plan, options on common shares are periodically granted to eligible participants for terms of five to seven
years and vest over a four or five-year period. As at December 31, 2012, the maximum number of common shares available for issuance under
the plan was 985,381. The outstanding options expire on various dates to December 2019. A summary of the Company's stock option activity
and related information for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

2012 2011
Number of Weighted average Number of Weighted average

stock options exercise price stock options exercise price

Outstanding, beginning of year 733,950 $ 24.36 966,150 $ 24.20
Granted 137,927 23.17 7,500 26.01
Exercised (142,360) 21.55 (52,700) 17.90
Forfeited/cancelled (210,700) 32.66 (187,000) 25.63
Outstanding, end of year 518,817 $ 22.96 733,950 $ 24.36
Exercisable, end of year 179,075 $ 19.79 355,150 $ 26.15

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



90Equitable Group Inc. Annual Report 2012

Note 18 – Stock-based Compensation (continued)

The following table summarizes information relating to stock options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2012:

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted average 

Number remaining contractual Number
Exercise price outstanding life (years) exercisable

$ 24.10 5,700 0.2 2,700
$ 21.63 5,000 0.4 -
$ 11.55 77,750 0.9 48,300
$ 20.60 111,100 2.9 58,900
$ 24.75 108,600 3.9 39,300
$ 24.50 70,000 3.9 28,000
$ 26.01 7,500 6.0 1,875
$ 29.32 123,167 6.2 -
$ 27.23 10,000 6.4 -

Under the fair value-based method of accounting for stock options, the Company has recorded compensation expense in the amount of $853
(2011 − $961) related to grants of options under the stock option plan. This amount has been credited to Contributed surplus. The fair value
of options granted during 2012 was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model, with the following assumptions: 

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Risk-free rate 1.5% 1.5%
Expected option life (years) 4.8 4.8
Expected volatility 30.5% 30.5%
Expected dividends 1.9% 2.1%
Weighted average fair value of each option granted $ 6.14 $ 5.85

(b) Deferred share unit plan:

The Company has a DSU plan for Directors. Under the plan, notional units are allocated to a Director from time to time by the Board of Directors
and the units vest at the time of the grant. When an individual ceases to be a Director (the “Separation Date”), the DSUs shall be redeemed for
cash no later than the end of the first calendar year commencing after the Separation Date. The redemption value of each DSU redeemable
by a Director is the volume-weighted average trading price of the common shares of the Company on the TSX for the five trading days prior
to the Separation Date. In the event of any stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, consolidation, subdivision, reclassification or any
other change in the capital of the Company affecting its common shares, the Company will make, with respect to the number of DSUs
outstanding under the DSU Plan, any proportionate adjustment as it considers appropriate to reflect that change. A Director will be credited
with additional DSUs whenever a cash dividend is declared by the Company. The DSU plan is administered by the Board or a committee thereof.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, 9,181 DSUs (2011 – 6,773) had been granted by the Company. DSUs outstanding as at December
31, 2012 amounted to 33,095 (2011 – 23,409) and the recorded liability was $1,075 (2011 – $591). Compensation expense recorded in 2012,
relating to DSUs outstanding during the year amounted to $483 (2011 − $182). 
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Note 18 – Stock-based Compensation (continued)

(c) Restricted share unit plan:

The Company’s Board approved an RSU plan in 2012. RSUs are awarded by the Board to eligible employees during the annual compensation
process and vest at the end of three years (“cliff vest”). Under the RSU plan, each RSU represents one notional common share and earns notional
dividends, which are re-invested into additional RSUs when cash dividends are paid on the Company’s common shares. Each RSU held at the
end of the vesting period including those acquired as dividend equivalents will be paid to the eligible employee in cash, the value of which
will be based on the volume-weighted average closing price of the Company’s common shares on the TSX for the five consecutive trading days
immediately prior to the vesting. For the period ended December 31, 2012, RSUs granted totaled 20,940 and the compensation expense
recorded relating to RSUs outstanding during the period amounted to $188. As at December 31, 2012, RSUs outstanding amounted to 19,652
and the recorded liability was $188.

Note 19 – Earnings Per Share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated based on net income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding, taking into account the dilution effect of stock options using the treasury stock method.

2012 2011

Earnings per common share − basic:
Net income $ 81,207 $ 62,186
Dividends on preferred shares 3,625 3,625
Net income available to common shareholders $ 77,582 $ 58,561
Weighted average basic number of common shares outstanding 15,075,159 14,977,289
Earnings per common share – basic $ 5.15 $ 3.91

Earnings per common share − diluted: 
Net income available to common shareholders $ 77,582 $ 58,561
Weighted average basic number of common shares outstanding 15,075,159 14,977,289
Adjustment to weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

Stock options 108,683 124,005
Weighted average diluted number of common shares outstanding 15,183,842 15,101,294
Earnings per common share – diluted $ 5.11 $ 3.88

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the calculation of the diluted earnings per share excluded 226,944 (2011 − 454,464) average options
outstanding with a weighted average exercise price of $28.72 (2011 − $30.19) as the exercise price of these options was greater than the
average price of the Company’s common shares.

Note 20 – Capital Management

Equitable Trust manages its capital in accordance with guidelines established by OSFI, based on standards issued by the Bank for International
Settlements, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (Basel II). This guideline requires deposit-taking financial institutions to maintain a
minimum ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets and off-balance sheet items of 8%, of which 4% must be Tier 1 capital (Tier 1) and the remainder
supplementary capital (Tier 2). However, OSFI has established that deposit-taking institutions need to maintain a minimum total capital ratio
of 10%, with a Tier 1 ratio of not less than 7%. Equitable Trust’s Tier 1 capital is comprised of common and preferred shareholders’ equity while
Tier 2 capital is comprised of debentures. In addition to Tier 1 and total capital ratios, Canadian deposit-taking institutions are required to
ensure that their assets-to-capital multiple, which is calculated by dividing gross adjusted assets by total capital, does not exceed the maximum
level prescribed by OSFI.

Equitable Trust maintains capital management policies to govern the quality and quantity of capital utilized in its operations. The objective of
these policies is to ensure that adequate capital requirements are met, while providing sufficient return to investors. During the year, Equitable
Trust complied with all internal and external capital requirements.
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Note 20 – Capital Management (continued)

As a result of an advisory issued by OSFI in March 2010, Equitable Trust is permitted to phase in the January 1, 2010 IFRS transition adjustment
to retained earnings over an eight quarter period, which was completed in the quarter ending December 31, 2012. The amount amortized to
retained earnings for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $18.9 million. 

Regulatory capital (relating solely to Equitable Trust) is as follows:

($ THOUSANDS) December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Tier 1 capital: 
Common shares $ 137,303 $ 132,819
Non-cumulative preferred shares 50,000 50,000
Contributed surplus 4,589 4,303
Retained earnings 317,754 248,752
Accumulated other comprehensive loss(1) (1,767) (2,095)
IFRS transition adjustment(2) - 18,931

Total 507,879 452,710

Tier 2 capital: 
Collective allowance (Tier 2A) 21,960 -
Debentures (Tier 2B)(3) 125,781 65,171

Total 147,741 65,171
Total regulatory capital $ 655,620 $ 517,881
(1) As prescribed by OSFI, certain components of accumulated Other comprehensive income are included in the determination of regulatory capital. Net unrealized fair value losses on available

for sale equity securities are deducted in the determination of Tier 1 capital while net unrealized fair value gains on available for sale equity securities are included in Tier 2A capital.
(2) As permitted by OSFI, the transition adjustment for IFRS is amortized over an eight quarter period ending on December 31, 2012.
(3) Tier 2B capital may be included in Tier 2 capital to a maximum of 50% of net Tier 1 capital.

Note 21 – Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Lease commitments:

The Company is committed to operating leases for office premises located in Toronto, Calgary and Montreal. The future minimum lease
payments under the leases are as follows:

2012 2011

Less than 1 year $ 845 $ 826
1 – 5 years 1,778 2,649
Greater than 5 years - 33

$ 2,623 $ 3,508

In addition to these minimum lease payments for premises rental, the Company will pay its share of common area maintenance and realty taxes
over the terms of the leases. Lease expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income for 2012 amounted to $1,711 (2011 - $1,586).

(b)  Credit commitments:

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had outstanding commitments to fund $445,059 (2011 − $388,101) of mortgages in the ordinary
course of business. $383,114 (2011 − $266,721) of these commitments are expected to be funded within one year and $61,945 (2011 −
$121,380) remain open for various dates after one year.

The Company has issued letter of credits in the normal course of business. Letter of credits in the amount of $788 (2011 - $788) were outstanding
at December 31, 2012, none of which have been drawn upon at that date.
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Note 21 – Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

(c) Contingencies:

The Company became aware of an alleged fraud relating to four condominium corporation loans, details of which are outlined in Note 11 – Other
assets. The Company has been named, along with other defendants, in two separate statements of claim made by parties seeking relief from
mortgage amounts owing and has commenced an action against several parties involved in the remaining two loan transactions. Management
will continue to defend/pursue these claims and will continue to review all legal options available to it in pursuing its recourse. The Company
recorded a pre-tax operational provision of $5.0 million in the third quarter of 2011 and reclassified the mortgages in question from Mortgages
receivable to Other assets. The net outstanding balance reported in Other assets is $8.8 million (2011 – $8.9 million). While the total loss, if any,
arising from this alleged fraud cannot be definitively determined at this time, management has established the allowance based on the information
available at the reporting date and will continue to assess the progress of recovery efforts and the resulting estimate of recoverable amounts.

The Company is subject to other various claims and litigation arising from time to time in the ordinary course of business. Management has
determined that the aggregate liability, if any, which may result from other various outstanding legal proceedings would not be material and
no other provisions have been recorded in these consolidated financial statements.

Note 22 – Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to directly or indirectly control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The Company’s related parties include key management personnel, close
family members of key management personnel and entities which are controlled, significantly influenced by, or for which significant voting
power is held by key management personnel or their close family members. Key management personnel are those persons having authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly and indirectly. The Company considers the
members of the Board of Directors as part of key management personnel. 

The Trust and Loan Companies Act prohibits federally regulated financial institutions to transact with related parties except for transactions
as specifically permitted by the legislation. 

(a)  Key management personnel compensation table:

2012 2011

Annual compensation $ 2,853 $ 2,223
Post-employment benefits 37 22
Termination benefits - 436
Share-based payments 1,001 712

$ 3,891 $ 3,393

(b)  Share transactions, shareholdings and options of key management personnel and related parties:

As at December 31, 2012, key management personnel held 2,429,974 (2011 – 2,396,075) common shares and 3,300 (2011 – 5,300) preferred
shares. These shareholdings include common shares of 2,309,339 (2011 – 2,318,339) that were beneficially owned by the Directors or held by
related party entities whose controlling shareholders are Directors of the Company. In addition, key management held 299,142 (2011 – 410,500)
options to purchase common shares of the Company at prices ranging from $11.55 to $29.32. 

(c)  Other transactions:

Certain of the Company's key management personnel have invested in GIC deposits and/or debentures of the Company. These investments
were made in the ordinary course of business at terms comparable to those offered to unrelated parties. During the year, the Company issued
$368 (2011 – nil) of GIC deposits to key management personnel, which were outstanding as at December 31, 2012 (2011– nil). There were no
debentures issued to key management personnel during the years ended 2012 and 2011. As at December 31, 2012, key management personnel
held $2,650 (2011 – $2,650) of debentures. The GIC deposits and debentures were held by related party entities whose controlling shareholders
are directors of the Company and trusts beneficially owned by the Directors. 
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Note 23 – Interest Rate Sensitivity

The following table shows the Company’s position with regard to interest rate sensitivity of assets, liabilities and equity on the date of the
earlier of contractual maturity or re-pricing date, as at December 31, 2012.

0 to 3 4 months Total within Greater Non-interest
Floating rate months – 1 year 1 year 1 – 5 years than 5 years sensitive Total(1)

Assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 

and restricted cash $ 434,242 $ 8,806 $ - $ 443,048 $ - $ - $ - $ 443,048 
Effective interest rate 1.18% 0.97% - 1.17% - - - 1.17% 

Securities purchased under reverse 
repurchase agreements - 78,551 - 78,551 - - - 78,551 

Effective interest rate - 1.05% - 1.05% - - - 1.05% 

Investments 5,273 150,526 103,917 259,716 151,030 17,154 11,580 439,480 
Effective interest rate 4.13% 1.81% 3.43% 2.51% 5.90% 3.96% - 3.66% 

Mortgages receivable 1,168,419 404,024 1,442,448 3,014,891 2,141,585 80,460 29,655 5,266,591 
Effective interest rate 5.02% 4.80% 4.77% 4.87% 5.05% 3.41% - 4.89% 

Mortgage receivable – securitized 40,274 113,920 1,156,161 1,310,355 3,046,779 947,794 37,953 5,342,881 
Effective interest rate 2.70% 4.73% 4.30% 4.29% 3.55% 4.16% - 3.81% 

Other assets - - - - - - 30,889 30,889 
Total assets $ 1,648,208 $ 755,827 $ 2,702,526 $ 5,106,561 $ 5,339,394 $ 1,045,408 $ 110,077 $ 11,601,440 
Liabilities: 
Deposits(2) $ 743,573 $ 631,198 $1,923,721 $ 3,298,492 $ 2,269,648 $ 32 $ 83,545 $ 5,651,717 
Effective interest rate 1.34% 1.94% 2.18% 1.95% 2.54% 0.00% - 2.15% 

Securitization liabilities - 85,283 1,155,090 1,240,373 2,979,861 1,031,929 9,507 5,261,670 
Effective interest rate - 3.69% 3.36% 3.38% 2.84% 3.69% - 3.13% 

Obligations under repurchase agreements - 9,882 - 9,882 - - - 9,882
Effective interest rate - 1.00% - 1.00% - - - 1.00%

Other liabilities and deferred taxes  - - - - - - 46,429 46,429
Bank term loans - 12,500 - 12,500 - - - 12,500 
Effective interest rate - 6.41% - 6.41% - - - 6.41% 

Debentures(3) - 9,450 - 9,450 108,221 - - 117,671 
Effective interest rate - 7.29% - 7.29% 5.86% - - 5.98% 

Shareholders’ equity - - - - 48,494 - 453,077 501,571 
Total liabilities and 

shareholders’ equity $ 743,573 $ 748,313 $ 3,078,811 $ 4,570,697 $ 5,406,224 $ 1,031,961 $ 592,558 $ 11,601,440 
Off-balance sheet items(4) $ - $ (420,219) $ 249,262 $ (170,957) $ 213,868 $ (42,911) $ - $ -
Excess (deficiency) of assets over 

liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 904,635 $ (412,705) $ (127,023) $ 364,907 $ 147,038 $ (29,464) $ (482,481) $ -

(1) Accrued interest is excluded in calculating interest sensitive assets and liabilities.
(2) Cashable GICs are included with floating rate liabilities as these are cashable by the depositor upon demand. 
(3) Any prepayments of debentures, contractual or otherwise, have not been estimated as these would require regulatory pre-approval.
(4) Off-balance sheet items include the Company’s interest rate swaps, hedges on funded assets, as well as mortgage rate commitments that are not specifically hedged. Mortgage rate

commitments that are specifically hedged, along with their respective hedges, are assumed to substantially offset.
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Note 24 – Subsequent Events

On January 3, 2013, the Company repaid its non-revolving term loan of $12,500 together with all accrued and unpaid interest.  On the same
date, with the approval of OSFI, the Company redeemed its Series 7 debentures of $9,450 with all accrued and unpaid interest. The Series 7
debentures were redeemable at par at any time at the Company’s option.
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